

Playing and being well

A review of recent research into children's play, social policy and practice, with a focus on Wales

Summary

Acknowledgements

We would like to extend our gratitude to Play Wales for commissioning this research and to the Welsh Government for providing funding. We would also like to thank the many people, too many to list here, who have responded to requests for information through email or through social media and/or who have shared work that has been pertinent. Using academic search engines to find literature does not always offer up all that is out there, so we have also drawn on the experience, expertise and knowledge of many people whose work would not have otherwise been included.

Authors: Wendy Russell, Mike Barclay and Ben Tawil

Dr Wendy Russell has worked in the play sector for over 45 years, first on adventure playgrounds in London, then in development, training, education and research roles. She has worked with the public, community and private sector at local, national and international levels. She is currently working as a consultant and researcher in children's play and playwork, both independently and for the University of Gloucestershire, where she co-developed and taught on undergraduate and postgraduate programmes on children's play and playwork, and where she co-founded the biennial Philosophy at Play International conferences. She has a long involvement, through Play Wales, with the Welsh Government's Play Sufficiency Duty, in its development, carrying out four research projects and co-delivering professional development programmes for local authorities.

Mike Barclay and Ben Tawil work together as Ludicology, providing consultancy, research and training on children's play. Since the commencement of the Play Sufficiency Duty, Ben and Mike have been researching and developing approaches to 'doing' play sufficiency at neighbourhood, local authority and national levels, both in England and Wales. Ben and Mike are also mentors for the OPAL programme, working to improve play times in primary schools. Prior to Ludicology, Ben worked in management positions at two adventure playgrounds, as a national play development officer for Play Wales, and lectured in childhood, play and playwork programmes in both Higher and Further Education. Mike was the play sufficiency lead for Wrexham County Borough Council for over 10 years and has a background in open access play provision and out of school childcare. He is also a qualified playworker, design engineer and adult trainer. Ben and Mike regularly present at national and international conferences, they have produced multiple guidance documents on the topics of playwork, play sufficiency and risk management, and their work is published in peer reviewed journals and edited books.

ISBN: 978-1-914361-16-6

© Play Wales

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form by any person without the written permission of the publisher.

Published by Play Wales, Park House, Greyfriars Road, Cardiff, CF10 3AF.

Contents

| 1.1 Scope and approach | 5 |
|---|------------|
| 1.1.1 A note on language | 6 |
| 1.2 What has changed over the last 15 years? | 7 |
| 1.2.1 Research into children's play | 7 |
| 1.2.3 Policy changes | 8 |
| 1.2.4 Geo-politics, global economics and other world events | 9 |
| 1.3 'Playing and being well': why we chose this title | 11 |
| 1.4 Contextualising and framing the review (chapter 2) | 12 |
| 1.4.1 Studying childhoods | 13 |
| 1.4.2 The universal child, difference, inequality and intersectionality | 13 |
| 1.4.3 Childhood, play and social policy | 14 |
| 1.4.4 Children's play as a matter of spatial justice | 16 |
| 1.4.6 Towards a relational capability approach to children's wellbeing | 18 |
| 1.5 The role of play in children's wellbeing (chapter 3) | 19 |
| 1.5.1 Different players playing differently | 20 |
| 1.5.2 Relational perspectives on evolution and neuroscience | 21 |
| 1.5.3 Playing with movement and the senses | 2 3 |
| 1.5.4 Playing with affect/emotion | 25 |
| 1.5.5 The therapeutic role of play | 27 |
| 1.5.6 Playing with others | 28 |
| 1.5.7 Playing with things | 29 |
| 1.5.8 Play, place and wellbeing | 31 |

| 1.5.9 Returning to playing and being well | 34 |
|---|----|
| 1.6 Children's play today (chapter 4) | 35 |
| 1.6.1 A framework and structure for the chapter | 36 |
| 1.6.2 A decline in play(ing out)? | 37 |
| 1.6.3 Everyday freedoms and playing out | 38 |
| 1.6.4 Playing in and around the home | 43 |
| 1.6.5 Playing in digital spaces | 45 |
| 1.6.6 Playing in adult supervised provision | 46 |
| 1.6.7 Conclusion: accounting for play | 47 |
| 1.7 Supporting children's play (chapter 5) | 48 |
| 1.8 Returning to a relational capability approach: closing thoughts on adults' response-ability for children's play | 51 |
| 1.8.1 A relational capability approach to playing and being well | 51 |
| 1.8.2 A model for considering response-ability for children's play: Amin's four registers | 53 |
| 1.8.3 Bringing the ideas together with research reviewed | 54 |
| References | 57 |

Note: this summary is a very slightly adapted version of the first chapter of the full literature review, which will be available at www.play.wales

Playing and being well: A review of recent research into children's play, social policy and practice, with a focus on Wales has been commissioned by Play Wales, and its policy context is a Welsh one. From the start, the devolved government in Wales has taken a rights-based approach to policy for children and has worked in partnership with Play Wales to develop national policy and strategy in support of children's play. The Welsh Government was the first in the world to make children's play a statutory responsibility for local authorities through its Play Sufficiency Duty, part of the Children and Families (Wales) Measure 2010.

At the time of carrying out this literature review, the Play Sufficiency Duty has been in operation for ten years and the Welsh Government is carrying out a Ministerial Review of Play. The aim of *Playing and Being Well*, therefore, is to provide current evidence to inform this ongoing work. It also provides an update to *Play for a Change: Play, Policy and Practice – A review of contemporary perspectives*, a literature review carried out by Stuart Lester and Wendy Russell and published by the National Children's Bureau and Play England in 2008.

1.1 Scope and approach

Building on *Play for a Change*, we have reviewed three key interrelated and overlapping areas of research:

- contextualising and framing the research on children's play through looking at current research into childhood and social policy relating to children (chapter 2)
- reviewing contemporary research on the role of play in children's wellbeing (chapter 3) and on children's play patterns (chapter 4)
- reviewing approaches to supporting children's play (chapter 5).

Mostly, we have drawn on academic research, but in places (for example in discussions on policy or practice) it has been appropriate to review also the 'grey' literature in policy and advocacy documents and also practitioners' writings (particularly in chapters 2 and 5).

Children's play has been researched across a range of academic disciplines, including biology, evolutionary studies, ethology, neuroscience, developmental and educational psychology, depth psychology, sociology, geography, anthropology, folklore, philosophy, policy studies and more. We have drawn mostly on empirical research (particularly in chapters 3 and 4). However, given that we have sought to bring a critical eye, and given the concerns expressed by some writers regarding both the colonisation and over-romanticisation of children's play by adult advocates and researchers alike, we have also used conceptual research and theory.

In terms of geography, we have drawn on research carried out in minority world countries¹ such as the United Kingdom, Northern and Western Europe, North America and Australasia, as this provides comparative data, particularly on play patterns and actions to support children's play. When discussing demographic or policy

¹ The term 'minority world' refers to what is more commonly called 'developed' or 'Western' countries, or more recently, the Global North. Its converse, the 'majority world', is so called because the majority of the world's population inhabit those countries that are often termed 'developing'. Although the terms 'majority' and 'minority' world risk oversimplification, they do seek to 'shift the balance of our world views that frequently privilege "western" and "northern" populations and issues' (Punch and Tisdall, 2012, p. 241).

matters, we have drawn on Welsh and UK data. We have been open to reviewing literature on children aged 0 to 18 years, although some age ranges have been better researched than others in ways that vary across the three key areas of research.

We have defined 'recent' research as research published since 2005, although most sources are considerably more recent than that. As with geography, the currency and relevance of research changes depending on whether it is about, for example, policy, children's play patterns or the benefits of playing. Broadly speaking, we have used the most up-to-date sources we have been able to find. Occasionally, where relevant, we have made reference to classic texts outside of this time frame.

We have had access to three university libraries and have mostly used EBSCO's Discovery service, an inclusive academic search engine that covers most relevant academic databases. At times we have also used Google Scholar. The search terms used are too many to list and have been based on specific areas of research.

As the topics were too broad for a systematic review, we have used an integrative, narrative and creative approach.² This has involved searching and selecting sources and using 'snowballing' (following up relevant references in articles) to either broaden or refine sources. The narrative, creative aspect involves synthesising sources into conceptual themes and using this to create an original commentary. Given the enormous range of research into childhood and children's play, what we have reviewed is necessarily partial, and given our own research interests and practices, our interpretation is also partial. Although we have made efforts to include a range of perspectives and their critics, we have drawn on a variety of conceptual tools to help us both to organise the material with some kind of coherence and to interpret it. In addition, whilst the team has considerable experience of reading (and some of us teaching) across a range of natural and social science academic disciplines, we acknowledge our limitations in interpreting and summarising complex scientific research, for example details of neuroanatomy and neurochemistry. We have done our best to give an authentic review of this material, but it is possible that there may be misrepresentations due to our lack of specialist knowledge.

1.1.1 A note on language

Language is important and powerful. Technical language allows those working in the same field to communicate clearly with each other. At the same time, it can exclude those who are not specialists. Technical language may comprise, for example, details of brain anatomy or neurological processes, or theoretical concepts from across a range of academic disciplines. It is difficult not to use the language without misrepresenting or oversimplifying complex processes and concepts. The research reviewed here uses terms that we have tried to explain when first introduced, but there may be places where this is not the case. In addition to this, we have provided a glossary at the end of the review.

Language is also important and powerful because it is performative. That is, words often do not merely describe in neutral ways, they act to construct particular ways of understanding that often imply norms and therefore 'abnormality' or otherness. Language changes over time as people become aware of how certain words can either dehumanise, marginalise or judge those who do not comply with what is seen as normal or present an affirming identity.

² Montuori, 2005; Toracco, 2016

One example is the capitalisation of the term 'Black'. The quotation below gives a flavour of the power of such details:

'black with a lower case "b" is a color, whereas Black with a capital "B" refers to a group of people whose ancestors were born in Africa, were brought to the United States against their will, spilled their blood, sweat and tears to build this nation into a world power and along the way managed to create glorious works of art, passionate music, scientific discoveries, a marvelous cuisine, and untold literary masterpieces. When a copyeditor deletes the capital "B," they are in effect deleting the history and contributions of my people.'³

Sometimes there is disagreement about appropriate terminology, and it is difficult to know which words are respectful and appropriate. In addition, often the language used in academic and professional literature differs from the language that some members of the communities being described would themselves prefer. In this review, we have tried to use terms preferred by the communities we describe, although such expressed preferences are not always consistent. In places, and particularly when quoting texts, we have used the language from the articles.

1.2 What has changed over the last 15 years?

Over the 15 years since the research for *Play for a Change* was carried out there have been many changes and developments worth noting, both in research and global and national events.

1.2.1 Research into children's play

There has been a significant growth in academic interest in children's play as evidenced in new academic journals (for example, the *International Journal of Play*, the *American Journal of Play* and the *International Journal of Playwork Practice*, all set up since 2007); the publication of several handbooks on academic research on children's play⁴ and theory books on play.⁵

Although multi-national corporations such as LEGO and Ikea have been investing in research into children's play for some time, this has expanded. One example is the establishment of the LEGO Foundation sponsored Play in Education, Development and Learning (PEDAL) Research Centre at Cambridge University. Another is the establishment at the 2018 World Economic Forum of The Real Play Coalition, co-founded by Unilever (through the Dirt is Good brands of Persil and Omo), the LEGO Foundation, Ikea Group and National Geographic, with current partners being LEGO Foundation, Ikea Group, National Geographic, UNICEF and Arup, working in partnership with Placemaking X and the Resilient Cities Network.

There have been changes, too, in conceptual and methodological approaches to studying childhood and children's play. *Play for a Change* introduced what were at the time fairly radical ideas challenging the dominance and exclusivity of the perspective that play's contribution to childhood was to help children progress through developmental stages towards adulthood. Whilst not dismissing such a perspective, *Play for a Change* offered 'additional perspectives on the key concepts of play and development that are more complex, differentiated and relational'.⁶ These concepts included a systems approach that sees development as a lifelong reciprocal and entangled relationship of genes, body and environment, and evolution as more than genetic inheritance, thereby

³ Tharps, 2014

⁴ For example, Brooker et al., 2014; Johnson et al., 2015; Pellegrini, 2011; Smith and Roopnarine, 2019

⁵ A few examples include Cohen, 2019; Henricks, 2015a; Lester, 2020; Sicart, 2014; Smith, 2010; Sutton-Smith, 2017

⁶ Lester and Russell, 2008, p. 14

dissolving nature/nurture binaries. In addition, *Play for a Change* was published just as what has been called a 'new wave' of childhood studies was emerging that also sought to look beyond classic binaries of nature/culture, adult/child, agency/structure towards a more relational approach.⁷

Over the ensuing 15 years, these ideas have been taken up and developed further by childhood scholars across both what are termed the natural and the social sciences (terms that themselves create a binary distinction and can constrain inter- and trans-disciplinary working), often drawing on concepts from philosophy. The ideas are complex and difficult to summarise without oversimplification. Nonetheless, we suggest here, in this introductory chapter, that what connects these different threads is a radical relationality. This relationality is more than interaction of separate organisms, contexts and processes. Phenomena (for example, space, play, bodies and life itself) do not have a stable and fixed pre-existence but are continually in a process of becoming through and as encounters. Such encounters include the tangible, such as other bodies (human, non-human, elemental, organisational), material objects, landscapes, and also the less tangible, such as affects, sensations, desires, as well as systems and processes (for example, calendars, rules, codes of behaviour, systems of oppression). Relationality decentres 'the child'9 and brings into focus the liveliness of material objects, turning attention to how human and material forms mutually shape and are shaped by each other. On the child of the ch

When we began this review, we had thought that we would merely report on this relational turn alongside other, still dominant, more human-centred, binary and linear worldviews. However, as we researched the literature on childhood studies, policy, wellbeing, play and children's play patterns, relationality emerged as central to the narrative we were developing. That narrative is one of a relational capability approach to wellbeing.

1.2.3 Policy changes

At international policy level, the intervening 15 years have seen the publication of the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child's General Comment on Article 31, children's right to play, in 2013. Across the UK, it has seen the introduction of the statutory Play Sufficiency Duty in Wales (which requires local authorities to assess and secure sufficient opportunities for children to play) and the statutory incorporation of play sufficiency assessments in Scotland through the Planning (Scotland) Act 2019, with all three devolved UK countries having active play policies. This is in contrast to the UK government, where the English Play Strategy was cut by the incoming Coalition Government in 2010.

Perhaps one of the most significant shifts in thinking in the 15 years since *Play for a Change* is in appreciating the relevance of broader policy initiatives and the relations between these and children's capability to play. Such a shift has emerged through a range of interrelated forces, including climate change, public health concerns, the influence of advocates for child-friendly environments and, in Wales particularly, the requirement of the Play Sufficiency Duty to work cross-professionally. These forces have shown the relevance of policies concerning sustainable development, planning, urban design and active travel.

Also of significance in the Welsh policy context is the Welsh Government's radical and overarching Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. This act is radical because it places Wales amongst a small number of wellbeing economy governments (including Scotland, Iceland, New Zealand and Finland) focusing on sustainable development through not only economic wellbeing but also social, environmental and cultural wellbeing.

⁷ Prout, 2005

⁸ Änggård, 2016; Lester, 2020; Mereweather, 2020; Murris, 2019; Prout, 2007; Rautio, 2013a, 2013b; Spyrou, 2017; Taylor and Pacini-Ketchabaw, 2015

⁹ Prout, 2007; Spyrou, 2017; Taylor and Pacini-Ketchabaw, 2015

¹⁰ Lester, 2020; Mereweather, 2020; Murris, 2019; Rautio, 2013a, 2013b

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 places this broader understanding of wellbeing at the heart of all the work of identified public bodies, which have a duty to plan for a sustainable future, through setting localised objectives for meeting the seven nationally identified wellbeing goals:

- A prosperous Wales
- A resilient Wales
- A healthier Wales
- A more equal Wales
- A Wales of cohesive communities
- A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
- A globally responsible Wales.¹¹

All other local authority policy making aligns with these wellbeing plans, including the Play Sufficiency Duty. Here, too, is a requirement to work in collaborative and integrated ways with all stakeholders. Whilst children do not explicitly feature much in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, other than in terms of health measurements and child development (together with a focus on adverse childhood experiences), the aspirational and overarching nature of the act makes it of interest to this review.

1.2.4 Geo-politics, global economics and other world events

Alongside these policy changes there has been a period of major interrelated political, geopolitical, economic and climate upheaval. Given the relational approach we have taken to this review, such seemingly macro scale forces are deeply enmeshed with children's micro scale everyday lives and their capability to play. This means that our approach to the review is political and underpins both the idea of a relational capability approach to children's wellbeing and the associated acknowledgement that children's capability to play is a matter of spatial justice. The global financial crisis of 2008 led to a period of austerity politics in the UK that brought rising precarity in terms of employment and housing, increasing child poverty and a stark increase in inequalities¹² with an estimated 335,000 'excess deaths' (that is, more than would normally be expected) between 2012 and 2019 being attributable to austerity measures. Specifically for children's play, austerity measures saw unprecedented public spending cuts and the loss of many play and playwork services and infrastructure.

The Brexit referendum in 2016 and the UK's subsequent departure from the European Union has added to political and economic uncertainties, ¹⁵ being projected to make the UK poorer in the long term. ¹⁶ The European Union (EU) Withdrawal Agreement Act 2020 has implications on human rights generally, implicating children's rights. ¹⁷ Changes to immigration policies as a result of Brexit have also led to problems of recruiting and retaining staff in health and other public services affecting children. ¹⁸

¹¹ Jones et al., 2020; Welsh Government, 2015

¹² Marmot et al., 2020

¹³ Walsh *et al.*, 2022

¹⁴ Brown and Wragg, 2018; Children's Rights Alliance England, 2015; Gill, 2015b; McKendrick et al., 2015; Voce, 2015b, 2021

¹⁵ Dhingra et al., 2022; Welsh Government, 2021f

¹⁶ Dhingra *et al.*, 2022

¹⁷ British Academy, 2020; Children's Commissioners of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, 2020

¹⁸ Marmot *et al.*, 2020

The current cost of living crisis has arisen through disruptions to global supply chains as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic (see below), the climate crisis, and the Russian invasion of Ukraine, with consequences predicted to be worse than the pandemic. A survey by the Food Foundation (October, 2022) found that one in four UK households with children (four million children) had experienced food insecurity in the previous month, an increase over the previous six months, with these households also experiencing problems with energy costs. Disabled people and households with non-white ethnic groups are disproportionately affected, as is the geographic distribution across the UK. The impact of this crisis on children adds to the educational and health challenges already faced during the pandemic. The impact of this crisis on children adds to the educational and health challenges already faced during the pandemic.

The COVID-19 pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic and its impacts have been affected by – and are affecting – many of the issues raised above. The pandemic, including associated lockdowns and other mitigating measures, created major disruptions to children's lives, including their ability to play with friends.

The first UK lockdown between mid-March to mid-May 2020 required people to stay at home and places such as schools, playgrounds, leisure centres, play centres and other sites where children could meet up and play with friends were closed. During the first lockdown period, the Welsh Government and local authorities in Wales took a number of steps to encourage and support children's play, including:

- keeping childcare settings and schools open for the children of critical workers, with some school hubs employing playworkers
- distributing play packs to vulnerable children
- Play Wales and other organisations sharing play ideas on social media.²²

Children's experiences of the pandemic have varied enormously. Lockdown measures exacerbated already existing inequalities, for example:

- parents in lower-paid jobs not being able to work from home
- families falling into poverty
- unequal access to the resources for home schooling
- children living with domestic violence, disabled children and young carers having limited or no access to support and care services
- children living in poor quality accommodation and with no access to private outside space.²³

For some children, lockdowns meant more time spent playing with family members and pets, or with friends online. Stories of playful reclaiming of low-traffic streets also abounded in the media and in research, including rainbow trails, teddy bear trails, rock snakes, chalk trails, doorstep discos and doorstep bingo.²⁴ Overall, however, children's advocates were concerned about the effects of reduced opportunities for playing, particularly with friends.²⁵

¹⁹ The Lancet editorial, 2022

²⁰ The Food Foundation, 2022

²¹ The Lancet editorial, 2022

²² Welsh Government, 2022

²³ Casey and McKendrick, 2022; Children's Commissioner for England, 2020; Cowie and Myers, 2020; Holt and Murray, 2021; Kallio *et al.*, 2020; Mukherjee, 2021

²⁴ Casey and McKendrick, 2022; Cowan et al., 2021; Kourti et al., 2021; Mukherjee, 2021; Russell and Stenning, 2022

²⁵ Barron and Emmett, 2020; Barron, et al., 2021; Casey and McKendrick, 2022; Kourti et al., 2021

Whilst some children are reported as having been more physically active as a consequence of having more free time, spending some of that time outdoors playing and exercising,²⁶ most studies conclude that children were less physically active, particularly outdoors.²⁷ Others report that disparities in obesity rates between children of different ethnic backgrounds and socio-economic status further increased during the pandemic.²⁸

The significant body of research into children's experiences of the pandemic and mitigating measures offers insights into the importance of play in children's lives.²⁹ For example, the significant reduction in road traffic during the first lockdowns made streets quieter (although not necessarily safer as there were incidents of speeding and an increase in delivery traffic), and there were significant drops in some forms of air pollution as a result.³⁰ Many local authorities made changes to road layouts to make them safer for pedestrians and this was encouraged by the UK government.³¹ A number of campaigns asked the UK government to acknowledge children's need and right to play, both through appreciating their ways of using road space and through prioritising play in the return to school.³² One international study recommends embedding opportunities for play in policies relating to preparedness for future pandemics and similar crises.³³

1.3 'Playing and being well': why we chose this title

Finding a title for a review such as this is not easy. It is important to capture key narratives, and titles should ideally be memorable and distinct while at the same time easy to find through an internet search. This may suggest that if we feel the need to explain the title, we have not met these key elements of a good title. Nonetheless, we feel it does deserve some explanation.

As the work progressed, it was clear that the relationship between play and wellbeing was beginning to emerge as significant because that was what the academic research was saying. Such a focus also fits well with the Welsh Government's Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

So why not call it 'Play and Wellbeing'? Broadly, the answer lies in what each of the two words 'play' and 'wellbeing' perform, returning to the argument that language can privilege particular understandings of concepts. Following what we found in much of the literature, we wished to trouble taken-for-granted assumptions embedded in these two key words and offer forms that unsettled readers slightly and that could disrupt a little (but not too far) the power of common-sense understandings — not to dismiss them, but to add something more.

Both 'play' and 'wellbeing' are nouns, words that describe *things*. A problem with seeing both play and wellbeing as things is that they become fixed. In addition, such words need defining, a process that further fixes ideas about play and wellbeing. Play becomes an activity that can be provided, it has an opposite (not-play), it can be judged as good or bad, it can be instrumentalised. Wellbeing becomes something that individuals either have or not, something that we can achieve, once and for all.

Talking about 'playing' and 'being well' foregrounds processes and relationality. It foregrounds the myriad objects, affects, ideas, practices and more that come together to produce moments of playing and being well in temporary

²⁶ Alma Economics, 2021

²⁷ Kourti et al., 2021

²⁸ Jenssen *et al.*, 2021

²⁹ Casey and McKendrick, 2022

³⁰ Stenning and Russell, 2020

³¹ Russell and Stenning, 2021

³² Ferguson et al., 2021; Stenning and Russell, 2020; Summer of Play Campaign, 2021; Play First UK, 2020

³³ Andres *et al.*, 2023

assemblages.³⁴ It means paying attention to the conditions that support the emergence of playing and being well in fluid and sometimes fleeting ways and in ways that bring change that can have both immediate and longer-term effects. It also means that interventions to support children's play need to acknowledge the differences and singularities of such assemblages. Although some broad principles can be made about what makes playing and being well more likely, these are also influenced by many other local and individual conditions.

We played with *Playing and being well* as a title to see how it felt. One potential way of reading the title might be to see 'well' applying to both playing and being. Initially, we felt this might be problematic if it reinforced ideas about which forms of playing are seen as 'better' than others. An instrumental view of playing connects it to the development of specific skills, meaning that those forms of play thought to develop desired skills are promoted over others that might be seen as disruptive or taboo.³⁵ On further reflection, and looking at the literature, we conclude that there *are* forms of playing that are problematic for players, for those being played or for others. Seeing play unproblematically as a force for good romanticises it and can obscure playing that, for example, reproduces, performs and perpetuates power inequalities,³⁶ is addictive,³⁷ dangerous, or harmful in other ways.³⁸ However, bringing a relational approach to both playing and being well acknowledges harmful forces that can enable forms of play that are not conducive to being well. This is different from adult linear judgements about play, learning and development in that it shifts attention away from a future focus on isolated children's minds and bodies and towards the combined effects of those forces. If all the conditions are right for children to engage in forms of play that they value, it is more likely that moments of being well will also emerge.

The following sections give a brief overview of each chapter, focusing on how the narrative of a relational capability approach develops across each area of research.

1.4 Contextualising and framing the review (chapter 2)

Chapter 2 offers a contextualisation for the review by considering the contemporary literature on studies of childhood and on policy relating to children and play, including assumptions made about children, play and the politics of the production of knowledge itself. Knowledge is never a neutral affair, its ongoing production is also relational. It is always situated, always imbued with questions of power, and so is always an ethical matter; in addition, the way we understand things affects how we act. Narratives, paradigms and understandings produce material discursive practices³⁹ that affect adults' relationships with children across all areas of life including family life, the public realm, the cultural sector, education, health, leisure, policy and law. Approaches to studying childhood and children's play – and the critiques of such approaches – highlight the dominance of adult imaginaries over children's lived experiences. Similarly, much research is embedded in minority world perspectives that have their origins in Enlightenment age theories and that retain much of the original colonialist assumptions.⁴⁰

³⁴ The concept of the assemblage is drawn from the work of Deleuze and Guattari (1998) and refers to *ad hoc* groupings of diverse phenomena that can include people and their relationships, histories, material and symbolic artefacts, technologies, desires, and so on. Assemblages are not fixed entities but are more akin to 'events'; they and the phenomena that combine to co-create them have properties of emergence, opportunism, multiplicity and indeterminacy, meaning that they are open and responsive to what happens along the way.

³⁵ Rautio, 2014; Sutton-Smith, 2017; Woodyer et al., 2016

³⁶ Bryan, 2019, 2020, 2021; Göncü and Vadeboncoeur, 2015; Grieshaber and McArdle, 2010; Kinard *et al.*, 2021; McDonnell, 2019; Trammell, 2020, 2023

³⁷ Sicart, 2014

³⁸ Sutton-Smith, 2017

³⁹ 'Material-discursive practices' is a term that acknowledges the dynamic interrelationships of understandings, meanings, language, material things and practices that can become so embedded as to be seen as common sense, sometimes difficult to look beyond (Barad, 2007).

The many different perspectives offered in chapter 2 and throughout the review demonstrate the impossibility – indeed the undesirability – of a single truth about childhood and children's play that can be asserted as 'evidence' and used to inform policy and practice. Instead, it aims to show the value of appreciating multiple ways of knowing and of acknowledging that the way we think affects what we do in supporting children's play.

1.4.1 Studying childhoods

Chapter 2 offers a review of approaches to studying childhood and children, including critiques of these approaches. It opens with a discussion on 'developmentalism' as a consistently dominant narrative in theories of childhood. 'Developmentalism' in this context refers to the dominance of over-simplified and reductive accounts of fixed, predictable and normative ages and stages of child development, and their enduring influence on policy and professional practices. The chapter then reviews the broad field of 'social' studies of childhood that emerged in the second half of the twentieth century as a challenge to the dominance of developmental psychology in childhood studies. Within this 'new paradigm',⁴¹ the naturally developing child was seen as a social construction alongside other constructions such as the evil child and innocent child. Rather than passive objects of socialisation and development, children were seen as active agents in their own lives.

A third and more recent approach to studying childhood is then introduced, one that is sometimes termed a 'new wave'. This has emerged alongside broader philosophical, political and theoretical moves away from modernist forms of thinking (that sought clarity, truths and stability) and towards a diverse range of 'post' approaches (postmodernism, poststructuralism, posthumanism to name a few). Such approaches work with the postmodern era of intense change characterised by social, economic, geopolitical and environmental uncertainty, risk and insecurity, together with widening inequalities. This broad ('new') wave encompasses diverse perspectives, including posthumanism and new materialism, that mark a move away from seeing childhood or play as a fixed identity category and towards looking at how both are continually produced through relational practices. Doing so foregrounds movement, the rhythms and flows of everyday life, difference and continual change. Relationality decentres 'the child' and brings into focus the liveliness of material objects, attending to how human and material forms mutually shape and are shaped by each other.

1.4.2 The universal child, difference, inequality and intersectionality

Here we review theorisations of power, inequality and different childhoods. Despite studies of multiple childhoods, the assumption of 'the child' remains, based historically on norms that are white, patriarchal, heteronormative, European/USA and middle class.⁴⁷

⁴⁰ Abebe, 2019; Aitken, 2018; Burman, 2017, 2018; Garrison, 2008; Hanson *et al.*, 2018; Knight, 2019; Konstantin and Emejulu, 2017; Malik, 2019; May, 2011; Owen, 2020; Rudolph, 2017; Spyrou, 2019; Tisdall and Punch, 2012; Varga, 2020

⁴¹ Hammersley, 2016; Holmberg, 2018; James, Jenks and Prout, 1998; James and Prout, 1997, Prout, 2011

⁴² Holmberg, 2018; Kraftl and Horton, 2019; Kraftl *et al.*, 2019; Ryan, 2011

⁴³ Prout, 2011

⁴⁴ Goodenough *et al.*, 2021; Kraftl and Horton, 2019; Kraftl *et al.*, 2019; Lenz Taguchi, 2014; Lester, 2020; Murris, 2016a, 2016b; Spyrou *et al.*, 2019; Taylor, 2011

⁴⁵ Prout, 2007; Spyrou, 2017; Taylor and Pacini-Ketchabaw, 2015

⁴⁶ Lester, 2020; Mereweather, 2020; Murris, 2018; Rautio, 2013a, 2013b

⁴⁷ Abebe, 2019; Burman, 2019; Butler *et al.*, 2019; Dowd, 2016; Dyer, 2017; Hanson *et al.*, 2018; Robinson and Jones Diaz, 2006; Shallwani, 2010; Smith, 2011; Thorne, 2007; VandenBroeck and Bouverne-De Bie, 2006

Several contemporary approaches to researching multiple childhoods are introduced. One example is the concept of intersectionality,⁴⁸ which can look beyond single identity categories to operate both as an analytical tool and as a challenge to interactions of power, subordination and privilege at the intersections of, for example, race, gender, class, disability and sexual orientation.

Moving beyond fixed single categories has led some to question the identity category of 'child' itself,⁴⁹ although, as with other sites of subordination and power, single categories can sometimes be useful politically.⁵⁰ The concept of childism has different meanings in different contexts, but has been taken up by a group of childhood scholars who use it to not only reveal and critique adultist power structures but also to enable children's experiences to change both scholarship and societies. The argument is that while 'isms' can be blunt tools, they can and do also provide powerful theoretical lenses for critical study and activism.⁵¹ Nonetheless, the forces that discriminate against children as a discrete category are relational and play out differently across intersections of difference.

1.4.3 Childhood, play and social policy

The rest of chapter 2 looks at the literature on social policy relating to children and play. There is a lot of detail in this part of chapter 2 not summarised here (although the Welsh policy focus and key changes in policies since the publication of *Play for a Change* are discussed above). Rather, here we summarise the topics covered in the chapter and then highlight some of the key points and narratives that build towards the concept of a relational capability approach to considering the relationship between children's play and wellbeing.

In reviewing the literature on children and social policy, we open with an overview, outlining contemporary policy narratives, popular concerns about children and historic understandings of play in children's policy. We then situate contemporary policy making within recent history and the current period of austerity following the financial crisis of 2008, with a focus on social investment as a policy formation. Following this is a brief introduction to the Welsh Government's approach to policy making since devolution, highlighting key principles and the rights-based approach to policy making for children and Welsh policies for play, including the Welsh Government's Play Sufficiency Duty. We then offer a review of the Welsh Government's Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, which is followed by a look at the literature on children's wellbeing and policy. The chapter then revisits some of the contemporary concerns about children introduced earlier to consider policy responses to them and finishes with a brief comment on the relationship between play and wellbeing, introducing the proposal for a relational capability approach.

Contemporary concerns about children, evident in media, policy and everyday narratives, include:

- safety, online and in the public realm, from traffic, other people and increasingly from pollution⁵²
- increasing use of digital devices and online activities, including screen time, concerns about addiction and online safety⁵³

⁴⁸ Cho et al., 2013; Konstantoni et al., 2014; Konstantoni and Emejulu, 2017

⁴⁹ Dahlbeck, 2012; Kraftl, 2020a

⁵⁰ Alanen, 2016; James, 2010

⁵¹ Wall, 2022a, 2022b

⁵² Bessell, 2017; Giles *et al.*, 2019; Barclay and Tawil, 2021; Shaw *et al.*, 2015;

⁵³ Blum-Ross and Livingstone, 2016; Colvert, 2021; Family Kids and Youth, 2021; Gottschalk, 2019; Livingstone *et al.*, 2017; Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, 2019

- trends in poor mental health, although studies are inconsistent or even contradictory in what they measure, what they find and the causes of any trends⁵⁴
- low levels of physical activity and increase in obesity, although the reductive narrative of this being exclusively a personal matter of balancing calorific intake and output has been challenged⁵⁵
- youth crime and youth violence.⁵⁶

Much of the research shows significant classed, racialised, gendered and dis/ablised disparities in how these concerns are experienced by children and families,⁵⁷ highlighting the interrelatedness of personal, social and environmental conditions that affect children's capability to do and be well. In addition, these disparities also play out in particular ways in social policy responses to these and other concerns.⁵⁸

Policies relating to children largely fall within a social investment model, that is, resources are invested in children as future producing and consuming citizens. The social investment model can be seen in universal provision such as education and in targeted provision that identifies particular children as either in need of protection (children at risk) or control (children as risk);⁵⁹ such approaches can often further entrench inequalities.⁶⁰ Even though the Welsh Government explicitly brings a rights-based approach to policies relating to children,⁶¹ the social investment narrative is still evident.⁶²

In addition, since the 1980s, neoliberal⁶³ governments have progressively introduced the language and practices of the market into public policy and public services, with a focus on measuring outcomes in ways that seek to evidence the problematic causal relationship between input, output and outcome.⁶⁴

⁵⁴ Collishaw *et al.*, 2015; Cowie and Myers, 2020; Ford *et al.*, 2021; Kvist Lindholm and Wickström, 2020; Langley *et al.*, 2017; Page *et al.*, 2021; Patalay and Fitzsimmons, 2020; Pitchforth *et al.*, 2019; UNICEF, 2021

⁵⁵ Alexander *et al.*, 2014, 2019; Clark and Dumas, 2020; Janssen *et al.*, 2016; Lee and Blumberg, 2019; Love *et al.*, 2019; Medvedyuk *et al.*, 2018; National Assembly for Wales, 2019; NHS Digital, 2021; O'Hara and Taylor, 2018; Public Health Wales, 2021; Ralston *et al.*, 2018; Suchert *et al.*, 2015; Tan *et al.*, 2020; Tomkinson *et al.*, 2017

⁵⁶ Bryan, 2020; Crenshaw *et al.*, 2014; Densley *et al.*, 2020; Dowd, 2016; Harding, 2020; Katz, 2019; Maxwell *et al.*, 2019; Wales Violence Prevention Unit, 2020; Windle *et al.*, 2020; Youth Justice Board, 2021

⁵⁷ Bryan, 2020; Crenshaw *et al.*, 2014; Davies, 2019; Densley *et al.*, 2020; Dowd, 2016; Katz, 2019; Lee and Blumberg, 2019; NHS Digital, 2021; Patalay and Fitzsimmons, 2020; Shortt and Ross, 2021; The Food Foundation, 2021; Witten and Carroll, 2016; Witten *et al.*, 2015

⁵⁸ Asenova, 2015; Edwards *et al.*, 2015; Edwards and Gillies, 2020; Edwards *et al.*, 2022; Gillies *et al.*, 2017; Lambert, 2019; Richardson *et al.*, 2014; Ryan, 2021

⁵⁹ Archer and Albin-Clark, 2022; Bonoli *et al.*, 2017; Burman, 2019; Read, 2011; Ryan, 2020; Vignoles and Thomson, 2019; Read, 2011; Ryan, 2020; Vignoles and Thomson, 2019

⁶⁰ Edwards et al., 2022; Katz, 2019

⁶¹ Butler and Drakeford, 2013; Sullivan and Jones, 2013

⁶² Knibbs et al., 2013; Wales Centre for Public Policy, 2020; also evident in the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015

⁶³ Neoliberalism refers to political and economic ideologies and practices that see human wellbeing as arising from 'individual entrepreneurial freedoms' (Harvey, 2007, p. 2) and the accumulation of wealth. It has emerged from policies in the 1970s onwards that have seen a withdrawal of the state from a traditional social welfare role, the increasing incursion of the markets and associated managerial ideologies into public services and the deregulation of finance and other systems seen as restricting market forces.

⁶⁴ Bovaird, 2014; Edwards et al., 2022

Neoliberalism, the social investment model and the austerity measures of the 2010s have combined to increasingly 'responsibilise' citizens, encouraging individuals to be less dependent on the state and to make good choices regarding their own health, safety and wellbeing⁶⁵ and that of their children.⁶⁶ Such responsibilisation can also, albeit inadvertently, produce notions of blame, particularly of poor mothers (in all senses of the word).⁶⁷

It is easy to see, within this frame, that something as seemingly frivolous and irrational as children's play might be side-lined or constrained in policy unless it can be enlisted within the overall project of preventing social problems and producing future citizens. 68 Current concerns that relate to children's play include interrelated issues of fears for children's safety, children's digital lives, children's mental health, physical activity and obesity, and youth crime and violence. Much of Welsh Government policy acknowledges both the instrumental value of play and its intrinsic value as a right, for example in education policies such as the Foundation Phase and the New Curriculum for Wales, and also in the Play Sufficiency Duty.

1.4.4 Children's play as a matter of spatial justice

Children's play is inherently spatial in that it always happens somewhere. The concept of spatial justice, used in four research studies into the enactment of the Play Sufficiency Duty,⁶⁹ opens up ways of looking at how spaces are produced through the interrelationships between design of the built environment, legal and governance systems that give precedence to keeping the economy moving, and the ways these are entangled with political and social norms and everyday spatial practices.⁷⁰ It also allows for a shift from a 'damage'⁷¹ narrative (focusing on concerns for children's physical and mental health and wellbeing) towards recognition that when conditions are right, play emerges as children's own ways of doing and being well, offering a much more affirmative account.

Children's playful use of public space often reconfigures it (for example, playing at not walking on the cracks in the pavement, balancing on a low wall, playing kerby, skateboarding tricks, parkour, or just hanging out), creating temporary play spaces that deterritorialise the intentions of designers. Whether children can negotiate such timespaces for play is dependent on unequal power relations and increasing inequalities at many scales.

The concept of spatial justice has been recognised in the Welsh Government's Ministerial Review of Play,⁷² and by the Future Generations Commissioner, who has urged Public Service Boards to recognise how the production of space contributes to injustices when drawing up their wellbeing plans.⁷³ Working towards spatial justice requires more than addressing current social injustices in specific locations, it means making sense of how transcalar spaces are produced and reproduced through the entanglements of materiality and design, governance and ideology, spatial practices, histories and more.⁷⁴ The Welsh Government's Play Sufficiency Duty offers opportunities for both in relational ways. Hyperlocal research with children that can bring to light specific issues in specific neighbourhoods works together with the requirement for cross-professional working, linking the duty to a range of non-play-specific policies.⁷⁵

⁶⁵ Juhila et al., 2017

⁶⁶ Edwards and Gillies, 2020; Edwards et al., 2022; Katz, 2019

⁶⁷ Asenova, 2015; Edwards et al., 2015, 2020; Gillies et al., 2017; Richardson et al., 2014; Ryan, 2021; Lambert, 2019

⁶⁸ Lester and Russell, 2013a

⁶⁹ Lester and Russell, 2013a, 2014a; Russell *et al.*, 2019, 2020

⁷⁰ Lester, 2020; Pyyry and Tani, 2019; Soja, 2010

⁷¹ Russell and Stenning, 2022; Tuck, 2009, 2010

⁷² Ministerial Review of Play Steering Group, 2023

⁷³ Future Generations Commissioner, 2017; Jones et al., 2020

⁷⁴ Jones *et al.*, 2020; Lester, 2020

⁷⁵ Russell *et al.*, 2019, 2020

1.4.5 Children's wellbeing and policy

Given the interrelatedness of wellbeing and spatial justice embedded in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, it is worth looking more at how wellbeing is framed within public policies relating to children. Despite a significant body of work on the determinants and indicators of wellbeing for children, there is a lack of both consensus and debate on what it is that constitutes children's wellbeing. Revertheless, it is possible to identify a dominant understanding that categorises components and/or determinants of wellbeing, that sees it as something that an individual can acquire or achieve, and that has a focus on concepts such as happiness and resilience. There is a significant body of literature discussing what and how to measure children's wellbeing, spanning objective and subjective measures and children's own views. There are also critiques of both the concept and ways of measuring it, including the observation that the identification of indicators and domains for measuring children's wellbeing – deciding what matters and what counts – is (often uncritically) based on cultural, adult and class-based assumptions as to what constitutes a good childhood.

A key critique of the concept of wellbeing and the ways that it is used in research and policy is that it is individualistic, that is, wellbeing is constructed as something that an individual possesses and as something that can – and should – be acquired or achieved, thereby rendering individuals responsible for their own wellbeing. A second and related critique is that this individualisation, together with a 'components' approach, can appear context-free, particularly with measures of subjective wellbeing that can act as a smokescreen for more structural issues of inequality. Additionally, research into wellbeing often focuses on 'ill-being', fuelling concerns about children. On one level, this is understandable, because it highlights important issues that need to be addressed by policy makers. At the same time, it can create a sense of childhood in crisis. At the same time, it can create a sense of childhood in crisis. Such a 'damage' focus locates problems within individuals, requiring professional interventions to fix those 'damaged', thereby obscuring structural forces of power and injustice. This is not to deny the very real harms and problems some children face, but it is important to be aware of what such narratives, whilst well-intentioned, can also perform.

In addressing the problem of wellbeing as individualistic, a number of relational approaches to wellbeing have been suggested, including that wellbeing be recognised as something that arises through actions and encounters (rather than being possessed, acquired or achieved)⁸⁷ and that wellbeing is therefore fundamentally spatial and relational.⁸⁸

⁷⁶ Raghavan and Alexandrova, 2015

⁷⁷ Atkinson, 2013; Lester, 2020

⁷⁸ Ben-Arieh and Frønes 2011; Ben-Arieh *et al.*, 2014; Bradshaw, 2019; Bradshaw *et al.*, 2012; Camfield *et al.*, 2010; Cho and Yu, 2020; González-Carrasco *et al.*, 2019; Kosher and Ben-Arieh, 2017; Rees *et al.*, 2020

⁷⁹ Andrews and Duff, 2020; Atkinson, 2021; Fattore *et al.*, 2021; Laruffa, 2018; Walby, 2012

⁸⁰ Atkinson, 2013; Bourdillon, 2014; Camfield et al., 2010; Fattore et al., 2021

⁸¹ Atkinson, 2013; Coffey, 2020; Fattore et al., 2021; Lester, 2020

⁸² White, 2017

⁸³ Atkinson, 2013, 2021; Bradshaw, 2019; Camfield et al., 2010; Coffey, 2020; Fattore, 2020

⁸⁴ Adams, 2013; Kvist Lindholm and Wickström, 2020

⁸⁵ Tuck, 2009; Russell and Stenning, 2022

⁸⁶ Kvist Lindholm and Wickström, 2020

⁸⁷ Fattore, 2020; Lester, 2020

⁸⁸ Atkinson, 2013, 2020; Fattore et al., 2021; Lester, 2020

1.4.6 Towards a relational capability approach to children's wellbeing

One approach to wellbeing that has been explored by a growing number of children's wellbeing researchers and practitioners is the capability approach (CA), with examples drawing on the works of philosopher-economist Amartya Sen and philosopher Martha Nussbaum. The approach seeks to move beyond merely considering the importance of resources for people's wellbeing on the one hand (objectively measured accounts) and subjective accounts on the other. Capabilities are not only personal skills, aptitudes and personality traits but rather the combination of resources and opportunities (conditions) that exist and children being able to make the most of these resources and opportunities to be and do well. Capabilities refer to the opportunities and freedoms for people to be able to do and be what is of value to them; part of this is the process of 'converting' resources in 'functionings' so that people can actually do and be what is of value to them. Conversion 'factors' operate across the personal, social and environmental in interrelated, interdependent and co-emergent ways. Capabilities, therefore, comprise both the sufficient resources and the capability to use those resources to do and be well.

Although there is debate about whether there can be a universal, predetermined list of human capabilities, Nussbaum suggests that such a list is necessary to enable a focus on justice. She lists ten core human capabilities:

- Life
- Bodily Health
- Bodily Integrity
- The Development and Expression of Senses, Imagination and Thought
- Emotional Health
- Practical Reason
- Affiliation (both personal and political)
- Relationships with Other Species and the World of Nature
- Play
- Control over One's Environment (both material and social).

She describes the play capability as 'being able to laugh, to play, to enjoy recreational activities'. From this, it could be argued that if playing is seen as one of the ten central human capabilities (for all ages), then a capability approach to wellbeing would need to pay attention to the conditions that support the resources, opportunities and freedoms to play. In this way, capabilities are useful because they address inequalities and ideas of justice, and the approach therefore offers much for considering spatial justice for children in terms of their capability to find time, space and permission to play and the benefits that brings both for enhancing life in the moment and longer-term wellbeing for children and communities.

⁸⁹ Biggeri *et al.*, 2011; Camfield and Tafere, 2011; Domínguez-Serrano *et al.*, 2019; Kellock and Lawthom, 2011; Schweiger, 2016

⁹⁰ Owens *et al.*, 2021

⁹¹ Biggeri *et al.*, 2011; Camfield and Tafere, 2011; Domínguez-Serrano *et al.*, 2019; Kellock and Lawthom, 2011; Murris, 2019; Nussbaum, 2007; Robeyns, 2017; Schweiger, 2016

⁹² Robeyns, 2017

⁹³ Nussbaum, 2007

⁹⁴ Schweiger, 2016

However, as with many theories of wellbeing, the capability approach has been critiqued for being individualistic and embedded in minority world constructions of justice as fairness, freedom and choice. Others have argued that the relational aspects of the theories have been overlooked, particularly in terms of the interrelatedness of personal (variously interpreted as an individual's embodied skills, limits, dispositions and/or resources), social (cultural, economic, political and social norms and resources) and environmental/structural (the physicality of the built environment, infrastructure, institutions, public goods, natural resources) factors and forces affecting the likelihood that resources can be converted into functionings.

We close chapter 2 therefore with a proposal for a relational capability approach to children's play that can account for the entanglements of the personal, social and environmental conditions that affect the extent to which children can convert resources for play into actually playing, and all that offers for both moments of being well and more long-term wellbeing. Such an approach offers a relational perspective on playing and being well, which we review in chapter 3.

1.5 The role of play in children's wellbeing (chapter 3)

After an opening commentary on playing and being well, chapter 3 gives an overview of the different approaches to studying play, including how play is defined (or not), various types of play and the diversity of players. It then looks at how different disciplines approach the study of play, the politics of different approaches to knowledge production and the methodologies and methods used in research. Following this, the chapter reviews:

- the relationship between play and evolution
- neuroscientific studies of play and wellbeing
- the relationship between play and children's wellbeing, through:
 - playing with movement
 - playing with affect and emotions
 - the therapeutic role of play (including play during the COVID-19 pandemic)
 - playing with others
 - playing with things
 - play, place and wellbeing.

The chapter ends with a reflection on the role of playing and being well. Play and learning, together with play and creativity/innovation, two key themes prominent in the research literature, are not addressed separately as they are interwoven throughout (with 'learning' and 'development' being understood as change).

Chapter 3 offers a detailed review of wide-ranging research into children's play and wellbeing, spanning the whole spectrum of academic disciplines and methods. We do not summarise all these diverse studies here, rather we aim to give a general sense of how the research is consistent with a relational capability approach to considering playing and being well, and therefore how it relates to adult actions in support of children's play, re-emphasising that capabilities, play and wellbeing are not located *in* individual children's minds and bodies but emerge dynamically through and as encounters.

⁹⁵ Fattore and Mason, 2017; Walby, 2012

⁹⁶ Owens *et al.*, 2021

The chapter highlights how the capability to play affects all the other capabilities in Nussbaum's list. For this reason, protecting and promoting children's capability to play, particularly for children already facing social and spatial injustices, is both in line with children's rights and the social investment model of policy described in chapter 2.97 In other words, protecting and promoting children's capability to play makes sense in terms of both justice and economics. However, bringing rights and social investment to a capability approach raises the eternal tension of play's intrinsic and instrumental value: a capability approach sees people as ends in themselves rather than means to ends,98 and so the instrumentalisation of play for social and economic purposes would not be consonant with the principles of a capability approach. Nevertheless, if the focus is on paying attention to *creating the conditions* for play (the *capability* for children to play) for children to be and do well, rather than promoting or guiding specific forms of play for the social and economic benefits they are assumed to bring, it may be possible for both to co-exist in less of an oppositional manner.

Furthermore, a relational capability approach can challenge the enduring binary opposition of play's intrinsic and instrumental value through acknowledging that play may at times have extrinsic value for children themselves⁹⁹ and through appreciating playing as emergent and shifting in its identity.¹⁰⁰ In addition, the literature shows the bi-directionality of playing and its instrumental outcomes such as health and development.¹⁰¹ In other words, children clearly develop social, physical, emotional and cognitive skills when they play. At the same time, various forms of playing require certain skills and the more developed these skills, the more complex the play.

A relational approach also disturbs long-held and valued ideas of play being freely chosen and personally directed. Chapter 3 presents myriad approaches to the thorny problem of defining play, and many descriptions of play's characteristics include questions of personal choice and agency. Yet, from a relational perspective, play is not seen as residing in the minds and bodies of individual children, but as emerging and developing relationally, opportunistically and spontaneously from current conditions. ¹⁰² Such a perspective also dissolves the play/not-play binary, as behaviour, motivation and disposition (playfulness) are not stable but fluid and ever-changing moment to moment. ¹⁰³

1.5.1 Different players playing differently

Much of the literature makes generalisations both about children's experiences of playing (for example, that it is always voluntary or accompanied by positive affect) and about its benefits for children's wellbeing. 'Play' and 'children' easily become homogenised, normative concepts that erase the experiences and functions of play for children who do not fit the ideal child mould.¹⁰⁴ Chapter 3 has a significant section reviewing the literature on specific categories of children, since those categorisations exist in the literature despite the intersectionality of children's everyday experiences and the diversity of experiences within and across such categories. Normative and/or stereotypical assumptions that can adversely affect children's capability to play operate across race, class, dis/ability, gender and heteronormativity. For example, the play styles and preferences of some neurodivergent children can be read as problematic and used as a diagnostic tool that then justifies therapeutic interventions.¹⁰⁵

⁹⁷ Nielsen, 2018

⁹⁸ Laruffa, 2018

⁹⁹ Lopez Frías, 2020

¹⁰⁰ Rautio and Winston, 2015

¹⁰¹ Lillard *et al.*, 2013; Lockman and Tamis-LeMonda 2021; Solis *et al.*, 2017

¹⁰² Lester, 2020; Russell, 2015

¹⁰³ Lester, 2020

¹⁰⁴ Buchanan and Johnson, 2009; Cook, 2016, 2019; Doak, 2020; Göncü and Vadenboncoeur, 2015; Goodley and Runswick-Cole, 2010; Mayeza, 2018; Smith, 2017

¹⁰⁵ Barron et al., 2017; Goodley and Runswick-Cole, 2010; Murphy, 2021; Ray-Kaeser et al., 2017

Such interventions can be helpful if they strike the right balance between normalising/changing neurodivergent children and supporting them to cope well with and enjoy their lives.¹⁰⁶ Another example is the literature on gender and play that generalises differences between boys' and girls' preferred toys and play styles in ways that perpetuate binary distinctions between both boy and girl as stable categories¹⁰⁷ and between nature and culture.¹⁰⁸ Such binaries obscure the detailed ways that children enact, reproduce and resist gender stereotypical and heteronormative roles in their play.¹⁰⁹ A third example is of how Black children can be criminalised in their play, with adults interpreting the play behaviours of White and Black children differently in ways that can be lethal¹¹⁰ or which can over time position Black children as problems within schools.¹¹¹

Such examples show the inseparability of historical and uneven power relations and colonialism with all the other phenomena that affect – and are affected by – how children play both in the moment and over time. It is easy to slip into generalisations about children's play, particularly as many quantitative studies employ a range of strategies for smoothing out differences to make generalisable statements about play. Such studies are useful, and at the same time, it is important to remember that differences are important too. A relational capability approach to thinking about children's play can both avoid the tendency to over-evangelise and over-romanticise children's play and take account of differences through the entanglements of personal, social and environmental conditions affecting children's capability to convert resources for playing into actual playing.

1.5.2 Relational perspectives on evolution and neuroscience

Given that play has evolved and can be observed in mammals, birds and some other animals (although to varying degrees), that young animals engage in playing despite obvious costs (energy expenditure, exposure to predators) and that juvenile mammals show a 'play rebound' after being deprived of play, it may be assumed that play serves some evolutionary purpose. 'Purpose' in evolutionary terms is understood mainly as play's contribution to both current and future fitness (adaptiveness to the current environment), as well as its benefits for both ontogeny (the development of individuals) and phylogeny (the evolution of species).

One critique of some evolutionary studies is their deterministic focus on genes as the sole source of inherited characteristics. A broader systems view acknowledges the relationality of genes, bodies and environments, including other inheritance systems such as epigenetic inheritance (where acquired behaviour patterns can be passed on), social learning, and symbolic systems such as language. What these broader perspectives imply is that the classic nature/nurture dualism is dissolved, and that a systems approach to development offer up interesting perspectives on play's function and particularly its relationship to wellbeing.

Evolutionary studies emphasise that play is not a singular or homogeneous phenomenon and that different forms of play have had different evolutionary origins and pathways and serve different functions, ¹¹⁵ meaning that no

¹⁰⁶ Leadbitter et al., 2021

¹⁰⁷ Bragg *et al.*, 2018; Callahan and Nicholas, 2019; Dinella and Weisgram, 2018; Keenan and Lil Miss Hot Mess, 2020; Osgood, 2014; Pawlowski *et al.*, 2015; Prioletta, 2020; Tembo, 2021a

¹⁰⁸ Blaise and Taylor, 2012; Josephidou and Bolshaw, 2020; Osgood, 2014; Prioletta, 2020

¹⁰⁹ Blaise and Taylor, 2012; Renold and Mellor, 2013

¹¹⁰ Dumas and Nelson, 2016; Pinckney et al., 2019

¹¹¹ Bryan, 2020; Kinard *et al.*, 2021; Meek and Evandra, 2020

¹¹² Gray, 2019; LaFreniere, 2011, 2013; Sgro and Mychasiuk, 2020; Sharpe, 2019

¹¹³ Bateson, 2015, 2017; Bateson and Martin, 2013; Jablonka and Lamb, 2007, 2014; Panksepp, 2008

¹¹⁴ Fagen, 2011; Bergen et al., 2016; Fromberg, 2015; Oyama, 2016

¹¹⁵ Burghardt, 2015; Burghardt and Pellis, 2019; Smaldino et al., 2019

one theory is sufficient to account for play's and players' diversity. ¹¹⁶ Broadly, however, most evolutionary theories posit that play's developmental function is to aid juveniles to adapt in various ways to their specific environments, and that such adaptiveness can affect evolutionary change through innovation and creativity. ¹¹⁷ A summary of evolutionary purposes for play could include:

- practising skills
- developing the ability to cope physically and emotionally with unexpected events
- producing innovations that may or may not be useful
- building social connections for bonding and co-operation.¹¹⁸

Neuroscience has become a powerful area of research offering not only explanations of the human mind but also technologies that treat – and control – brain and mind diseases and other problems. A key problem is explanatory reductionism, that is, a tendency encouraged by technologies in genetics and brain imaging from which some over-enthusiastic researchers, advocates and policy makers infer empirical truths for the real-world human condition. For example, the compellingly simple images of brain activity belie a host of data processing stages including statistical analysis and smoothing of datasets to eliminate 'noise' (the many other activities that are captured by the imaging process) and 'spatial normalisation' of the final images onto a template brain image to allow for comparison. In addition, much of the neuroscientific research into play has been on animals and on rough and tumble play. However, these are not reasons to dismiss neuroscience and what it can offer an understanding of play. Rather, it is a matter of exercising caution and resisting over-simplistic causal explanations for complex entangled processes.

A common view is that the brain is where thinking (or cognition) happens,¹²³ and that it is an information processor, with neurons receiving sensory and cognitive (bottom-up and top-down) inputs releasing either an excitatory or inhibitory neurotransmitter to send on messages for action or inhibition of action.¹²⁴ Computer metaphors abound, for example, wiring (including hard wiring), neural circuits, programming, coding and algorithms,¹²⁵ with minds as the software.¹²⁶ Those involved in the development of 'affective neuroscience' argue that the focus on cognitive (computational) and behavioural aspects of the brain largely ignore subcortical affective processes. A growing number of studies show how affective processes, in relation with nurturing environments, are crucial for effective cognition, aligning with a relational capability approach.¹²⁷ Other critics argue that life (consciousness, subjectivity, behaviour, movement, emotions) cannot be reduced to electrochemical neural communication.¹²⁸ Alternative models suggest more relational perspectives and include

¹¹⁶ Burghardt and Pellis, 2019; Sutton-Smith, 2017

¹¹⁷ Bateson, 2015; Burghardt and Pellis, 2019; Pellegrini et al., 2007

¹¹⁸ Bateson and Martin, 2013; Gray, 2019; Panksepp, 2010, 2016; Panksepp and Panksepp, 2013; Panksepp *et al.*, 2012; Pellis and Pellis, 2017; Pellis *et al.*, 2018

¹¹⁹ Altikulaç et al., 2019; Borsboom et al., 2019; Münch et al., 2021; Rose, 2012; Signorelli et al., 2021

¹²⁰ Altikulaç et al., 2019; Borsboom et al., 2019; Rose, 2012; Tallis, 2016

¹²¹ Dufford *et al.*, 2022; Dumit, 2012; Glover, 2011

¹²² Kellman and Radwan, 2022; Sgro and Mychasiuk, 2020

¹²³ Corris and Chemero, 2022

¹²⁴ Bergen *et al.*, 2016; Corris and Chemero, 2022; Estrin and Bhavnani, 2020; Koziol *et al.*, 2012; Signorelli and Meling, 2021; Steffen *et al.*, 2022

¹²⁵ Burke et al., 2020; Krakauer et al., 2017; Redish et al., 2019; Rose, 2012; Signorelli and Meling, 2021

¹²⁶ Protevi, 2012

¹²⁷ Panksepp, 2010, 2012, 2016; Panksepp et al., 2019

¹²⁸ Signorelli and Meling, 2021

network models,¹²⁹ biological modelling based on life processes,¹³⁰ and dynamical systems theory and embodied cognition, which sees the brain as one player in brain-body-environment systems.¹³¹

In summary, neuroscientific research into play suggests that play is a 'bottom-up' neural process or system. The motivation for play originates in the reward systems (a commonly used but contested term for the subcortical positive affect networks that include sensory and motor networks). This connects with and activates cortical areas and processes, supporting adaptation to complex physical, social and cultural environments. Adaptations include social sensitivity, empathy and affiliation; executive functioning (including attention, planning and decision-making; emotion regulation; impulse control) and stress response systems supporting the ability to cope with novel situations. The release of neurochemicals including opioids when playing is what gives rise to the pleasure that generally accompanies it, providing more motivation to play. Given this, play and its associated neurochemical processes are thought to provide resilience against depression against stress, for positioning it as central to children's wellbeing in terms of the pleasure it offers. As an extension of this, playing is thought to have the potential to reduce symptoms of ADHD. For these reasons, a neuroscientific argument has been made that adults should create conditions for children to play.

Neuroscientific research into children's play foregrounds the importance of both movement and affect/emotion. These are reviewed in the two following sections of the chapter, acknowledging that they do not operate in isolation from each other.

1.5.3 Playing with movement and the senses

There is surprisingly little attention paid to movement within play research¹³⁹ other than its role in physical activity and obesity reduction. Here, benefits can include:

- muscular strength, aerobic fitness¹⁴⁰
- increased agility, range of motion, flexibility, co-ordination and balance, and decreased fatigue, stress and depression¹⁴¹
- lower blood pressure in children with hypertension (especially for aerobic activity), improvements in levels of cholesterol and blood lipids and in metabolic syndrome and bone mineral density.¹⁴²

¹²⁹ Borsboom et al., 2019

¹³⁰ Signorelli and Meling, 2021

¹³¹ Corris and Chemero, 2022

¹³² Panksepp 2010, 2012, 2016; Panksepp et al., 2019; Pellis et al., 2019

¹³³ The cerebral cortex is the outermost layer of the brain that is associated with higher mental capabilities and processes (for example, decision-making), with lobes having specialised areas including sensory processing, language and voluntary movement. The sub-cortex is the older (in evolutionary terms) area of the brain associated with more immediate responses to environmental stimuli.

¹³⁴ Kellman and Radwan, 2022; Panksepp, 2016; Siviy, 2016

¹³⁵ Panksepp, 2008, 2010, 2015; Sgro and Mychasiuk, 2020

¹³⁶ Burgdorf et al., 2017; Sharpe, 2019

¹³⁷ Panksepp, 2007, 2008, 2017; Siviy and Panksepp, 2011

¹³⁸ Panksepp, 2015

¹³⁹ Eberle, 2014; Pellegrini, 2011

¹⁴⁰ Martins et al., 2015

¹⁴¹ Yogman et al., 2018

¹⁴² Janssen and LeBlanc, 2010

In addition, movement helps increase blood flow and oxygen intake, and activates the lymphatic system, protecting against illnesses and allergies. 143 Other benefits can include:

- protection from conditions such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes, cancer, osteoporosis, hypertension, depression and obesity¹⁴⁴
- improved mental health¹⁴⁵
- improved self-esteem and cognitive functioning, 146

all demonstrating clear connections with children's wellbeing. The joy, intrinsic motivation, sense of control and opportunity to experiment that is offered by physically active forms of play can promote physical literacy, developing motor skills, agility and competence as well as the motivation to continue with physical activity later in life. ¹⁴⁷ Despite the broad range of physical, cognitive, social and emotional benefits, it is fair to say that the dominant benefit of 'active play' is assumed to be for physical health, both through energy expenditure and physical fitness. ¹⁴⁸

Beyond the focus on 'active play', understanding play as a relational process inevitably requires thinking about movement, both in terms of physical movement and the process of change. Holis are experienced and lived, and orientation to the world is in terms of what the world offers for action, what it affords. From this perspective, cognition and perception are not only brain functions but rather something that humans do, mostly through movement. It is almost a truism to say that through play children *make sense* of their world and of themselves, their capacities and potential. Generally, however, this is interpreted as meaning-making rather than sense-making. Making sense' can be seen less as a purely cognitive abstract process and more as a feeling, highlighting the interdependency of movement and the senses and providing broader connections between playing, movement, the senses, affect and children's wellbeing.

Playing can help children to process, integrate and regulate sensory information.¹⁵³ Equally, sensory integration¹⁵⁴ as a process influences the development of play,¹⁵⁵ with children's sensory processing preferences affecting their play preferences, although not in uniform ways.¹⁵⁶ Neurodivergent children are more likely to have sensory processing differences from neurotypical children (often described as problems),¹⁵⁷ and may play in ways that may be perceived as disruptive, attracting censure in some contexts.¹⁵⁸

```
<sup>143</sup> Hanscom, 2016
```

¹⁴⁴ Block et al., 2017; Boddy et al., 2014; de Rossi, 2020

¹⁴⁵ Ahn et al., 2011

¹⁴⁶ Biddle *et al.*, 2019

¹⁴⁷ de Rossi, 2020

¹⁴⁸ Alexander et al., 2014, 2019

¹⁴⁹ Eberle, 2014; Lester, 2020

¹⁵⁰ Corris and Chemero, 2022; Sheets-Johnstone, 2018

¹⁵¹ Atmakur-Javdekar, 2016; Brown et al., 2019; Hakkarainen and Bredikyte, 2008; Henricks, 2014, 2015

¹⁵² Olson, 2022

¹⁵³ Bundy et al., 2007; Fearn, 2014; Prendiville and Fearn, 2017; Hanscom, 2016; Roberts et al., 2018

¹⁵⁴ The integration of actions with environmental information received through the senses.

¹⁵⁵ Watts et al., 2014

¹⁵⁶ Binder, 2021; Bundy et al., 2007; Mische Lawson and Dunn, 2008; Roberts et al., 2018; Watts et al., 2014

¹⁵⁷ Dellapiazza et al., 2021; Jorquera-Cabrera et al., 2017; Pfeiffer et al., 2014

¹⁵⁸ Binder, 2021; Conn, 2015

Although all senses are important, of particular interest to the interrelationship between playing, the senses and movement are the senses of touch, proprioception and kinaesthesia. Since Kinaesthesia and touch are the earliest sensory systems to develop, developing prenatally. Many forms of play involve touch between human bodies, for example, rough and tumble play, tickling, games of tag¹⁶¹ and pretend play. The neurochemical rewards of such play, felt as joy, motivate children to seek out such contact again, in the process developing attachments, a range of social skills and affective neural networks that can help against depression. Touch (through the whole body, not just the hands) is central to play in that even if children are not touching each other, they will be in touch with surfaces and objects, moving across them or manipulating them, as well as other experiences such as pressure, temperature, vibration, pleasure or pain, which in turn are all connected to movement.

Proprioception is necessary for and developed through movements typical in playing, for example, swinging, balancing, skipping, tree climbing, rolling down hills, spinning round, hanging upside down, as well as pushing and pulling things, dragging materials around, using different sides of the body, knowing how hard to hug or tag when playing, or engaging in rough and tumble play. Such forms of play are affected by and affect the vestibular system, which plays a key role in motor co-ordination, balance, gaze stabilisation during head movements, postural stability, heart rhythm and blood pressure, spatial orientation and an awareness of one's movements, attention, memory, concentration, as well as cognition and emotion regulation. Moreover, stimulation of the vestibular system, as with touch, engenders positive affect, evident in the squeals and screams of children engaging in such disequilibrial forms of play. In the squeals and screams of children engaging in such disequilibrial forms of play.

1.5.4 Playing with affect/emotion

Rational thought and action are not possible without the sensory information from movement, feelings and emotions.¹⁷¹ The relationship between bodily feelings, emotions, affect, thought and action/movement is not one of opposition and duality but of indivisibility. Play itself can be understood as an 'affective/motivational system'.¹⁷²

Affect, emotions and feelings are terms that are often used interchangeably and sometimes distinguished and defined in different ways across disciplines.¹⁷³ 'Affect' is sometimes used as an umbrella term for emotions and feelings.¹⁷⁴ A more relational understanding sees affect as emerging from encounters rather than something

¹⁵⁹ For the purposes of this review, we use the following understandings. Proprioception is the sense of knowing where parts of the body are in space without having to look at them and includes the sense of balance (Brodie, 2021; Hanscom, 2016). Kinaesthesia is the awareness of the movement of one's body (Sheets-Johnstone, 2011, 2018, 2020).

¹⁶⁰ Fearn and Troccoli, 2017; Hanscom, 2016; Jackson and McGlone, 2020; Sheets-Johnstone, 2020

¹⁶¹ Jackson and McGlone, 2020; Panksepp, 2010

¹⁶² Roberts *et al.*, 2018

¹⁶³ Jackson and McGlone, 2020; Panksepp, 2010

¹⁶⁴ Hanscom, 2016

¹⁶⁵ Bundy et al., 2008; Gibson et al., 2017; Prendiville and Fearn, 2017

¹⁶⁶ Fagen, 2011; Goddard Blythe, 2017; Hanscom, 2016

¹⁶⁷ The vestibular organs are found in the inner ear and work together with the vision, auditory and somatosensory systems and with graviceptors to feed sensory information to the brainstem, cerebellum and cortex.

¹⁶⁸ Brodie, 2021; Hanscom, 2016; van Hecke et al., 2021

¹⁶⁹ Miller et al., 2017; Rajagopalan et al., 2017

¹⁷⁰ Eberle, 2014; Work-Slivka, 2017

¹⁷¹ Damasio, 2018, 2021; Marks-Tarlow, 2010; Panksepp, 2010

¹⁷² LaFreniere, 2013, p. 192

¹⁷³ Burghardt, 2019; Damasio, 2018; Russ, 2014; Stanley, 2017; Tembo, 2021b

¹⁷⁴ Burghardt, 2019; Damasio, 2018; Russ, 2014

inside individuals, and includes the reciprocal ability both to affect and be affected by the world.¹⁷⁵ All three – affect, feelings and emotions – aim for homeostasis, the self-regulatory process that maintains a 'steady state' for organisms in the face of internal or external fluctuations and changes and ensures their survival. However, homeostasis is more than merely being steady and stable, it is a dynamic process of seeking opportunities to flourish.¹⁷⁶

It is often asserted that play generates positive affect, or that positive affect is a key characteristic of play, ¹⁷⁷ although there are also critiques of adults' unproblematic association between play and joy. ¹⁷⁸ Children themselves often associate playing with positive emotions. ¹⁷⁹ From this perspective, play is rewarding, and children will seek it out to experience that reward, to experience a state of flourishing, a greater satisfaction in being alive – in other words, moments of being well. ¹⁸⁰

At the risk of over-simplifying a complex area of research on the relationship between playing, affect, emotions and wellbeing, much of which is from neuroscience, these can be summarised as:

- The pleasure and joy of playing can reduce anxiety, build resilience to depression and have other health benefits;¹⁸¹ can broaden social interactions and build more lasting bonds and attachments;¹⁸² and can motivate further playing.¹⁸³
- Children actively seek out ways to experience primary emotions such as fear, disgust, shock, anger in relatively safe ways, bringing a vitality to life for the time of playing and also bringing more long-term benefits of positive affect described above.¹⁸⁴
- Play both requires emotion regulation¹⁸⁵ and affords a relatively safe frame for experiencing and practising the regulation of emotions,¹⁸⁶ with variations across gender and children with high or low impulsivity and/or anxiety.¹⁸⁷
- Many forms of play involve the creation of uncertainty, either through anticipation of surprise or through
 engineering a temporary loss of control. Such forms of play can provide a relatively safe context for priming
 neural networks to respond flexibly and creatively to novel situations without over-reacting, learning how
 to deal emotionally with being surprised or temporarily out of control,¹⁸⁸ as long as the surprise falls within
 acceptable limits of being neither too predictable nor too chaotic.¹⁸⁹

¹⁷⁵ Harker, 2005; Johansson and Hultgren, 2016; Lester, 2020; Leyshon, 2016; McPhail and Huynh, 2016; Stanley, 2017

¹⁷⁶ Billman, 2020; Damasio, 2018; Nirmalan and Nirmalan, 2020; Rose, 2012

¹⁷⁷ Ahloy-Dallaire *et al.*, 2018; Bateson, 2015; Burghardt, 2011; Eberle, 2014; Held and Spinka, 2011; Johnson and Dong, 2019; Siviy, 2016; Sutton-Smith, 2017; Whitebread, 2018

¹⁷⁸ Cook, 2019

¹⁷⁹ Brockman et al., 2011; Goodhall and Atkinson, 2019; Howard et al., 2017; Moore and Lynch, 2018

¹⁸⁰ Lester, 2020; Sutton-Smith, 2017

¹⁸¹ Burgdorf et al., 2017; Panksepp, 2008, 2010; Trezza et al., 2019

¹⁸² Tugade *et al.*, 2021

¹⁸³ Lester and Russell, 2010; Sutton-Smith, 2017

¹⁸⁴ Panksepp, 2008; Sutton-Smith, 2017

¹⁸⁵ It is important to note that emotion regulation is not the same as controlling emotions (although this may be one strategy of emotion regulation), but is more closely linked to homeostasis.

¹⁸⁶ Colle and del Giudice, 2011; Foley, 2017; Gilpin *et al.*, 2015; Granic *et al.*, 2014; Hoffman and Russ, 2012; La Freniere, 2011, 2013; Lindsey and Colwell, 2013; Nielsen and Hanghøj, 2019; Palagi, 2018; Pellis *et al.*, 2014; Pellis and Pellis, 2017; Rao and Gibson, 2019; Sandseter *et al.*, 2022; Slot *et al.*, 2017; Thibodeau-Mielsen and Gilpin, 2020; Vanderschuren and Trezza, 2014

¹⁸⁷ Rao and Gibson, 2019

¹⁸⁸ Andersen *et al.*, 2022; Gray, 2019; Kellman and Radwan, 2022; Pellis *et al.*, 2014; Pellis *et al.*, 2018; Sgro and Mychasiuk, 2020; Siviy, 2016; Vandervert, 2017

¹⁸⁹ Andersen *et al.*. 2022

Children also deliberately seek out fear and risk in their play, again within manageable extremes.¹⁹⁰ Such
forms of playing can engender feelings of exhilaration, bringing benefits of positive affect;¹⁹¹ and can prime
neurological systems to cope with uncertainty and novelty.¹⁹²

1.5.5 The therapeutic role of play

It is well documented that long-term toxic stress¹⁹³ can be harmful for children.¹⁹⁴ Equally, play has long been understood as a coping or healing activity, helping children to deal with difficulties, hardships and stresses they encounter. Whilst a range of adult professionals, including play therapists, occupational therapists, hospital specialists, playworkers and more, can support children through play, children also use play themselves in this way.¹⁹⁵

The therapeutic benefits of play include:

- facilitating communication (including expressing material that cannot be put into words)
- fostering emotional wellness (including catharsis, abreaction, positive emotions, counterconditioning of fears, stress inoculation and stress management)
- enhancing social relationships (including social skills, attachments and empathy)
- increasing personal strengths (for example, resilience and self-regulation). 196

Play can provide children with a 'once-removed' and relatively safe frame for exploring feelings and possible adaptive coping mechanisms, including expressing fears, finding ways to protect themselves from such threats, and defeating or mocking them.¹⁹⁷ Examples of this were seen during the COVID-19 pandemic, including some children incorporating the virus into their play narratives.¹⁹⁸ For hospitalised children, the capability to engage in self-organised play can help give them some sense of control over events, help create a sense of continuity with everyday life, and reduce anxiety, fear, stress and even pain, helping them and their families to have a more positive experience of being in hospital.¹⁹⁹

¹⁹⁰ Dodd and Lester, 2021; Sandseter, 2009, 2010

¹⁹¹ Hinchion et al., 2021; Hyndman and Telford, 2015; Lester and Russell, 2014b; Sando et al., 2021; Sandseter, 2009, 2010

¹⁹² Gray, 2020; Lester and Russell, 2014b; Sandseter, 2010; Sandseter and Kennair, 2011

¹⁹³ The current understanding of 'toxic stress' from the American Academy of Pediatrics is that it 'refers to a wide array of biological changes that occur at the molecular, cellular, and behavioral levels when there is prolonged or significant adversity in the absence of mitigating social-emotional buffers. Whether those adversity-induced changes are considered adaptive and health-promoting or maladaptive and "toxic" depends on the context' (Garner *et al.*, 2021, p. 2).

¹⁹⁴ Foley, 2017; Garner *et al.*, 2021

¹⁹⁵ Bateman et al., 2013; Clark, 2018

¹⁹⁶ Drewes and Schaeffer, 2014

¹⁹⁷ Clark, 2018; McKinty and Hazleton, 2022

¹⁹⁸ Casey and McKendrick, 2022; Cowan *et al.*, 2021; Graber *et al.*, 2021; Kourti, 2021; Mukherjee, 2021; Russell and Stenning, 2021, 2022

¹⁹⁹ Gulyurtlu et al., 2020; Koukourikos et al., 2015; Nijhof et al., 2018

1.5.6 Playing with others

Here, the focus is on the relationship between play and attachment to caregivers and to peers and the importance of friendships for wellbeing. Attachment can be seen as an adaptive system across a range of family, peer and romantic relationships and social networks that contributes both directly to resilience and also to the development and support of other protective adaptive systems, such as self-regulation, that are built through close relationships with others.²⁰⁰ Early infant attachment to caregivers is strongly linked to wellbeing through infancy, childhood, adolescence and later in life.²⁰¹ Playing helps to build these attachments, initially through adults creating safe rituals for many forms of play, including tickling and games such as peek-a-boo.²⁰² Early caregiver-infant playing both requires and builds the affective attunement needed for later forms of social play with peers including rough and tumble, games, jokes and rituals, helping to build peer attachments.²⁰³ A relational approach acknowledges attachment as a system that is contingent upon effective caregiver systems and broader socio-political contexts.²⁰⁴

For older children, although attachment to caregivers remains important, friendships offer different experiences, particularly through playing.²⁰⁵ As typically developing children grow, they build more enduring friendships with peers.²⁰⁶ Play is one of the social exchanges that both defines friendships²⁰⁷ and provides the context for friendships to be formed and maintained.²⁰⁸ Children who have strong friendships can cope better with stress and have higher sense of self-worth and emotional security, whereas those who feel excluded and rejected can experience loneliness and depression.²⁰⁹ Tensions can arise in children's friendships between the complementary motivations for both social integration and social competition, since social integration can involve competition for friends, allies, reputation and status.²¹⁰ In the choreography for group acceptance or status, children use direct competition, aggression, teasing, excluding, bullying and gossiping in gendered ways.²¹¹ The ambiguities of playing, in terms of its real-but-not-real status, allow for the enaction of exclusions within the game in ways that can play out differently across social differences in complex ways.²¹²

Children's own play cultures are sites for sharing, participating in and producing traditional games, rituals, jokes and narratives that are continually updated to be in line with contemporary cultural contexts including children's online lives. Although research into these play forms often foregrounds children's ingenuity, nonsense and more taboo forms of playing, there are also clear links to children's wellbeing. Participation in play cultures

²⁰⁰ Masten, 2014

²⁰¹ Gorrese, 2016; Gorrese and Ruggieri, 2012; Jackson and McGlone, 2020; Masten, 2014; McGinley and Evans, 2020; Panksepp, 2010

²⁰² Bergen et al., 2016; Gordon, 2015; Jackson and McGlone, 2020

²⁰³ Gordon, 2015

²⁰⁴ Carlyle et al., 2020; Duschinsky et al., 2015

²⁰⁵ Balluerka et al., 2016; Gorrese, 2016; McGinley and Evans, 2020

²⁰⁶ Fattore and Mason, 2017; Holder and Coleman, 2015

²⁰⁷ Bagwell and Schmidt, 2013; Brogaard-Clausen and Robson, 2019

²⁰⁸ Beazidou and Botsoglou, 2016; Carter and Nutbrown, 2016

²⁰⁹ Brogaard-Clausen and Robson, 2019; Fattore and Mason, 2017; Holder and Coleman, 2015

²¹⁰ Del Giudice, 2015

²¹¹ LaFreniere, 2011; Madrid, 2013

²¹² McDonnell, 2019; Trammell, 2020, 2023

²¹³ Breathnach *et al.*, 2018; Corsaro, 2020; Johanson, 2010; Marsh and Bishop, 2013; Potter and Cowan, 2020; Karoff and Jessen, 2008

²¹⁴ Koch, 2018; Lester, 2020; Marsh and Bishop, 2013; Rosen, 2015a, 2015b; Sutton-Smith, 2017

²¹⁵ Corsaro, 2020; Marsh and Bishop, 2013

is a form of communal sharing,²¹⁶ which brings an emotional buzz through a sense of belonging.²¹⁷ Some of this sense of cultural belonging emanates from the challenges to adult power and authority, which also offers children a sense of control and a collective identity.²¹⁸ However, children's play cultures do not operate in isolation from adult cultures, rather they can be understood as a counterculture that exists alongside and in opposition to adults' conventions and rules. Those who are successful at this relationship between children's and adult cultures find the right balance between their resistant actions and compliance when it matters.²¹⁹

Children can also develop attachments to non-human animals, particularly (but not only) family pets. When asked about their lives, children frequently talk about their relationships with animals, including domesticated pets, wildlife or livestock, ²²⁰ although children's attraction to animals is not universal. ²²¹ Much of the psychological and developmental research on children and animals tends to focus on the benefits of pets for children's wellbeing, children's cruelty to animals and potential links with later adult abusive behaviour, or children's connections to nature. ²²² In addition, many of these studies have focused on dogs and cats as pets. Beyond this, posthuman studies have considered children's everyday encounters with other species in ways that critique nature-culture binaries and challenge human exceptionalism. ²²³

1.5.7 Playing with things

Generally, the 'stuff' of playing is rarely mentioned in studies that focus on children's play and wellbeing. Beyond research on infants' object play,²²⁴ there are some studies on block or construction play,²²⁵ a small body of work considering the role of therapeutic toys in play therapy²²⁶ and a growing literature on the benefits of playing with loose parts.^{227, 228} These studies mostly, but not exclusively, construct children's relationships with material objects as interaction, viewing the objects themselves as inert and passive in the process of playing, with a focus on what changes for children. Social and cultural geography studies pay more attention to the materiality of play, but mostly consider *how* (rather than *why*) children play with toys and other objects, including looking at toys as the material culture of childhood intersecting with market forces and adult imaginaries.

```
<sup>216</sup> Corsaro, 2020
```

²¹⁷ Marsh and Bishop, 2013

²¹⁸ Corsaro, 2020

²¹⁹ Corsaro, 2020; Koch, 2018

²²⁰ Moore and Lynch, 2018; Tipper, 2011

²²¹ Irvine and Cilia, 2017; Tipper, 2011

²²² Tipper, 2011

²²³ Rautio, 2013b

²²⁴ Herzberg *et al.*, 2021; Lifter *et al.*, 2022; Lockman and Tamis-LeMonda, 2021; Orr, 2020; Pellegrini, 2019; Riede *et al.*, 2018; Solis *et al.*, 2017

²²⁵ Gold et al., 2021; Ness and Farenga, 2016; Tian et al., 2020

²²⁶ Kottman, 2011; Parker et al., 2021; Ray et al., 2013

²²⁷ The term 'loose parts' refers to indeterminate, non-prescriptive, natural, recycled or waste materials that children can play with in any manner of ways.

²²⁸ Ardelean *et al.*, 2021; Brown, 2018; Bullough *et al.*, 2018; Bundy *et al.*, 2017; Engelen *et al.*, 2018; Farmer *et al.*, 2017; Gibson *et al.*, 2017; Hyndman *et al.*, 2014; Lee *et al.*, 2020; Lester *et al.*, 2011; Luchs and Fikus, 2013; Patte *et al.*, 2018; Poulsen, 2022; Taylor *et al.*, 2014; Verberne *et al.*, 2014

However, some of these studies do mark a turn to forms of relational materialism that can trouble the binary of play's intrinsic and instrumental value²²⁹ and of the real and imaginary²³⁰ through paying attention to how play emerges from encounters with the material, the immaterial (including the senses) and the symbolic, and through reimagining development and wellbeing as co-produced.²³¹ Such studies consider the liveliness of material objects and their part in how playing unfolds.²³² Within this position, all matter (living and non-living) is an equal player in the entanglements that produce unstable moments of playing, with agency being distributed across networks of relations rather than being possessed by individual children or adults.

Given that anything can be used as a toy and given that how an object is used defines its 'toyness', some objects may be toys at some moments and under some conditions but not others. The label of 'toy' therefore does not necessarily and always attach to specific objects; rather toys could be understood as 'moments *in time*'.²³³ What objects have to offer for playing arises in-between the object and the players and everything else that produces each moment.

From a therapeutic perspective, toys and other objects can support children to play out and feel some level of control over events, helping them to process and heal from trauma.²³⁴ Children often develop strong attachments to toys and other objects that help them to reduce separation anxiety from caregivers and ease distress when undergoing medical procedures.²³⁵

Children's consumption of commercial toys (both digital and non-digital) is deeply embedded in their social lives and friendships and therefore wellbeing.²³⁶ Possessing certain consumer items allows children, particularly those from poorer backgrounds and disrupted family lives, to belong and to be heard amongst peers.²³⁷ Toys can also be sites of cultural and social participation,²³⁸ and being able to take pocket toys into school can sometimes help at playtimes, either as a comfort and something to play with if children are unable to gain access to games, or as an attraction.²³⁹

Evidence of how the materiality of what is available for play affects children's wellbeing comes from the growing studies into loose parts, particularly their introduction in school playtimes. This includes an increase in physical activity, ²⁴⁰ engagement in more complex play forms, ²⁴¹ more creativity, engagement and enjoyment of playtimes, ²⁴² and more diverse groups of children playing together. ²⁴³

```
<sup>229</sup> Woodyer, 2008
```

²³⁰ Wohlwend, 2020

²³¹ Rautio and Winston, 2015

²³² Thiel, 2015

²³³ Levinovitz, 2017, p. 271

²³⁴ Parker *et al.*, 2021

²³⁵ Lee and Hood, 2021

²³⁶ Buckingham, 2011; Mertala et al., 2016; Wilson, 2016

²³⁷ Wilson, 2016

²³⁸ Wohlwend, 2020

²³⁹ Carter and Nutbrown, 2016

²⁴⁰ Bundy *et al.*, 2017; Engelen *et al.*, 2018; Farmer *et al.*, 2017; Gibson *et al.*, 2017; Hyndman *et al.*, 2014; Lee *et al.*, 2020; Taylor *et al.*, 2014

²⁴¹ Bundy, 2009; Luchs and Fikus, 2013; Lester et al., 2011; Verberne et al., 2014

²⁴² Bundy *et al.*, 2008; James, 2012; Lester *et al.*, 2011; McLachlan, 2014; Sterman *et al.*, 2020

²⁴³ Armitage, 2009; Farmer et al., 2017; James, 2012; Tawil, 2017

1.5.8 Play, place and wellbeing

Here, we consider how children's play is productive of spaces that support wellbeing. Continuing a relational perspective, space is understood as continually under construction, always in the process of being produced through entanglements of spatial practices, material and symbolic objects (present and absent, local and global), affects, desires, power relations and so on.²⁴⁴ Such a perspective has underpinned the proposed relational capability approach, which argues that if conditions are right for children to play, children have the *capability* to do and be well. Children's spatialities are embedded in power relations and this is particularly so in terms of where they play.²⁴⁵ Children's play is inherently spatial: all play *takes place* somewhere.²⁴⁶ This is more than a material and social emplacement, it is an ongoing relational and emergent process experienced through the senses, movement and imagination.²⁴⁷

Playing out and being well

When children can play out, they build an intimate knowledge of neighbourhoods.²⁴⁸ Children's engagement with spaces is embodied and affective, experienced through movement and the senses as well as the imagination through which spaces are imbued with meanings.²⁴⁹ In this way, children develop a *sense* of place, an affective and embodied connection and place attachment.²⁵⁰ Place attachments offer a sense of security and belonging, social affiliation and opportunities for creative expression and exploration.²⁵¹ Although place attachment often develops in spaces away from adults, there is a tension between the desire for autonomy and risk (often through attachment to secret spaces)²⁵² and the sense of security that can be gained from nearby adults. Attachment to place can offer stability at times of change and paying attention to children's experiences of place can be important when supporting displaced children.²⁵³ Playing out and having special places, to which children often give their own names,²⁵⁴ fosters a sense of belonging and self-efficacy, protecting and enhancing wellbeing.²⁵⁵

Children build attachments to special places of refuge from the demands of everyday life.²⁵⁶ These are places to which children return repeatedly, and which may have particular value for marginalised or at-risk children and youth.²⁵⁷ Refuge is not something that is taken from a static and unchanging space, but is embedded in ongoing relations and practices.²⁵⁸

Time and greater freedom to play outdoors with friends, away from the direct supervision and control of adults, is consistently associated with improved levels of physical activity and fitness, and less sedentary behaviour.²⁵⁹

```
<sup>244</sup> Holloway et al., 2019; Lester, 2020; Malone, 2015; Soreaunu and Hurducas, 2016
```

²⁴⁵ Carroll et al., 2019; Lester, 2020; Pyyry, 2016; Pyyry and Tani, 2019; Soreaunu and Hurducaş, 2016

²⁴⁶ Lester, 2020; United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child, 2013

²⁴⁷ Joelsson, 2022

²⁴⁸ Bauer et al., 2022; Jansson et al., 2016; Wales et al., 2021

²⁴⁹ Joelsson, 2022

²⁵⁰ Bartos, 2013

²⁵¹ Koller and Farley, 2019; Weir et al., 2022

²⁵² Bauer et al., 2022

²⁵³ Weir *et al.*, 2022

²⁵⁴ Bauer *et al.*, 2022; Russell *et al.*, 2023; Wales *et al.*, 2021

²⁵⁵ Bourke, 2017; Hooper et al., 2015; Wales et al., 2021

²⁵⁶ Arvidsen and Beames, 2019; Malone, 2015; Vanderstede, 2011

²⁵⁷ Malone, 2015

²⁵⁸ Arvidsen and Beames, 2019

²⁵⁹ Brockman et al., 2011; Foster et al., 2014; Gray et al., 2015; McQuade et al., 2019; Wen et al., 2009

When children play outdoors without adult supervision, they are more likely to engage in adventurous and risky forms of play.²⁶⁰ This brings with it benefits including the capacity to cope with surprise and novel situations,²⁶¹ reduced anxiety²⁶² and a sense of belonging arising from shared play episodes,²⁶³ and a sense of vitality both from the thrill of risk taking and playing with fear more generally, generating a sense of joy associated with wellbeing.²⁶⁴

Conversely, the apparent decline in playing out away from the direction and intervention of adults has also been associated with a rise in childhood and adolescent psychopathology, including increased anxiety and depression, higher levels of hyperactivity and attention deficit, reduced sense of wellbeing and quality of life, as well as heightened feelings of loneliness associated with a weaker sense of community, reduced sense of safety, and fewer, more irregular social activities with friends. 467

Playing in the digital realm

Children's digital and non-digital lives are intimately interwoven. ²⁶⁸ Children's virtual worlds and other connected digital games can support children's wellbeing through their inherent sociality, ²⁶⁹ although they carry with them the potential for harm and exclusion, just as offline spaces do. ²⁷⁰ Familiarity with the language, lore, myths and rituals ²⁷¹ of online games and platforms can engender a sense of belonging. ²⁷² Online spaces can offer opportunities for social connections with friends (most of which are existing offline friends) ²⁷³ that can transcend the constraints imposed by adults. ²⁷⁴ This can be particularly true for looked after children, ²⁷⁵ many of whom move frequently and so have difficulty maintaining social contacts other than through social media and video gaming. ²⁷⁶ In addition, safe and familiar digital spaces can offer the opportunity for children to express their vulnerabilities in many different ways, and to play with identity, ²⁷⁷ including for autistic children ²⁷⁸ and LGBTWQIA+ young people. ²⁷⁹

```
<sup>260</sup> Gray, 2020
```

²⁶¹ Gray, 2020; Sandseter, 2010; Sandseter and Kennair, 2011

²⁶² Dodd and Lester, 2021; Dodd *et al.*, 2022

²⁶³ Little and Stapleton, 2021

²⁶⁴ Sando *et al.*, 2021

²⁶⁵ Gray, 2011; Gray et al., 2023

²⁶⁶ Suchert *et al.*, 2015

²⁶⁷ Pacilli *et al.*, 2013

²⁶⁸ Bailey, 2021; Burke, 2013; Ruckenstein, 2013; Stevens *et al.*, 2017; Wilson, 2016

²⁶⁹ Carter *et al.*, 2020; Markey *et al.*, 2020; Robertson, 2021

²⁷⁰ Colvert, 2021; Marsh, 2011, 2012; Stevens et al., 2017

²⁷¹ Robertson, 2021

²⁷² Bailey, 2016, 2021; Marlatt, 2020; Marsh, 2012; Ringland, 2019

²⁷³ Carter et al., 2020

²⁷⁴ Colvert, 2021; Ruckenstein, 2013; Wilson, 2016

²⁷⁵ Children in the care of the local authority.

²⁷⁶ Wilson, 2016

²⁷⁷ Bailey, 2021; Ruckenstein, 2013; Yau and Reich, 2018

²⁷⁸ Ringland, 2019

²⁷⁹ Downing, 2013

'Natural' places

There is a burgeoning literature on children's (lack of) contact with nature.²⁸⁰ Systematic reviews, whilst urging caution and highlighting a lack of consistency between studies, suggest a number of benefits for children's contact with nature (summarised by author below, therefore with some overlaps):

- physical activity, fitness and development of motor skills, creativity, and social and emotional benefits²⁸¹
- attention restoration, working memory, social affiliations, self-discipline, improving behaviour and symptoms of ADHD, improving academic performance, offering relief from stress²⁸²
- positive (and sometimes negative) affect, self-esteem and confidence, stress reduction and restoration, social benefits and resilience²⁸³
- positive relationships, socially adaptive behaviours, social competences, emotion management and
 expression, behavioural inhibition, thoughts of self, overall socioemotional adaptation, and symptoms
 of autism and ADHD, working memory, and also a deeper and longer engagement in play²⁸⁴
- reduced symptoms of ADHD, reduced stress, overall improved mental health, resilience, and health-related quality of life²⁸⁵
- environmental knowledge and more pro-environment attitudes as an adult.²⁸⁶

Nevertheless, critiques of the idea that children are losing their connection to nature are several.²⁸⁷ Some question what is meant by 'nature' and point out that urban children can find it 'in the cracks and crevices of cement, in the footprints of foxes and city rabbits'.²⁸⁸ Others highlight the romanticisation of nature that combines powerfully with ideals of childhood innocence²⁸⁹ in ways that are classed, racialised and gendered.²⁹⁰ Critics also point out that the idea of 'disconnection' from nature perpetuates a nature-culture separation.²⁹¹ Environmental scientists are now clear about the inextricable entanglements of humans and the environment and the minority world's devastating impact on the earth's bio- and geo-systems.²⁹² Moving beyond human exceptionalism requires taking seriously the idea that we are always already implicated in the complex and entangled meshwork of human and nonhuman forces.²⁹³

²⁸⁰ Edwards et al., 2020; Frumkin et al., 2017; Larson et al., 2019; Charles and Louv, 2009, 2020; Louv, 2005; Moss, 2012

²⁸¹ Dankiw et al., 2020

²⁸² McCormick, 2017

²⁸³ Roberts et al., 2019

²⁸⁴ Mygind *et al.*, 2021

²⁸⁵ Tillmann et al., 2018

²⁸⁶ Gill, 2011, 2014

²⁸⁷ Kraftl *et al.*, 2018; Lester, 2016; Malone, 2016a; Rautio *et al.*, 2017; Taylor, 2017

²⁸⁸ Rautio et al., 2017, p. 1379

²⁸⁹ Harwood et al., 2019; Kraftl et al., 2018; Lester, 2016, 2020; Taylor, 2013, 2017

²⁹⁰ Dickinson, 2013; Taylor, 2017

²⁹¹ Fletcher, 2017

²⁹² Taylor, 2017

²⁹³ Malone, 2016a, 2016b; Murris, 2016; Rautio et al., 2017; Taylor, 2017

From a relational perspective, rather than seeing the 'child in nature',²⁹⁴ attention can turn to the entanglements of bodies (human and non-human), materialities (both 'natural' and manufactured) and affect.²⁹⁵ Without diminishing the importance of research into the benefits of time spent with/in nature, the binary separation can be disturbed and rethought through paying attention to and taking account of small, everyday and even mundane encounters.²⁹⁶

1.5.9 Returning to playing and being well

Despite the seeming gulf between different disciplinary approaches to researching the relationship between children's play and their wellbeing, there is remarkable similarity – and caution – in the conclusions. Most studies are cautious in the claims they make, acknowledging the interdependence and relationality of neural processes, senses, movement, affect, cognition, other humans, non-humans, objects, historical-cultural contexts, politics, policies and spaces. Children do not exist and develop in isolation from the rest of their worlds, and playing can both absorb the actualities of children's everyday lives and offer the opportunity to imagine them differently.

The summary offered below is overly simplistic and generalised, but will give a flavour of how embedded play is in children's wellbeing, and its role in Nussbaum's²⁹⁷ ten core capabilities of Life, Bodily Health, Bodily Integrity, the Development and Expression of Senses, Imagination and Thought, Emotional Health, Practical Reason, Affiliation (both personal and political), Relationships with Other Species and the World of Nature, Play, and Control over One's Environment (both material and social):

- play matters to children
- the pleasure of playing makes a significant contribution to mental health and motivates further playing
- the skills, dispositions and bodily integrity that are both needed for and honed through playing can make playing more satisfactory and contribute to wellbeing beyond play
- play's interrelated and interdependent embodied, sensual, dynamic and affective dimensions can add to
 its vitality and contribute to physical health and strength, emotion regulation and healthy stress response
 systems
- through playing children can build attachments to peers, other adults, non-human animals, objects and
 places, contributing to children's sense of security and belonging and of being able to affect their own lives
 and the lives of others
- play can operate as a form of participation in everyday life, contributing to the production of neighbourhoods and social networks
- nonsense is valuable and the 'what if?' potential of play supports creativity and innovation, which can contribute to evolution
- playing has both intrinsic and instrumental value, and whilst it is not helpful to see these forms of value
 as binary and mutually excluding opposites, instrumental value can be realised more effectively if intrinsic
 value is recognised
- play, whilst for the most part offering such benefits, should not be romanticised since it is ultimately amoral and can reproduce the inequalities and cruelties that exist outside of play.

²⁹⁴ Harwood *et al.*, 2019, p. 58

²⁹⁵ Harwood et al., 2019; Malone, 2016a, 2016b; Rautio et al., 2017

²⁹⁶ Änggård, 2016; Goodenough et al., 2021; Harwood et al., 2019; Nelson, 2020; Rautio and Jokinen, 2016; Wales et al., 2021

²⁹⁷ Nussbaum, 2007

Play is not offered here as a panacea for the injustices that children face both because of their status as children and due to other intersections of injustice. The current economic, geopolitical and environmental crises present real threats to children's capability for life, bodily health, bodily integrity and other elements in Nussbaum's list that depend on just access to adequate food, housing, healthcare, education and other basic public services as well as financial, social and environmental security. Nevertheless, play is included in Nussbaum's list precisely because it can contribute in significant ways to wellbeing.

From a relational perspective, the flows and intensities of affect that arise from encounters produce feeling states that affect the capacity for engagement, the power to affect and be affected by the ongoing doings of life: feelings of being well or not being well. If playing is seen as one of the ten central human capabilities (for all ages) in Nussbaum's list, then a capability approach to wellbeing would need to pay attention to the spatial, temporal and affective conditions that support opportunities to play for children to be capable of doing and being well. These conditions are reviewed in chapters 4 and 5.

1.6 Children's play today (chapter 4)

Thinking about children's opportunities for play from a relational capability approach turns attention towards the entangled conditions of children's everyday lives and the extent to which these can support or constrain opportunities for playing, noting that both may be the case at the same time in some circumstances. Children's capability to find time and space for playing is relationally produced and co-dependent on a multitude of interrelated factors and forces which at times form temporary alliances to create spatial and affective conditions that are more or less open to the possibility of playing. Where conditions are conducive, playing emerges through and as encounters between children, other bodies and the materiality and affective atmospheres of their *milieux*.²⁹⁸

A common concept to be found in the literature on how, when, where and with whom children play draws on theories of affordances.²⁹⁹ Affordances are what an organism perceives an environment could offer for action.³⁰⁰ As was shown in chapter 3, perception entails senses, movement and affect as well as cognition.³⁰¹ Important too are the social and emotional aspects that also influence whether or not a child can actualise a physical affordance.³⁰² A relational capability approach allows for a politicisation of the theory of affordances. The personal, social, political, temporal and spatial conditions that mean children can actualise physical affordances – that they can convert resources into the capability to play – are matters of social and spatial justice.

With respect to the role of adults (a primary concern of this literature review), such an understanding includes and moves beyond the provision of designated times and spaces for play, to consider the myriad ways in which adults, directly and indirectly, intentionally or otherwise, influence children's capabilities for playing, and therefore how we might better attend to children's capability to play. The twin processes of account-ability and responseability have been used in research into the Welsh Government's Play Sufficiency Duty³⁰³ and are also used in this literature review to structure chapters 4 and 5. Account-ability in this context refers to the ability of adults to take account of and to account for children's everyday lived experiences, the extent of their capabilities to play,

²⁹⁸ The term *milieu* is used here to refer to the broad contexts of children's lives, and embraces the entanglements of physical, social, cultural, affective, historical, political conditions. It is a French term that means both in the middle of and surroundings, working well with ideas of assemblages and entanglements and overcoming the problem of talking about human-environments relations as interactions of two separate phenomena (Lester, 2020; Massumi, 2013).

²⁹⁹ For example, Chatterjee, 2017; Gill, 2021; Heft and Kyttä, 2006; Kyttä *et al.*, 2018; Li and Seymour, 2019; Malone, 2015; Woolley, 2013

³⁰⁰ Gibson, 1979

³⁰¹ Corris and Chemero, 2022; Sheets-Johnstone, 2018

³⁰² Kyttä, 2004

³⁰³ Lester and Russell, 2013a, 2014a; Russell *et al.*, 2019, 2020

and the diverse flows and forces that influence those capabilities (chapter 4). Response-ability involves using this evidence to critically examine habits of thought, language and practice that make spaces more or less open to the possibilities for play to emerge. This is about re-thinking adult approaches to play, developing and implementing actions designed to open up and keep space open for playing, with the aim of protecting, maintaining and cultivating more favourable conditions for play (chapter 5).

Chapter 4 is therefore an account of the research on children's contemporary play patterns and the interrelated conditions of children's lives, which in turn shape and are shaped by children's opportunities for playing. It starts from the recognition that children play anywhere and everywhere,³⁰⁴ and so accounting for children's play patterns requires looking beyond designated times and spaces for playing. It also means paying attention to the intersections of macro level structures, forces and influences and the detail of children's everyday experiences. Often, the literature considers one or the other.³⁰⁵ A relational approach to accounting for children's play moves beyond simplistic dichotomies of agency/structure, local/global, childhood/adulthood, nature/culture, private/public, urban/rural, online/offline and physical/virtual.³⁰⁶ It can instead attend to the complexities of these relations, recognising that they are situated and negotiable,³⁰⁷ and that children's lives are dynamic, continuously changing over time and space.³⁰⁸

1.6.1 A framework and structure for the chapter

Chapter 4 is structured using the idea of first, second and third places.³⁰⁹ First place refers to the home. Second place refers to places of obligation, which for adults is work, but for children includes school and other non-domestic spaces they are compelled to attend for education, childcare and development. Outside of school and home, third places are public spaces that provide a context for sociability, emotional expression, spontaneity and (particularly for this review), where children play.³¹⁰ These characteristics of third places facilitate the affective benefits valued by children and engender feelings of wellness, provide stress relief, and improve perceptions of quality of life, of community/neighbourhood, and of inclusion, belonging and participation.³¹¹ In considering what might count as first, second or third place for children's play it is helpful not to restrict the categories too narrowly to specific geographic sites. Categorisation is not absolute but based on the function a space provides, and this may be fluid and vary at different times or in different contexts.

After the introductory section, the chapter reviews the common claim that children's outdoor play is in decline, noting how this is often conflated with a decline in play overall; considers approaches to measuring children's outdoor play and its close connection with children's freedom of movement; and reviews the safety concerns and other factors that have affected children's capability to play out. After this broad contextualisation, the remainder of the chapter works with the third place framework to explore the literature on contemporary conditions for play across a range of distinct, but interconnected, contexts including the public realm, the pandemic, home, digital spaces and adult-supervised spaces.

³⁰⁴ United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child, 2013

³⁰⁵ Freeman, 2020; Holloway, 2014; Horton and Kraftl, 2018a; Malone and Rudner, 2016

³⁰⁶ Änggård, 2016; Ansell, 2009; Holloway, 2014; Malone, 2016a, 2016b; Marsh *et al.*, 2016; Nairn and Kraftl, 2016; Smith and Dunkley, 2018

³⁰⁷ Malone, 2016a, 2016b; Prout, 2011; Ruckenstein, 2013

³⁰⁸ Freeman, 2020

³⁰⁹ These ideas draw on original work by Oldenburg (1989), Oldenburg and Brissett (1982) and more recent work that has adapted this to consider children's everyday spatialities (Hooper *et al.*, 2015; Kearns *et al.*, 2016; Oliver *et al.*, 2016; Shortt and Ross, 2021; Witten and Carroll, 2016; Witten *et al.*, 2015; Witten *et al.*, 2019)

³¹⁰ Carroll *et al.*, 2015

³¹¹ Jeffres et al., 2009

1.6.2 A decline in play(ing out)?

A common claim made by adults about children's play today is that children in general are playing less than in previous generations.³¹² Whilst this may be true for some children, we found little empirical evidence to suggest that the majority of children have somehow stopped playing (or do not know how to play). However, there is no doubt that contemporary conditions for children's play have changed significantly compared with what many older adults may have experienced in their childhoods,³¹³ with implications for children's capabilities for playing, leading to changes in children's play patterns. What this demonstrates is not that children are playing less but that some of the time they are playing in different places and in different ways from previous generations, perhaps in ways that are perceived to be of less value.³¹⁴

Based on the available evidence, we conclude that where there has been a decline in play, it is in children's freedom to play out and about in the public realm and the amount of time they spend doing so.³¹⁵ Whilst acknowledging both the diversity of childhoods and critiques of some of the assumptions and methods of data collection,³¹⁶ there are discernible trends across minority world countries showing a decline in the numbers of children playing out regularly³¹⁷ and the amount of time children spend playing outside,³¹⁸ an increase in the age at which most children are allowed out to play,³¹⁹ and reductions in the distances children are allowed to travel without adult accompaniment.³²⁰ These changes are accompanied by an associated shift in children's play patterns towards more time spent playing in and around the home, more time playing under the supervision of adults, and big increases in children's play with digital devices, with subsequent changes in children's peer play culture.³²¹

Nevertheless, children overwhelmingly continue to report a strong desire for playing outside with their friends,³²² and when the conditions are right, children do still play out.³²³

³¹² Bergen, 2018; Borst, 2021; Brown, 2014; Gleave and Cole-Hamilton, 2012; Gray, 2011, 2023

³¹³ Basset et al., 2015; Harris, 2017; Jelleyman et al., 2019; McQuade et al., 2019; Play England, 2023

³¹⁴ Alexander *et al.*, 2014, 2019; Cook, 2019; Gray *et al.*, 2015; Harris, 2017; Janssen *et al.*, 2016; Lester, 2016; Lewis, 2017; McQuade *et al.*, 2019; Wood, 2012

³¹⁵ Barron and Emmett, 2020; Bates and Stone, 2015; Holt *et al.*, 2016; Gray *et al.*, 2015; Karsten, 2005; Lewis, 2017; Loebach *et al.*, 2021; McQuade *et al.*, 2019; Mullan, 2019; Woolley and Griffin, 2015

³¹⁶ Bhosale *et al.*, 2017; Cleland *et al.*, 2010; Dodd *et al.*, 2021; Horton and Kraftl, 2018a, 2018b; Lehman-Frisch *et al.*, 2012; Loebach *et al.*, 2021; Malone and Rudner, 2016; Martin *et al.*, 2023; McQuade, 2019; Rixon *et al.*, 2019

³¹⁷ Loebach and Gilliland, 2016a, 2016b; Play England, 2023

³¹⁸ Larouche *et al.*, 2017

³¹⁹ Dodd et al., 2021; Shaw et al., 2015

³²⁰ Dodd *et al.*, 2021; Gill, 2021; Malone and Rudner, 2016; Shaw *et al.*, 2015

³²¹ Holt *et al.*, 2016; McQuade *et al.*, 2019

³²² Brockman *et al.*, 2011; Children's Commissioner for England, 2021; Children's Commissioner for Wales, 2018; Dallimore, 2019; HAPPEN, 2018

³²³ Dallimore, 2019; Dodd et al., 2021; Freeman, 2020; Kraftl, 2020b; Russell et al., 2019, 2020

1.6.3 Everyday freedoms and playing out

There is a close correlation between children's freedom to move around their neighbourhoods and time spent playing out.³²⁴ The rather adult-centred notion of children's independent mobility has been critiqued for potentially overlooking the many rich ways in which children negotiate and share their movements in the public realm with human and non-human others.³²⁵ Nevertheless, the reasons for the decline in children's freedom of movement and therefore playing out are several and complex. Two reasons given are often the safety concerns of parents³²⁶ and the lure of digital technology.³²⁷ Whilst these are clearly highly influential, they cannot be seen as simple and singular cause and effect forces to blame, since they are entangled in broader material discursive practices that affect the conditions of children's everyday lives. For example, generalising statements about adult over-protection can invisibilise those at greater risk and blame caregivers for what are often structural issues,³²⁸ including the very real risks faced by those living in structurally marginalised neighbourhoods.³²⁹ Further, within a discourse of childhood risks, parents and carers must be 'risk managers', constantly vigilant, to both protect children and avoid criticism from other adults,³³⁰ with news and social media often serving to amplify parental guilt and perceptions of risk.³³¹

Taking such complex forces into account returns focus to children's capability to play out as a matter of spatial justice. Whilst the concept of spatial justice applies across all the places and spaces of childhood, the research reviewed clearly indicates that the site of the most egregious spatial injustice is in public space and children's capability to play out in their neighbourhoods. Looking at structural, macro level forces, two examples of major constraints on children's capability to play out in their neighbourhoods have their basis in the prioritisation of the economy over citizen wellbeing.³³² The first is the loss of undefined spaces children often appropriate for playing, since such plots are increasingly acquired and enclosed for specific commercial purposes,³³³ much of it being sold into private ownership.³³⁴ Between 1979 and 2018, 10% of Britain's landmass, the equivalent of two million hectares, was transferred from public to private ownership.³³⁵ The second example is that the economy requires the efficient movement of goods and people to support the processes of production, distribution and consumption, making motor vehicles, both parked and moving, the primary users of residential streets.³³⁶ Over the last 25 years, the number of cars licensed in Great Britain has risen by 39.6%,³³⁷ meaning that there are over three times as many motor vehicles as children in the UK,³³⁸ with all of them taking up considerable space when either moving or parked. Whereas these forces have significant impact on all children's capability to play,

³²⁴ Frohlich and Collins, 2023; Loebach et al., 2021; Wen et al., 2009

³²⁵ Kraftl, 2020b; Loebach and Gilliland, 2016a, 2016b; Mikkelsen and Christensen, 2009; Murray and Cortés-Morales, 2019; Nansen *et al.*, 2015; Russell *et al.*, 2020

³²⁶ Borst, 2021; Day, 2023; Gray, 2011; Lee et al., 2015; Tremblay et al., 2015

³²⁷ Brown, 2014; Elkind, 2008

³²⁸ Bauer *et al.*, 2021; Gerlach *et al.*, 2019; Giles *et al.*, 2019; Talbot, 2013

³²⁹ Gerlach et al., 2019

³³⁰ Day, 2023; McQuade et al., 2019; Mainland et al., 2017; Pynn et al., 2019; Rixon et al., 2019

³³¹ Chaudron et al., 2017; Day, 2023; Talbot, 2013

³³² Bollier, 2016; Monbiot et al., 2019

³³³ Hart, 2014

³³⁴ Brett, 2018; Grant, 2022; Layard, 2019; Monbiot *et al.*, 2019; Smith, 2021

³³⁵ Brett, 2018

³³⁶ Frohlich and Collins, 2023; Monbiot et al., 2019; Russell, 2021; Wood et al., 2019

³³⁷ NimbleFins, 2022

³³⁸ Department for Transport, 2019a; Office for National Statistics, 2020b; White, 2019

others affect particular children. The intersections of age, gender, class, dis/ability and ethnicity are fundamental to understanding how different children's opportunities for play are shaped by the political and socio-spatial arrangements of their everyday lives.³³⁹

These wide-ranging, fluid and entangled influences can be seen as 'conversion factors' (or conditions) that affect children's capability to play out. The summary offered below gives a flavour of the key personal, social and environmental conversion factors that affect children's capability to play out that emerged from the literature, recognising their relationality. Although we have categorised some factors as personal, it should be stressed that these are not 'possessed' by individuals but are produced through the entanglements of personal characteristics and socio-political forces.

Personal factors

- Children's age and perceived level of competence,³⁴¹ gender,³⁴² dis/ability, neurodiversity and mobility,³⁴³ race and ethnicity,³⁴⁴ and socioeconomic status.³⁴⁵
- Presence of older siblings and numbers of children in the household.³⁴⁶
- Children's motivations, preferences and interests, associated with children's perceptions of neighbourhood safety and the availability of friends to play with.³⁴⁷
- The appeal of (predominantly indoor based) digital technologies.³⁴⁸

Social factors

- Cultural and social norms and expectations of parents, with parenting styles influenced by particular views
 of children and childhood and affecting permission for playing out.³⁴⁹
- Parental perceptions of neighbourhood safety and the perceived need for surveillance of children.³⁵⁰

³³⁹ Brito *et al.*, 2021; Horton and Kraftl, 2018a, 2018b; Laoire, 2011; Mukherjee, 2020; Ortiz *et al.*, 2016; Pinkney *et al.*, 2019; Skelton, 2009; Stafford *et al.*, 2020

³⁴⁰ Robeyns, 2017

³⁴¹ Alparone and Pacilli, 2012; Janssen *et al.*, 2015; Lee *et al.* 2015; Loebach *et al.*, 2021; Shaw *et al.*, 2012; Zougheibe *et al.*, 2021

³⁴² Bornat and Shaw, 2019; Boxberger and Reimers, 2019; Helleman, 2021; Lambert *et al.*, 2019; Lee *et al.*, 2015; Loebach *et al.*, 2021; Mansfield and Couve, 2020; Martins *et al.*, 2015; Mullan, 2019; Shaw *et al.*, 2012, 2015; Villanueva *et al.*, 2014; Zougheibe *et al.*, 2021

³⁴³ Beetham *et al.*, 2019; Dallimore, 2019; Dodd *et al.*, 2021; Horton, 2017; Memari *et al.*, 2015; Stafford *et al.*, 2020; von Benzon, 2017

³⁴⁴ Aggio *et al.*, 2017; Allport *et al.*, 2019; Barclay and Tawil, 2021; Dumas and Nelson, 2016; Elliott and Read, 2019; Giralt, 2011; Goff *et al.*, 2014; Pinckney *et al.*, 2019; Wallace, 2018; Wen *et al.*, 2009

³⁴⁵ Boxberger and Reimers, 2019; Loebach *et al.*, 2021; Long, 2017; Pacilli *et al.*, 2013; Parent *et al.*, 2021; Schoeppe *et al.*, 2016; Suchert *et al.*, 2015; Veitch *et al.*, 2017

³⁴⁶ Alparone and Pacilli, 2012; Singer et al., 2009

³⁴⁷ Cleland et al., 2010; Loebach et al., 2021; Shaw et al., 2012; Veitch, 2007

³⁴⁸ Bailey, 2021; Bhosale *et al.*, 2017; Chaudron *et al.*, 2018a; Colvert, 2021; Eyre *et al.*, 2015; Grimes, 2015; Loebach *et al.*, 2021; Loebenberg, 2013; Marsh *et al.*, 2016, 2020; Ruckenstein, 2013; Willet, 2017; Verdoodt *et al.*, 2021

³⁴⁹ Allport *et al.*, 2019; Bacon, 2018; Bhosale *et al.*, 2017; Carroll *et al.*, 2015; Day, 2023; Dodd *et al.*, 2021; Foy-Phillips and Lloyd-Evans, 2011; Holloway and Pimlott-Wilson, 2014; Holt *et al.*, 2015, 2016; Jelleyman *et al.*, 2019; Lee *et al.*, 2015; Loebach *et al.*, 2021; Mainland *et al.*, 2017; Mansfield and Couve, 2020; Marsh *et al.*, 2020; Pynn *et al.*, 2019; Smith *et al.*, 2018; Talbot, 2013; Vincent and Maxwell, 2016; Visser *et al.*, 2015

³⁵⁰ Day, 2023; Eyre et al., 2015; Janssen et al., 2015; Lee et al. 2015; Long, 2017; Riazi et al., 2019

- People's sense of community and levels of social trust.³⁵¹
- Attitudes and actions of other residents or housing managers, including contractually prohibiting play because it is a reported nuisance to adult residents.³⁵²
- Risks of living in areas with high levels of drug and alcohol use, rough sleeping and the sex trade.
- Levels of crime and violence, historic and/or more recent traumatic events,³⁵⁴ as well as urban myths and rumours.³⁵⁵
- Media coverage of crime, violence and tragic events involving children. 356
- Family routines and schedules.³⁵⁷
- Parental working patterns, presence at home, and the time available to support children's activities.
- Levels of homework set by schools.³⁵⁹
- The 'free time' available to children. 360
- The extent to which a culture of playing out exists in neighbourhoods³⁶¹ together with associated tolerance and acceptance of such behaviours amongst adult residents.³⁶²

Environmental and structural factors

- Demographics of the neighbourhood particularly socio-economic status and percentage of the population that are children, including availability of neighbourhood friends to play with.³⁶³
- The intersections of poverty, structural marginalisation, exclusion, racism, ableism, sexism, classism, heterosexism and childism.³⁶⁴
- Settlement size and type, level of urbanisation and associated urban form³⁶⁵ including the topographic and geographic layouts of neighbourhoods.³⁶⁶
- Volume and speed of traffic, associated road safety issues and levels of on street parking.³⁶⁷

³⁵¹ Lee et al., 2015; Long, 2017

³⁵² Grant, 2022; Krysiak, 2018; Play England, 2023; Witten et al., 2015

³⁵³ Gerlach et al., 2019; Witten and Carroll, 2016; Witten et al., 2015, 2019

³⁵⁴ Malone and Rudner, 2016

³⁵⁵ Horton and Kraftl, 2018a

³⁵⁶ Lee et al., 2015; Bhosale et al., 2017

³⁵⁷ Crawford et al., 2017; Nansen et al., 2015; Visser, 2020

³⁵⁸ Lee *et al.*, 2015; Smith *et al.*, 2018

³⁵⁹ Mullan, 2019; Smith et al., 2018

³⁶⁰ Bhosale et al., 2017; Holloway and Pimlott-Wilson, 2014; Loebach et al., 2021; Malone and Rudner, 2016; Smith et al., 2018

³⁶¹ Malone and Rudner, 2016

³⁶² Long, 2017

³⁶³ Jago et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2015; Loebach et al., 2021; Veitch, 2007; Zougheibe et al., 2021

³⁶⁴ Aggio *et al.*, 2017; Akerman *et al.*, 2017; Allport *et al.*, 2019; Barclay and Tawil, 2021; Beetham *et al.*, 2019; Bornat and Shaw, 2019; Boxberger and Reimers, 2019; Brockman *et al.*, 2009; Dallimore, 2019; Dodd *et al.*, 2021; Dumas and Nelson, 2016; Elliott and Read, 2019; Gerlach *et al.*, 2019; Giralt, 2011; Goff *et al.*, 2014; Helleman, 2021; Horton, 2017; Horton and Kraftl, 2018b; Kimbro and Schachter, 2011; Lee *et al.*, 2015; Loebach *et al.*, 2021; Mansfield and Couve, 2020; Memari *et al.*, 2015; Mullan, 2019; Pacilli *et al.*, 2013; Parent *et al.*, 2021; Pinckney *et al.*, 2019; Stafford *et al.*, 2020; Villanueva *et al.*, 2014; von Benzon, 2017; Wallace, 2018; Wang and Ramsden, 2018; Watchman and Spencer-Cavaliere, 2017; Zougheibe *et al.*, 2021

³⁶⁵ Malone and Rudner, 2016

³⁶⁶ Bornat, 2016; Bornat and Shaw, 2019; Loebach et al., 2021; Long, 2017

- Street connectivity and the availability of traffic-free walking and cycling routes.³⁶⁸
- Proximity, number, diversity, accessibility, connectedness and greenness of playable spaces.
- Design, functionality, and maintenance of public spaces, including the range of affordances and sense
 of security offered to different ages of children.³⁷⁰
- Ease of access.³⁷¹
- School location, siting decisions and distances between home and school.³⁷²
- Weather, time of year and daylight hours.³⁷³
- Privatisation of public space and the commercialisation of play provision.³⁷⁴
- Consumer culture, corporate interests, and associated commercialisation of childhood.³⁷⁵
- Government ideology, associated policy, levels of public investment, and regulation of corporate interests. 376

Despite the many constraints, children do still play out when conditions allow. Children's informal everyday interactions through travel, play, leisure and recreation can be seen as participation in public life,³⁷⁷ actively contributing to the social production of neighbourhood spaces³⁷⁸ and helping to build their own and families' social capital, social networks and community engagement,³⁷⁹ thereby building a culture that further supports playing out.

Spaces often referred to as the 'street', whilst rarely designated as play spaces by adults, are those most often appropriated by children for play³⁸⁰ and can readily be recognised as third places for them.³⁸¹ The street can incorporate threshold spaces, transitory zones and destinations spaces.³⁸² Threshold third places include the foyers, communal leisure facilities, and corridors of those living in medium and high-density housing, as well

³⁶⁷ Basset *et al.*, 2015; Bhosale *et al.*, 2017; Frohlich and Collins, 2023; McQuade *et al.*, 2019; Veitch *et al.*, 2017; Wales *et al.*, 2021

³⁶⁸ Bornat, 2016; Bornat and Shaw, 2019; Malone and Rudner, 2016; Oliver et al., 2015; Villanueva et al., 2014; Wales et al., 2021

³⁶⁹ Bhosale, 2017; Broberg *et al.*, 2013; Lee *et al.*, 2015; Othman and Said, 2012; Smith *et al.*, 2018; Villanueva *et al.*, 2014; Wales *et al.*, 2021

³⁷⁰ Eyre *et al.*, 2015; Lee *et al.*, 2015; Veitch 2007

³⁷¹ Jago et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2015; Veitch, 2007

³⁷² Basset *et al.*, 2015; Fyhri *et al.*, 2011; Malone and Rudner, 2016; Oliver *et al.*, 2015

³⁷³ Brockman, 2011; Ergler et al., 2013; Eyre et al., 2015; Smith et al., 2018

³⁷⁴ Lee *et al.*, 2015; Layard, 2019; Hart, 2014; Monbiot *et al.*, 2019; Brett, 2018; Frago and Graziano, 2021; Shearer and Walters, 2015

³⁷⁵ Marsh, 2011, 2012, 2014; Grant, 2022; Holloway and Pimlott-Wilson, 2014; Colvert, 2021; Verdoodt *et al.*, 2021

³⁷⁶ Burman, 2019; Kallio *et al.*, 2020; Katz, 2019; Lester, 2020; Pyyry and Tani, 2019; Russell, 2021; Smith, 2021; Wood *et al.*, 2019; Association for Public Service Excellence, 2021

³⁷⁷ Derr et al., 2017; Malone, 2013; Wales et al., 2021

³⁷⁸ Bullough et al., 2018; Lester and Russell, 2013a

³⁷⁹ Bornat, 2016; Carroll *et al.*, 2015; Freeman, 2020; Heft and Kyttä, 2006; Malone, 2013; Nairn and Kraftl, 2016; Pacilli *et al.*, 2013; Ross, 2007; Schoeppe *et al.*, 2016; Wood *et al.*, 2013

³⁸⁰ Barclay and Tawil, 2013; Danenberg et al., 2018; Francis, 2016; Gill, 2021; Tranter, 2015, Weir, 2023

³⁸¹ Hooper *et al.*, 2015; Kearns *et al.*, 2016; Oliver *et al.*, 2016; Shortt and Ross, 2021; Witten and Carroll, 2016; Witten *et al.*, 2015; Witten *et al.*, 2019

³⁸² Carroll et al., 2015; Witten and Carroll, 2016

as adjacent pathways, streets and verges, car parks and driveways³⁸³ that are close to home, and are commonly reported as popular places to play.³⁸⁴

Children also use streets and pathways, steps and walls, and networks of alleyways as both destination and transitory zones, playing along the way, as well as visiting particular places for particular reasons. This might include hopping to avoid pavement cracks, climbing, people watching, hanging out or 'just walking', again making such streetscapes important third place spaces.³⁸⁵ The mundane and often overlooked detail of street geography, for example kerbs, potholes, street cambers and slopes, wildflowers and weeds, can be important affordances for play.³⁸⁶ Often children appropriate streets in ways not intended by planners,³⁸⁷ for example in their play or street sport sub-cultures such as skateboarding, blading, BMX and parkour. Such appropriation can be seen as a soft form of political activism, remaking streets and cultures through participation.³⁸⁸

Destination third places, significant in children's lived experience, are important spaces for meeting up and being with friends, playing traditional games and sports, climbing, imaginary play, and as places of refuge.³⁸⁹ These spaces include small pockets of land, vacant lots, car parks, empty school playgrounds, woodland spots, shopping malls, shopfronts and more,³⁹⁰ as well as designated spaces such as playgrounds and parks.

Playgrounds, parks and green spaces are also popular destination spaces for children.³⁹¹ In terms of playgrounds, older children tend to feel that they are aimed at younger children and often do not cater for them.³⁹² Playground design can be based on normative conceptions of children's bodies, ways of being in the world and mobilities, thereby excluding disabled children.³⁹³ The concept of universal design is recommended in the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child General Comment no. 17, but also creates a tension between access and challenge.³⁹⁴ Equally, provision for teenagers tends to focus on stereotypically masculine activities such as skateparks and MUGAs (Muli-Use Games Areas).³⁹⁵

The concept of universal design, with the intention of providing inclusive playgrounds, is difficult to deliver given the multiplicity of what a play space could offer across age, size, preferences and balancing safety and challenge.³⁹⁶ The last 20 years has seen a growing narrative in favour of balancing risks and benefits in playground design.³⁹⁷ Playground maintenance is an important issue for children,³⁹⁸ but budgets for both playgrounds and parks have faced significant cuts.³⁹⁹ The social production of playground spaces varies across socio-political, topographical, cultural, religious, raced and classed geographies, with structurally marginalised urban areas being seen as risky

³⁸³ Bornat and Shaw, 2019; Tranter, 2016; Witten et al., 2019

³⁸⁴ Barclay and Tawil, 2013; Danenberg *et al.*, 2018; Francis, 2016; Gill, 2021; Tranter, 2015; Weir, 2023; Witten *et al.*, 2015

³⁸⁵ Appelhans and Li, 2016; Beresin, 2012, 2014; Carroll *et al.*, 2015; Furneaux and Manaugh, 2019; Horton *et al.*, 2014; Janssen, 2014; Kearns *et al.*, 2016

³⁸⁶ Othman and Said, 2012; Russell and Stenning, 2021, 2022

³⁸⁷ Nairn and Kraftl, 2016

³⁸⁸ Mould, 2016; Nairn and Kraftl, 2016; Pyyry and Tani, 2019; Rannikko et al., 2016; Stratford, 2016

³⁸⁹ Arvidsen and Beames, 2019; Carroll et al., 2015; McKendrick et al., 2018; Wilson, 2015

³⁹⁰ Carroll *et al.*, 2015; Kearns *et al.*, 2016; Pyyry, 2016; Witten and Carroll, 2016

³⁹¹ Dodd *et al.*, 2021; Helleman, 2021; Porter *et al.*, 2021

³⁹² Kraftl, 2020b; Lee et al., 2015; Lynch et al., 2020; Russell et al., 2019

³⁹³ Brown *et al.*, 2021; Lynch *et al.*, 2018; Moore *et al.*, 2022

³⁹⁴ Lynch *et al.*, 2018

³⁹⁵ Corkery and Bishop, 2020; Seims et al., 2022

³⁹⁶ Lynch *et al.*, 2020

³⁹⁷ Ball et al., 2008, 2012; Ball et al., 2019; Spiegal et al., 2014

³⁹⁸ Horton and Kraftl, 2018a, 2018b; Loebach *et al.*, 2021

³⁹⁹ Association of Play Industries, 2022; Association for Public Service Excellence, 2021; Russell *et al.*, 2019

because of the appropriation of playgrounds by rough sleepers, drinkers, drug users and sex workers together with discarded needles, broken glass bottles and other associated paraphernalia.⁴⁰⁰

What emerges from these multiple studies of playing out in the public realm is the interdependence of 'children's infrastructure' and 'everyday freedoms'. These can include a variety of spaces (planned and unprogrammed, small or larger, flat or landscaped, built or natural, fixed or flexible); playable features (for example, low walls, hiding spaces, mounds); planting for play (bushes and trees); connections between playable spaces; and sensitive maintenance (for example recognising the value of freshly cut grass, dead leaves, hollows in hedgerows, fallen trees, puddles and mud). For children, being able to access these spaces requires low or traffic-free routes and no major roads to cross. It also requires friends nearby, Parental permission, the absence of threats from other people and their actions and a culture where playing out is seen as normal. These features do not operate in isolation. In sum, the capability to play out emerges from relations among sufficient environmental resources and the ability to access them.

1.6.4 Playing in and around the home

Erosions in children's freedoms to play in the public realm have meant that private homes have become the most commonly reported and often preferred places for playing. In response, parents have invested in toys and media technologies aimed at providing for children's play within the home, accompanied by a concurrent rise in consumer goods targeted at children. Despite this, there is much less research on children's play in the domestic sphere compared to public spaces or schools, mostly due to privacy and ethics issues and access. The many, the home can be a place of safety providing a sense of ownership and familiarity, a place for children to be themselves' away from public scrutiny, and a place where children are likely to experience a greater sense of autonomy, negotiating child-adult relationships and shared use of space. However, home is not a place of safety for all children, including those living with domestic violence, abuse and neglect, to those living in cramped or temporary accommodation.

Many children's homes are now characterised by an abundance of toys.⁴¹⁶ The toy industry is big business, with manufacturers seeking to continually attract children with an ever greater variety of increasingly sophisticated toys.⁴¹⁷ In the UK, total sales for toys in 2020 (during the pandemic) reached £3.3 billion, with the UK being the

 $^{^{400}}$ Hobbs et al., 2017; Gerlach et al., 2019; Horton and Kraftl, 2018a, 2018b; Witten and Carroll, 2016; Witten et al., 2015, 2019

⁴⁰¹ Arup, 2017

⁴⁰² Barclay and Tawil, 2016

⁴⁰³ Loebach and Gilliland, 2016a

⁴⁰⁴ Play England, 2023

⁴⁰⁵ Loebach and Gilliland, 2016a

⁴⁰⁶ Barclay and Tawil, 2021; Beetham *et al.*, 2019; Dias and Whitaker, 2013; Gerlach *et al.*, 2019; Giles *et al.*, 2019; Goff *et al.*, 2014; Horton and Kraftl, 2018a, 2018b; Pinckney *et al.*, 2019; von Benzon, 2017; Witten *et al.*, 2019

⁴⁰⁷ Lester and Russell, 2013a; Barclay and Tawil, 2021; Wales et al., 2021

⁴⁰⁸ Adcock, 2016; Bacon, 2018; Dallimore, 2019; Dodd et al., 2021; Kearns et al., 2016; Loebenberg, 2013

⁴⁰⁹ Lincoln, 2016

⁴¹⁰ Cowman, 2017

⁴¹¹ Adcock, 2016; Bacon, 2018; Lincoln, 2016; Meire, 2007; Woodyer and Carter, 2020

⁴¹² Adcock, 2016; Harden et al., 2013

⁴¹³ Bacon, 2018; Harden et al., 2013

⁴¹⁴ Chanmugam, 2017; Wilson, 2015

⁴¹⁵ Russell et al., 2019

⁴¹⁶ Arnold et al., 2012; Dauch et al., 2018; Jones, 2018

largest toy market in Europe and fourth largest globally. Decisions on buying toys are often made between children and parents, or at least influenced by children's interests and preferences, with media, marketing, and societal gender stereotypes affecting both parents' and children's choices. As children get older the social value of toys becomes increasingly important, with toys forming a significant element of the material cultures of childhood. Simplistic and negative connotations of consumerism have been challenged, and commercial media and toys can offer a jumping off point from which children consume and produce in creative ways.

With the increase in time spent playing at home, comes an increased emphasis on different spaces with the home. Many children value their bedrooms as spaces for play, 424 meaning that those with less domestic space are once again at a disadvantage. 425 In addition to sleeping, bedrooms are places for playing and hanging out, for entertaining friends and having sleepovers, for relaxation, for homework, for 'getting ready' and 'beautification'. 426 Bedrooms also provide children with a place to gather, store and display their material possessions and personal belongings. 427 Children's use of their bedrooms is continuously negotiated but these can also be spaces where children may avoid direct adult supervision, control and intrusion, escaping nagging, chores or family conflict, or, for example, listening to music not approved of by parents. 428 Although bedrooms can provide a refuge, a place of retreat and recuperation, 429 this private bedroom culture may also be made more public through the internet, with girls in particular engaging in 'virtual bedroom culture' beyond the physical boundaries of domestic space. 430

For those who have them, gardens are also important spaces for play, offering a relatively adult-free space still close to home. Particularly popular are trampolines, which can offer vigorous jumping and practising of skills, ball based games, hanging out doing 'trampoline'n'talk', making videos with friends, reading, homework, and doing nothing. Pet, one in eight households in the UK does not have access to a private or shared garden, with homes in the poorest areas of England also, on average, having less than a third of the garden space of homes in the wealthiest areas.

```
<sup>417</sup> Klemenović, 2014
```

⁴¹⁸ Toyworld, 2021

⁴¹⁹ Dinella and Weisgram, 2018; Klemenović, 2014

⁴²⁰ Dinella and Weisgram, 2018

⁴²¹ Loebenberg, 2012

⁴²² Buckingham, 2011; Mertala et al., 2016; Wilson, 2016; Wohlwend, 2020

⁴²³ Cook, 2013; Loebenburg, 2012; Wooder, 2017; Woodyer and Carter, 2020

⁴²⁴ Bacon, 2018; Lincoln, 2016

⁴²⁵ Adcock, 2016; Bacon, 2018

⁴²⁶ Bacon, 2018; Lincoln, 2016

⁴²⁷ Adcock, 2016; Bacon, 2018; Lincoln, 2016

⁴²⁸ Bacon, 2018

⁴²⁹ Bacon, 2018; Lincoln, 2016

⁴³⁰ Lincoln, 2016; Loebenberg, 2013

⁴³¹ Dodd et al., 2021; Arvidsen et al., 2020

⁴³² Arvidsen *et al.*, 2020

⁴³³ Office for National Statistics, 2020a

⁴³⁴ McIntyre and Gayle, 2020

1.6.5 Playing in digital spaces

Technological developments in the 21st century have transformed childhoods and the ways in which children play, with many children in the minority world being of a generation that have never known a time without digital technologies embedded in their lives. Given the ways that children weave media content, digital devices and online activities into the fabric of their everyday lives, the boundaries between online and offline are increasingly blurred.⁴³⁵ Although digital technologies may be an omnipresent feature of many contemporary childhoods, this is not to the exclusion of other forms of play and many children continue to have varied play lives.⁴³⁶

The attraction of digital play for children possibly lies in how games and platforms provide for the qualities and characteristics of children's play,⁴³⁷ including:

- variability and adaptability: the increasing adaptability and responsiveness of digital products and services supports children's open-ended play by enabling them to co-create digital play spaces, engage in imaginative play, build shared cultures of play, face challenges, share strategies, pranks, stories, myths and legends, and often subvert game design intentions to play in their own way.⁴³⁸
- access to others to play with: children value digital devices for enabling them to spend time with those they cannot meet in person, to participate in player communities centred around their favourite games and digital platforms, and to hang out with friends away from direct supervision of adults, whilst also enabling social connections for those who find face-to-face communication difficult.⁴³⁹
- ease of access: most UK children have access to a range of digital technologies at home and elsewhere, 440 and most have internet access. 441 Digital platforms enable children to move beyond the spatial restrictions of home and the public realm, opening up new social and spatial opportunities for children. 442 As with permission for 'playing out', parental controls are often negotiated 443 and subject to ongoing tensions between children being afforded freedom, concerns for their online safety and the consequence of too much screen time. 444

Like other aspects of children's play, children's opportunities for play with digital devices are shaped by a multitude of influencing factors and a myriad of stakeholders beyond children themselves. This includes children's access to digital devices and the internet, the form and functions of digital products and services, the people who design digital technologies and their commercial concerns, issues of online safety, governmental and institutional interests, friends, family, social media influencers, social and cultural practices, as well as age, dis/ability, gender, ethnicity and class.⁴⁴⁵

⁴³⁵ Bailey, 2021; Chaudron *et al.*, 2017; Colvert, 2021; Cowan *et al.*, 2021; Dekavalla, 2021; Lincoln, 2016; Livingstone *et al.*, 2017; Marsh, 2016; Marsh, 2017; Marsh *et al.*, 2020; Potter and Cowan, 2020; Smith and Dunkley, 2018; Willet, 2017

⁴³⁶ Chaudron et al., 2018a; Marsh et al., 2020

⁴³⁷ Chaudron *et al.*, 2018a; Colvert, 2021; Marsh *et al.*, 2016 and 2020; Ruckenstein, 2013; Verdoodt *et al.*, 2021; Willet, 2017

⁴³⁸ Colvert, 2021; Loebenberg, 2013; Marsh et al., 2020; Ringland et al., 2017; Ruckenstein, 2013

⁴³⁹ Blum-Ross *et al.*, 2018; Chaudron *et al.*, 2017; Colvert, 2021; Marsh *et al.*, 2020; Ruckenstein, 2013; Willet, 2017

⁴⁴⁰ Marsh *et al.*, 2020

⁴⁴¹ Livingstone et al., 2017

⁴⁴² Blum-Ross et al., 2018; Ruckenstein, 2013

⁴⁴³ Chaudron et al., 2018b; Ruckenstein, 2013

⁴⁴⁴ Chaudron et al., 2018b; Colvert, 2021; Marsh et al., 2019

⁴⁴⁵ Colvert, 2021

1.6.6 Playing in adult supervised provision

A key tension in research across varied adult-supervised provision is that between children's self-organised playing and whatever instrumental value is placed on play. For example, there are lively debates on the tensions between play, care and education in early years and childcare settings, and how far such tensions constrain children's self-organised playing.⁴⁴⁶

For school-aged children, parents value out of school activities for their children's enjoyment, physical health, and social and cultural capital, as well as for providing children with a safe place to play with their peers. 447 Children themselves are enthusiastic about how out of school activities provide opportunities for having fun with friends and for playing, valuing also opportunities to play with adults. 448

The significant UK commercial and private play sector (including trampoline parks, bowling alleys, cinemas, laser tag, escape rooms, skating venues, children's party rooms, indoor soft play centres, family fun centres and theme parks)⁴⁴⁹ was valued at \$756.48m in 2020,⁴⁵⁰ and is often marketed in terms of family experiences and/ or edutainment.⁴⁵¹ There has been a discernible move for museums and cultural and heritage sites to be more attractive to families and therefore to consider children's play more, often also researched in terms of family experience.⁴⁵²

There is little consensus on the value of school playtimes among school staff.⁴⁵³ When asked, most children say they enjoy playtimes,⁴⁵⁴ but in one substantial English survey 5% said they did not.⁴⁵⁵ A key complaint is that there are too many rules.⁴⁵⁶ Friendships at school are important, and often what children value most.⁴⁵⁷ Although some adults feel that children no longer know how to play,⁴⁵⁸ research reveals a continuing rich culture of children's play in school playgrounds.⁴⁵⁹ Such playground cultures are 'expressed through playground songs, games, rituals, naming of specific places in the playground and myriad other practices'⁴⁶⁰ and absorb whatever material, cultural and social resources that are to hand, again blending children's offline and online worlds.⁴⁶¹

⁴⁴⁶ Brooker, 2014, 2018; Hewes, 2014; Holloway and Pimlott-Wilson, 2018; Jackson, 2017; Kane *et al.*, 2013; Leggett and Newman, 2017; Loizou, 2017; Moir and Brunker, 2021; Rekers and Waters-Davies, 2021; Santer *et al.*, 2007; Smith, 2010; Wood, 2010, 2014, 2019

⁴⁴⁷ Holloway and Pimlott-Wilson, 2014; Karsten, 2015

⁴⁴⁸ Holloway and Pimlott-Wilson, 2014, 2018

⁴⁴⁹ Benton, 2017

⁴⁵⁰ Allied Marketing, 2022

 $^{^{451}}$ Karsten, 2015; Tagg and Wang, 2016

⁴⁵² Fountain et al., 2021; McCabe et al., 2010; Durko and Petrick, 2013; Larson et al., 2013; Mukherjee, 2020

⁴⁵³ Baines and Blatchford, 2019

⁴⁵⁴ Mroz and Woolner, 2015; Mulryan-Kyne, 2014

⁴⁵⁵ Baines and Blatchford, 2019

⁴⁵⁶ Baines and Blatchford, 2019; Bristow and Atkinson, 2020; Fink and Ramstetter, 2018; Thomson, 2007, 2014

⁴⁵⁷ Worth, 2013

⁴⁵⁸ Alexander et al., 2014; McNamara, 2013

⁴⁵⁹ Beresin, 2014; Marsh and Willett, 2010; Potter and Cowan, 2020

⁴⁶⁰ Ardelean *et al.*, 2021, p. 15

⁴⁶¹ Potter and Cowan, 2020

1.6.7 Conclusion: accounting for play

Overall, chapter 4 presents a seemingly contradictory picture of, on the one hand, a lively culture of play expressed in a range of contexts, and on the other, stark intersecting inequalities and spatial injustices that constrain children's capability to play across these contexts. Such inequalities have been driven by multiple forces including:

- the imperative of late capitalism and the rise of populism, 462 including the 2008 global financial crisis 463
- the inroads of commercial interests into children's play in the form of digital opportunities, the toy industry, out-of-school activities and commercial play provision, putting such resources beyond the reach of some children⁴⁶⁴
- in the public realm, the dominance of traffic⁴⁶⁵ and issues of neighbourhood safety.⁴⁶⁶

The studies reviewed in this chapter highlight how play emerges from the conditions of children's lives and how children will seek out moments of playfulness, both fleeting and more sustained, in their desire to make life better and to be well. 467 Children's playful appropriation of institutional and public space has been described as a disruption or repurposing of the intention for such spaces. 468 The many different ways that children play today that have emerged from the research raise a challenge to the often-cited view that children's play is in decline. 469 As has been shown, such a claim conflates change with decline and is also caught up in adult narratives of valuing some forms of play over others. 470 In particular, there is concern over the decline in children's self-organised outdoor play, although some researchers caution against over-simplistic, over-romanticised and universal claims in this regard. 471

Macro-level, quantitative research does point to a decline in children's freedom of movement and their associated capability to play out in their neighbourhoods.⁴⁷² The most significant reductions in children's freedom of movement occurred between 1970 and 2000,⁴⁷³ over twenty years ago, and although there have been recent moves towards planning and designing for child-friendly environments, traffic, both moving and stationary, remains the biggest barrier to spatial justice for children and their capability to exercise everyday freedoms and to play out in their neighbourhoods.⁴⁷⁴ In poorer communities and for particular groups of children, neighbourhoods also present real dangers from other people.⁴⁷⁵

⁴⁶² Lynch, 2019

⁴⁶³ Create Streets Foundation, 2021; Katz, 2019; McDowell, 2017

⁴⁶⁴ Holloway and Pimlott-Wilson, 2014; Marsh, 2011, 2012

⁴⁶⁵ Bassett *et al.*, 2015; Bhosale *et al.*, 2017; Fyhri *et al.*, 2011; Jelleyman *et al.*, 2019; Loebach *et al.*, 2021; Pont *et al.* 2009; Shaw *et al.*, 2012, 2015

⁴⁶⁶ Barclay and Tawil, 2021; Beetham *et al.*, 2019; Dias and Whitaker, 2013; Gerlach *et al.*, 2019; Giles *et al.*, 2019; Goff *et al.*, 2014; Horton and Kraftl, 2018a, 2018b; Pinckney *et al.*, 2019; von Benzon, 2017; Witten *et al.*, 2019

⁴⁶⁷ Lester, 2020

⁴⁶⁸ Carroll et al., 2019; Conn, 2015; Pyyry and Tani, 2016; Russell and Stenning, 2022; Shearer and Walters, 2015

⁴⁶⁹ Bergen, 2018; Borst, 2021; Brown, 2014; Gleave and Cole-Hamilton, 2012; Gray, 2011; Palmer, 2019

⁴⁷⁰ Alexander et al., 2014; Lewis, 2017; Smith, 2010; Woodyer et al., 2016

⁴⁷¹ For example, Horton and Kraftl, 2018a

⁴⁷² Dodd *et al.*, 2021; Gill, 2021; Larouche *et al.*, 2017; Loebach and Gilliland, 2016a, 2016b; Malone and Rudner, 2016; Shaw *et al.*, 2015

⁴⁷³ Shaw et al., 2012

⁴⁷⁴ Aarts *et al.*, 2012; Arup, 2017; Bourke, 2017; Ferguson, 2019; Frohlich and Collins, 2023; Russell *et al.*, 2020; Shaw *et al.*, 2015

⁴⁷⁵ Beetham *et al.*, 2019; Dias and Whitaker, 2013; Gerlach *et al.*, 2019; Giles *et al.*, 2019; Goff *et al.*, 2014; Horton and Kraftl, 2018a, 2018b; Barclay and Tawil, 2021; Pinckney *et al.*, 2019; von Benzon, 2017; Witten *et al.*, 2019

However, useful as they are, studies into the decline in children's everyday freedoms do not account for the myriad entangled influences on children's play patterns. The influences on children's play need to be understood in the context of the mesh of local socio-political and spatial conditions and powerful structural forces including globalised (late) capitalism and commercialisation, neoliberal education and austerity politics, poverty, racism, cishetero/sexism and an ableist culture, influences that repeatedly arise throughout this chapter. Children themselves, when asked, indicate a strong desire to play out.⁴⁷⁶ Our review shows the complexities and nuanced entanglements of social, cultural, political and spatial barriers to outdoor play and attractions of indoor play (including also, the impossibility of setting indoor and outdoor up as binary opposites) that preclude one single isolatable cause. Nonetheless, it could perhaps be argued that relatively little effort has been made in respect of children's capabilities to play in the public realm compared to levels of financial investment in the commercial play, toy and digital play industry.

In sum, the capability to play out emerges from relations among sufficient environmental resources and the capability to access them. In seeking to work with such relationality of conditions, and returning to the policy perspective reviewed in chapter 2, the concept of play sufficiency may be useful as both a proxy and an organising principle for child-friendly environments, revealing much about how particular places work in respect of children's capability to play out. In particular, given the evidence reviewed in chapter 3, the capability to meet up and play outside regularly, from a young age and without the need for direct adult supervision or accompaniment, together with children's satisfaction with the quantity and quality of their opportunities for play, will contribute to children's overall capability to do and be well. Furthermore, many of the issues that need to be addressed in securing play sufficiency for all align with environmental concerns and other principles enshrined in the Welsh Government's Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

Having reviewed the evidence accounting for the state of children's play today, the next chapter turns to adult responses aimed at supporting children's capability to play.

1.7 Supporting children's play (chapter 5)

As introduced in chapter 4, account-ability is about establishing multiple ways of accounting for children's capability to play. Response-ability is about adults developing the capability to respond effectively to the ways in which children use and move through their everyday environments and to keep these environments open to the possibility of the production of playful moments.⁴⁷⁷ This is the focus for chapter 5, which reviews a range of responses in support of children's capability to play. The processes of account-ability and response-ability are entwined such that the prevailing forces that affect children's capability to play also affect how adults account for and respond to children's play.

The accounts of children's play patterns offered in chapter 4 highlight the complex and interrelated conditions that affect children's capability to find time, space and permission to play in the institutions of childhood (including the home), online and in the public realm. Children's desires and play cultures, adult imaginaries about the value of childhood and play, global and local flows and forces of capitalism, material discursive practices, and the production of spaces, all these and more are entangled to produce irreducible conditions that are singular and contingent. This raises challenges for identifying universal patterns in how the spaces of childhood are produced and therefore how adults can work towards a more just distribution of spatial resources in favour of children.⁴⁷⁸

⁴⁷⁶ Brockman *et al.*, 2011; Children's Commissioner for England, 2021; Children's Commissioner for Wales, 2018; Dallimore, 2019; HAPPEN, 2018

⁴⁷⁷ Russell *et al.*, 2019

⁴⁷⁸ Lester, 2020

For this reason, much of chapter 5 offers specific examples of interventions in support of children's spatial justice, either supporting their freedom of movement generally or play in particular. We do not repeat such examples in this summary, but outline instead the contexts in which interventions have been made and some of the principles that can be drawn from such examples.

From reviewing a range of initiatives, it is possible to discern a number of key narratives emerging in terms of advocacy and actions to support children's play:

- **Instrumental arguments** highlighting the relationship between play and learning,⁴⁷⁹ physical activity and health,⁴⁸⁰ obesity reduction,⁴⁸¹ mental health,⁴⁸² community cohesion,⁴⁸³ environmental stewardship.⁴⁸⁴
- Romantic arguments about loss of childhood innocence and contact with nature,⁴⁸⁵ sometimes alongside a
 demonising of technology.⁴⁸⁶
- Rights-based arguments about the right to play and spatial justice. 487
- **Economic arguments**, including the social return on investment and attracting families back to cities through regeneration projects.⁴⁸⁸
- **Environmental arguments** that recognise the synergies between spatial justice for children and actions to reduce motorised traffic and to 'green' cities. 489

Key actions and trends are summarised below, although there are significant differences at local level in terms of initiation and implementation processes and outcomes. However, in producing such a brief summary, the details of each singular example become hidden in generalisations.

⁴⁷⁹ Real Play Coalition, 2020, Candiracci et al., 2023

⁴⁸⁰ Ardelean *et al.*, 2021; Bundy *et al.*, 2017; Engelen, *et al.*, 2018; Frohlich and Collins, 2023; Gill, 2014a; Hyndman *et al.*, 2014; Johansson *et al.*, 2011; López *et al.*, 2020; Moser *et al.*, 2021; Mueller *et al.*, 2020; Page *et al.*, 2017; Tawil, 2017; Taylor *et al.*, 2014

⁴⁸¹ Gill et al., 2019; Parrish et al., 2020

⁴⁸² Gill, 2014a; Gill et al., 2019; The Means, 2016

⁴⁸³ Foster et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2015; Tawil and Barclay, 2020

⁴⁸⁴ Chawla, 2015; Dyment and Bell, 2008

⁴⁸⁵ Chawla, 2015; Derr and Lance 2012; Nedovic and Morrissey 2013; Verstrate and Karsten, 2016

⁴⁸⁶ Charles and Louv, 2009, 2020; Edwards and Larson, 2020; Frumkin *et al.*, 2017; Larson *et al.*, 2019; Louv, 2005; Moss, 2012

⁴⁸⁷ Bornat, 2016; Bornat and Shaw, 2019; Caputo, 2020; Frohlich and Collins, 2023; GOSH, 2022; Lester and Russell, 2013a, 2014a; Patte and Brown, 2011; Russell *et al.*, 2019, 2020; Save the Children, 2008; United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child, 2013; UNICEF, 2009; Wood *et al.*, 2019; Wragg, 2016

⁴⁸⁸ Arup, 2017; Candiracci *et al.*, 2023; Gill, 2014a, 2019, 2021; López *et al.*, 2020; Matrix, 2010; Mueller *et al.*, 2020; The Means, 2016

⁴⁸⁹ Arup, 2017; Candiracci *et al.*, 2023; Audrey and Batista-Ferrer, 2015; Bernard van Leer, 2019; Bornat, 2016, 2018; Bernard van Leer Foundation, 2019; Create Streets Foundation, 2021; Gill, 2021; Hart and Parkhurst, 2011; Placemaking Wales, 2020; Royal Town Planning Insitute, 2021; Russell *et al.*, 2020; Shaw *et al.*, 2015; Tawil and Barclay, 2020

- The movement towards child-friendly cities and other urban settlements: key actions include traffic calming measures and prioritising pedestrianisation, making streets fit for socialisation and play;⁴⁹⁰ improving opportunities for formal street play projects through the closure of residential streets⁴⁹¹ and streets outside schools;⁴⁹² developing community gardens and intergenerational spaces;⁴⁹³ improving and increasing the availability of playable space;⁴⁹⁴ reactivating wilderness spaces and affordances for playful encounters such as public art;⁴⁹⁵ a focus on multifunctional green infrastructure such as stormwater parks;⁴⁹⁶ playful cultural and heritage sites;⁴⁹⁷ multi-use community spaces;⁴⁹⁸ and supporting an increased sense of ownership through opportunities for co-creation.⁴⁹⁹ Also recommended is supporting children to carry out neighbourhood mapping research to gain insights into the opportunities and barriers they experience.⁵⁰⁰
- Recognising children in planning policy and the principle of placemaking: generally, children are invisible in national planning policy and guidance, although Wales was identified as currently offering the best support for child friendly planning approaches in the UK.⁵⁰¹ Due to the overarching Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, planning policy in Wales is orientated towards improving wellbeing through the principle of 'place-making', with the Play Sufficiency Duty acknowledged as a complementary tool in this process.⁵⁰²
- Changes in playground design, particularly the move towards more natural, irregular features that allow for risk-taking and non-prescribed manipulation (including the concept of loose parts)⁵⁰³ and moves towards inclusion through universal design.⁵⁰⁴
- Building of advocacy networks across professional domains, for example playworkers, children's services, transport activists, planners, sustainable urban designers and architects, landscape architects, environmentalists, health professionals and cultural institutions.⁵⁰⁵

⁴⁹⁰ Aldred and Goodman, 2020; Aldred *et al.*, 2021; Bornat, 2016; Bornat and Shaw, 2019; Finn, 2022; Frago and Graziano, 2021; Gill, 2019, 2021; Goodman *et al.*, 2021; Laverty *et al.*, 2021; López *et al.*, 2020; Mansfield and Couve, 2020; Welsh Government, 2021; Wright and Reardon, 2021; Zografos *et al.*, 2020

⁴⁹¹ Cowman, 2017; D'Haese *et al.*, 2015; Ferguson, 2019; Gill, 2015a, 2018, 2019; London Borough of Hackney, 2022; Page *et al.*, 2017; Peritz, 2019; Playing Out, 2019, 2021; Stenning, 2023; Umstattd Meyer *et al.*, 2019

⁴⁹² 8 80 Cities, 2022; Clarke, 2022; Gellatly and Marner, 2021; Mayor of London, 2022; Thomas et al., 2022

⁴⁹³ Arup, 2017; Create Streets Foundation, 2021; Living Streets, 2019; Loukaitou-Sideris et al., 2013; Stevens et al., 2022

⁴⁹⁴ Arup, 2017; Corkery and Bishop, 2020; Gill, 2018, 2021; Krysiak, 2019; Royal Town Planning Institute, 2021; Riches and Hawley, 2019; Russell *et al.*, 2020; Wilson, 2018; Woolley *et al.*, 2020

⁴⁹⁵ Arup, 2017

⁴⁹⁶ Buckley et al., 2017; Global Designing Cities Initiative, 2016; Newell et al., 2013

⁴⁹⁷ Chester Zoo, 2022; Derry, 2021; Dickerson and Derry, 2021; Jennings, 2016; Kinney and Smith, 2021; Lester *et al.*, 2014; Tawil and Barclay, 2018

⁴⁹⁸ Arup, 2017; Bornat and Shaw, 2019; Krysiak, 2019; López et al., 2020; Studio Ludo, 2017; Wilson, 2018

⁴⁹⁹ Corkery and Bishop, 2020; Ferguson, 2019; Kreutz, 2020; Loebach, 2020; López *et al.*, 2020; Royal Town Planning Institute, 2021; Woolley *et al.*, 2020

⁵⁰⁰ Arup, 2017; Bernard van Leer Foundation, 2019; Brown *et al.*, 2019; Danenberg *et al.*, 2018; Gill, 2021; Khan *et al.*, 2022; Krysiak, 2019; Real Play Coalition, 2020; Shaw *et al.*, 2015

⁵⁰¹ Wood *et al.*, 2019

⁵⁰² Wood et al., 2019

⁵⁰³ Murnaghan, 2019; Shackell et al., 2008; Studio Ludo, 2017; Verstrate and Karsten, 2016; Voce, 2015a

⁵⁰⁴ Lynch et al., 2020; United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child, 2013

⁵⁰⁵ Lester and Russell 2013a, 2014a; Russell *et al.*, 2019, 2020

- Co-producing spaces for play: Beyond physical design, children's capability to play is also affected by
 the actions of people. Often, physical changes alone struggle to effect change without some form of
 complementary activation. 506 Working ethically with children as change agents is crucial to effective change
 at both policy and neighbourhood level. 507 In Wales, those with playwork backgrounds and/or remits have
 often been the instigators or enablers for actions in support of the Play Sufficiency Duty. 508
- **Playwork provision:** The austerity agenda has led to severe cuts in playwork services generally and provision in particular. This has positioned playwork, as a non-statutory public service with limited recognition and power, as precarious and vulnerable to cuts, and has led to playworkers diversifying what they can offer to raise funds. More broadly, playworkers have also been responsive in diverse ways to the impact of austerity on the children and families with whom they work, and particularly so through the COVID-19 pandemic, including regularly feeding children, often funded in school holidays through government programmes.

1.8 Returning to a relational capability approach: closing thoughts on adults' response-ability for children's play

This review considers a selection of the literature spanning childhood studies and policy for children (chapter 2), the role of play in children's wellbeing (chapter 3), the patterns of children's play today (chapter 4), and adult responses to supporting children's play (chapter 5). In this final section, we revisit the idea of a relational capability approach to thinking about the relationship between playing, doing and being well. Following this, we revisit the twin processes of account-ability and response-ability and analyse these through Amin's four registers of a good city to draw conclusions about adults' response-ability, through both policy and practice, to work towards producing the conditions that support children's capability to play.

1.8.1 A relational capability approach to playing and being well

In chapter 2 we put forward the idea of a relational capability approach to thinking about the relationship between children's play, their wellbeing and broader political agendas, particularly the Welsh Government's Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The capability approach has been explored by a growing number of children's wellbeing researchers, drawing on the works of philosopher-economist Amartya Sen and philosopher Martha Nussbaum.

Capabilities are partly about the existence of the resources, opportunities and freedoms for people to be able to be and do what is of value to them. The other part of capabilities refers to whether people can 'convert' the resources and opportunities available into 'functionings' (people *actually* do and are the things they value) across

⁵⁰⁶ Gill, 2021; Royal Town Planning Institute, 2021

⁵⁰⁷ Bornat, 2016; Bornat and Shaw, 2019; Brown *et al.*, 2019; Corkery and Bishop, 2020; Gill, 2021; Khan *et al.*, 2022; Loebach, 2020

⁵⁰⁸ Russell *et al.*, 2020

⁵⁰⁹ Brown and Wragg, 2018; Children's Rights Alliance England, 2015; Gill, 2015b; McKendrick et al., 2015; Voce, 2015b, 2021

⁵¹⁰ Cullen and Johnston, 2018; Roraburgh, 2019; Shaw, 2023

⁵¹¹ King, 2021

⁵¹² Geary et al., 2019

⁵¹³ Amin, 2006: this model has been used in the four studies into the Play Sufficiency Duty.

⁵¹⁴ For example, Biggeri *et al.*, 2011; Camfield and Tafere, 2011; Domínguez-Serrano *et al.*, 2019; Kellock and Lawthom, 2011; Schweiger, 2016

personal, social and environmental factors.⁵¹⁵ A key criticism of this approach has been its emphasis on individual freedom and rational choice.⁵¹⁶ Throughout this review, we have worked with contemporary ideas from childhood and wellbeing studies that puts forward a more relational perspective, recognising that play and wellbeing do not reside inside the bodies and minds of individual children but emerge both from and as the entanglements of bodies, space, material objects, desires, histories and much more.⁵¹⁷

Given this, we proposed a relational capability approach that pays attention to the 'material and discursive entanglements that render children capable'. Such a proposal has the potential to work with both a rights-based (intrinsic) and a social investment (instrumental) policy understanding of both play and wellbeing, whilst also recognising the powerful forces of neoliberalism described in chapter 2 and elsewhere throughout the review.

Chapter 3 highlights how much of the contemporary research into playing and being well emphasises the entanglements of mind, body, senses, affect, movement and *milieu* (the physical, social, economic and political environments that children inhabit and also affect). This is the case with research from evolutionary studies, neuroscience, (post)developmental psychology, sociology, anthropology, geography, philosophy and more.

The biological process of homeostasis (an automatic response to the assemblage of mind-body-senses-environment conditions) means that children constantly seek out ways of feeling better, often through playing.⁵¹⁹ When children can participate fully in playing, the pleasure this gives rise to is central to wellbeing, health and adaptiveness, both for the time of playing and beyond.⁵²⁰ This statement is more than the truism that play is fun. Children's engagement may be serious and engrossed,⁵²¹ or even harmful.⁵²² Sometimes, those involved in games are mistreated to the extent that the experience is not good for them.⁵²³ Playing is not exclusively a force for good, depending on the conditions from which it emerges. This is why we talk about playing well: when children can play well, life is better for that moment. Playing well, however, is not only a matter of personal responsibility or skill. The pleasure of playing well motivates children to seek out more playing.⁵²⁴ It also releases neurotrophins that can have more lasting protection against depression.⁵²⁵

The pleasure of playing arises from experiencing the vitality of emotions such as fear, anger, disgust and surprise and overcoming them, for example through pretend play, rough and tumble play, risk-taking, rude rhymes, horror stories, video games and generally mucking about. Side Such forms of playing help to prime neural networks to respond flexibly and creatively to novel situations without over-reacting, learning how to deal emotionally with being surprised or temporarily out of control. In this way, play's entangled embodied, sensual, dynamic and affective dimensions can add to its vitality and contribute to physical health and strength, emotion regulation and healthy stress response systems.

⁵¹⁵ Robeyns, 2017

⁵¹⁶ Fattore and Mason, 2017

⁵¹⁷ Andrews et al., 2014; Coffey, 2020; Lester, 2020

⁵¹⁸ Murris, 2019, p. 56

⁵¹⁹ Damasio, 2018; Lester, 2020

⁵²⁰ Burgdorf et al., 2017; Coffey et al., 2015; Fredrickson, 2013; Granic et al., 2014; Panksepp, 2010, 2016; Tugade et al., 2021

⁵²¹ Henricks, 2015; McDonnell, 2019

⁵²² Sicart, 2014; Sutton-Smith, 2017

⁵²³ Bryan, 2019, 2020, 2021; Cook, 2019; Göncü and Vadeboncoeur, 2015; Grieshaber and McArdle, 2010; Kinard *et al.*, 2021; McDonnell, 2019; Saltmarsh and Lee, 2021; Sutton-Smith, 2017; Trammell, 2020, 2023

⁵²⁴ di Domenico and Ryan, 2017; Trezza et al., 2019

⁵²⁵ Panksepp, 2010, 2012, 2016; Panksepp *et al.*, 2019

⁵²⁶ Eberle, 2014; Granic *et al.*, 2014; Panksepp, 2010, 2016; Panksepp and Panksepp, 2013; Panksepp *et al.*, 2012; Pellis *et al.*, 2014; Pellis and Pellis, 2017; Sharpe, 2019; Sutton-Smith, 2017; Vanderschuren and Trezza, 2014

⁵²⁷ Andersen *et al.*, 2022; Gray, 2019; Kellman and Radwan, 2022; Pellis *et al.*, 2014; Pellis *et al.*, 2018; Sgro and Mychasiuk, 2020; Siviy, 2016; Vandervert, 2017

Alongside this, playing well also provides the relational context for developing healthy attachment systems to caregivers (through early forms of play such as peek-a-boo and tickling),⁵²⁸ friends (characterised by conflicts as well as affective solidarity and support),⁵²⁹ other non-human animals,⁵³⁰ and to place,⁵³¹ contributing to a sense of security and belonging and the sense for children of being able to affect their own lives and the lives of others.

All this means that, when conditions are right, **children can create their own wellbeing**. This presents a strong ethical, moral, economic and social argument for adults to work towards producing those conditions through both policies and practices. If playing is seen as one of the ten central human capabilities (for all ages), as it is in Nussbaum's list of core capabilities,⁵³² then a relational capability approach to wellbeing would need to pay attention to the spatial, temporal and affective conditions that support the resources, opportunities, freedoms and capability to play. Such attention can be developed through the twin processes of account-ability (accounting for children's *capability* to find time and space for playing) and response-ability (responsiveness in terms of rethinking habits and routines to enhance children's *capability* to play).

1.8.2 A model for considering response-ability for children's play: Amin's four registers

Here we offer a model that can be useful in making sense of the complex interrelationships between space, power, a relational capability approach to children's right to play and the twin processes of account-ability and response-ability. The model draws on the work of geographer Ash Amin's⁵³³ ideas on what constitutes a 'good city', identifying four registers that can work together to create environments that are more open to children's play. This framework has been a core feature of research into the Play Sufficiency Duty for the past decade⁵³⁴ and can serve to underscore the relational capability approach promoted throughout this review.

We briefly introduce these concepts here to describe the range of ways efforts to support children's capability to play operate across the strategic and the practical.

Repair and maintenance

The repair and maintenance register incorporates the work that needs to be done to protect and maintain the times and spaces currently available for children's play and to make reparations for spatial injustices for diverse children. Some of this is as basic as maintaining children's playgrounds in a good state of repair. Much of it is in appreciating broader spatial injustices that remove children from the public realm and working to repair those injustices. Beyond this, the register also applies to the domains of policy development and implementation; strategic partnerships; and a range of forms of knowledge exchange practices including research, advocacy, education, and training.

⁵²⁸ Bergen *et al.*, 2016; Gordon, 2015; Gorrese, 2016; Gorrese and Ruggieri, 2012; Jackson and McGlone, 2020; Masten, 2014; McGinley and Evans, 2020; Panksepp, 2010

⁵²⁹ Bagwell and Schmidt, 2013; Beazidou and Botsoglou, 2016; Brogaard-Clausen and Robson, 2019; Carter and Nutbrown, 2016; Del Giudice, 2015; Fattore and Mason, 2017; Holder and Coleman, 2015; Offer and Schneider, 2007; Petrina *et al.*, 2014; Stenning, 2020; Weller and Bruegel, 2009; Wells, 2011; Wood *et al.*, 2013

⁵³⁰ Christian et al., 2020; Dueñas et al., 2021; Moore and Lynch, 2018; O'Haire et al., 2015; Rautio, 2013b; Tipper, 2011

⁵³¹ Bartos, 2013; Bauer *et al.*, 2022; Bourke, 2017; Jack, 2015, 2016; Jansson *et al.*, 2016; Kearns *et al.*, 2016; Koller and Farley, 2019; Long *et al.*, 2014; Malone, 2013, 2015; Wales *et al.*, 2021; Weir *et al.*, 2022; Witten *et al.*, 2019

⁵³² Nussbaum, 2007

⁵³³ Amin, 2006

⁵³⁴ Lester and Russell, 2013a, 2014a; Russell et al., 2019, 2020

Rights

For Amin, rights are held in common rather than individually. The rights register incorporates approaches that respect children's participation as citizens, including their right to play alongside other rights of freedom of thought, freedom of expression, freedom of association and peaceful assembly (gathering together), and freedom to participate in the public realm. It also acknowledges the personal, social and environmental factors that support or constrain children's capability to convert resources and opportunities into functionings. Much of adult response-ability for this register is in terms of advocacy, linking it closely to the register of relatedness. Advocacy can operate through influencing strategy and through direct activation work with children and communities at neighbourhood level.

Relatedness

Given the focus on relatedness in contemporary research in childhood and play studies and in wellbeing, and given that this review argues for a relational capability approach to play and wellbeing, this register becomes particularly pertinent. Working in this register involves acknowledging interrelatedness and the value of working with difference. One such difference is the ways that different children experience space. At strategic level it involves building cross-professional networks and partnerships, whilst at neighbourhood level it requires fostering relationships with communities, families and local businesses.

Re-enchantment

This register is mostly about reconnecting adults with the joy of playing and recognising how children's environments can support the moments of vitality that playing produces, whilst avoiding over-romanticising play.

1.8.3 Bringing the ideas together with research reviewed

Amin's four registers for a good city (repair, rights, relatedness and re-enchantment) also need to be considered relationally rather than as discrete categories for reviewing adult response-ability for children's capability to play. As such, relatedness can be seen in the broadening out of adult support for play from designated play provision (which could, arguably, include toys and digital games) to include children's capability to play out in the public realm.⁵³⁶ Our review highlights that one, if not the, major constraint on children's capability to play out comes from traffic, either moving or stationary. This offers increasing synergies between play advocacy and the political agenda for environmental sustainability, including active travel, low traffic neighbourhoods and greening the built environment. Relatedness is also evident in the ways that play advocates and policy makers are increasingly working cross-professionally with those working in planning, highways, housing, parks and open spaces, green infrastructure, education and more. This is particularly apparent in Wales given the requirement to do so in the Play Sufficiency Duty, a feature of the duty that has been described as one of its biggest successes.⁵³⁷ Equally, response-ability for children's capability to play works in tandem with developing an account-ability for children's satisfaction with their opportunities to play. This too can be developed both through networking and professional development and also through ethical research with children to map their neighbourhoods. In addition, facilitating play in a range of settings including schools, hospitals, prisons and cultural institutions further contributes to relatedness.

⁵³⁵ Owen *et al.*, 2021

⁵³⁶ Arup, 2017; Bornat, 2016, 2018; Bornat and Shaw, 2019; Gill, 2021; Jansson et al., 2022

⁵³⁷ Russell et al., 2019, 2020

In terms of **repair** (and maintenance), play advocates have had a significant influence, particularly in Wales, across multiple and interrelated scales including national and local policy and strategy, engaging with adults while supporting playing in the public realm, and the broader community work of playworkers working in play provision, each of which affects the other.⁵³⁸ Such advocacy work operates across all four registers.

The austerity agenda has had a big impact both on play and playwork services and the infrastructure to support this. Attempts to **repair** the effects of such cuts at service level have included diversification of services and roles, both in attempts to generate income and also to work more closely with families struggling because of austerity measures, particularly through feeding children. At policy level, national government efforts to mitigate the worst effects of austerity and the cost-of-living crisis can work productively with the play sector, as has been the case, for example, in Welsh Government funding for play services to both build back after the pandemic and to feed children in the school holidays through the Summer of Fun and Holiday Hunger Playworks programmes.

Repair can also be seen through the reparations made in the physical infrastructure of urban environments, many of which have been implemented through broader sustainability policy agendas. Yet, although physical changes can alter everyday spatial practices (such as removing traffic), children's capability to play out also depends on such changes being sensitive to local context and histories⁵³⁹ and often also needs changes to the social production of space through activation.⁵⁴⁰

Such activation can be provided by playworkers and other play advocates who can appreciate forms of children's playfulness often obscured in over-simplified, individual and instrumental understandings of play's value, including children's ingenuity, nonsense and more taboo forms of playing. ⁵⁴¹ In identifying play as a core human capability, Nussbaum specifically mentions the value of laughter. In chapter 3, we review neuroscientific studies of play that highlight the importance of the joy of playing and its role in preventing depression. ⁵⁴² Equally, studies of children's play cultures show its capacity for nonsense, sophisticated subversion and imagining the world anew. ⁵⁴³

What happens when play advocates work with other adults to bring these forms of playfulness to light, either through encouragement to pay attention to children or through sharing their own memories of play as a child, is that they become animated and begin to smile. These are powerful engagements that surface a **re-enchantment** with play, although it is important not to over-romanticise them. Such engagements can counter the forces of contemporary disenchantment with childhood evident in the negatively-valanced – and very real – concerns about obesity, mental health, crime and more. Enchanting adults through reconnecting them to the vitality, thrill, pleasure and nonsense that playing can offer is often an effective and affective way of showing that playing is how children help themselves to be well.

⁵³⁸ Russell *et al.*, 2023

⁵³⁹ Pérez del Pulgar et al., 2020

⁵⁴⁰ Placemaking Wales, 2020

⁵⁴¹ See chapter 3, section 3.9.4 and Lester, 2020; Koch, 2018; Marsh and Bishop, 2013; Rosen, 2015a, 2015b; Russell, 2018; Sutton-Smith, 2017

⁵⁴² Panksepp, 2008, 2010, 2015; Sgro and Mychasiuk, 2020

⁵⁴³ Corsaro, 2020; Koch, 2018; Lester, 2020

⁵⁴⁴ Dickerson and Derry, 2021; Russell et al., 2020; Russell et al., 2023

⁵⁴⁵ Lester, 2020, and as outlined in chapter 2

Running through all this is Amin's register of **rights**. As with many theories of wellbeing and play, rights are often conceived as being possessed by individual rights-holders. In Amin's vision, a good city is a 'socially just city, with strong obligations towards those marginalised'.⁵⁴⁶ Rights refers to more than access to resources and services and also includes the right to participate in the production of public spaces.⁵⁴⁷ Such a view makes possible a **relational** perspective on rights that can sit alongside a relational capability approach to children's wellbeing through adult account-ability and response-ability.

Bringing all these ideas and the literature reviewed together and to summarise, we suggest that a relational capability approach to children's wellbeing requires paying attention to the spatial, temporal and affective conditions that support children's capability to play. The twin processes of account-ability and response-ability, together with Amin's four registers of repair, relatedness, rights and re-enchantment offer a framework for doing this that can embrace the interrelatedness of policies, practices, diverse children, communities, the built environment, environmental sustainability, economies and more across multiple scales. The evidence contained within this review provides a strong argument that working towards the production of such conditions has an ethical, moral, social, environmental and economic basis. Children's capability to play is of political importance for both its intrinsic value (as a social justice issue) and because of its instrumental value in terms of its contribution to the wellbeing of children and communities and its connections with sustainable development. Supporting children's capability to play is therefore in line with both the Welsh Government's rights-based, social democratic policies for children and other broader policies, including the over-arching Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

⁵⁴⁶ Amin, 2006, p. 1015

⁵⁴⁷ Carroll *et al.*, 2019; Pyyry and Tani, 2016; Russell, 2020

References

8 80 Cities (2022) School Streets.

Aarts, M-J., de Vries, S.I., van Oers, H.A. and Schuit, A.J. (2012) Outdoor Play Among Children in Relation to Neighborhood Characteristics: A cross-sectional neighborhood observation study, *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 9, 98.

Abebe, T. (2019) Reconceptualising Children's Agency as Continuum and Interdependence, *Social Sciences*, 8, pp. 81-97.

Adams, K. (2013) Childhood in Crisis? Perceptions of 7-11-year-olds on being a child and the implications for education's well-being agenda, *Education 3-13*, 41(5), pp. 523-537.

Adcock, J. (2016) The Bedroom: A missing space within geographies of children and young people, in Nairn, K., Kraftl, P. and Skelton, T. (eds) *Space, Place, and Environment, Geographies of Children and Young People Vol 3,* Singapore: Springer, pp. 401-420.

Aggio, D., Gardner, B., Roberts, J., Johnstone, J., Stubbs, B., Williams, G., Sánchez, G.F.L. and Smith, L. (2017) Correlates of Children's Independent Outdoor Play: Cross-sectional analyses from the Millennium Cohort Study, *Preventative Medicine Reports*, 8, pp. 10-14.

Ahloy-Dallaire, J., Espinosa, J. and Mason, G. (2018) Play and Optimal Welfare: Does play indicate the presence of positive affective states?, *Behavioural Processes*, 156, pp. 3-15.

Ahn, S. and Fedewa, A.L. (2011) A Meta-analysis of the Relationship Between Children's Physical Activity and Mental Health, *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 36(4), pp. 385-397.

Aitken, S.C. (2018) Young People, Rights and Place: Erasure, neoliberal politics and postchild ethics, Abingdon, Oxon.: Routledge.

Akerman, A., Rubin, R. and Lindunger, M. (2017) Planning for Equity: insights from the perspective of the girl, in Khan, M. and Forrester, K. (eds) *Researching with and for Children: Place, pedagogy and play*, Edinburgh: University of Edinburgh.

Alanen, L. (2016) 'Intersectionality' and Other Challenges to Theorizing Childhood, Childhood, 23(2), pp. 157-161.

Aldred, R. and Goodman, A. (2020) Low Traffic Neighbourhoods, Car Use, and Active Travel: Evidence from the People and Places Survey of Outer London Active Travel Interventions, *Findings*, September.

Aldred, R., Verlinghieri, E., Sharkey, M., Itova, I. and Goodman, A. (2021) Equity in New Active Travel Infrastructure: A spatial analysis of London's new Low Traffic Neighbourhoods, *Journal of Transport Geography*, 96, 103194.

Alexander, S.A., Frohlich, K.L. and Fusco, C. (2014) Problematizing "Play-for-Health" Discourses Through Children's Photo-Elicited Narratives, *Qualitative Health Research*, 24(10), pp. 1329-1341.

Alexander, S.A., Frohlich, K.L. and Fusco, C. (2019) *Play, Physical Activity and Public Health: The reframing of children's leisure lives,* Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge.

Allied Marketing (2022) UK Family/Indoor Entertainment Centers Market Expected to Reach \$1,755.06 Million by 2027, Allied Marketing Research.

Allport, T., Mace, J., Farah, F., Yusuf, F., Mahdjoubi, L. and Redwood, S. (2019) 'Like a Life in a Cage': Understanding child play and social interaction in Somali refugee families in the UK, *Health and Place*, *56*, pp. 191-201.

Alma Economic (2021) *Children and Young People's Mental Well-being during the COVID-19 Pandemic*, Cardiff: Public Health Wales.

Alparone, F.R. and Pacilli, M.G. (2012) On Children's Independent Mobility: The interplay of demographic, environmental, and psychosocial factors, *Children's Geographies*, 10(1), pp. 109-122.

Altikulaç, S., Lee, N.C., van der Veen, C., Benneker, I., Krabbendam, L. and van Atteveldt, N. (2019) The Teenage Brain: Public perceptions of neurocognitive development during adolescence, *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 31(3), pp. 339-359.

Amin, A. (2006) The Good City, Urban Studies, 43(5/6), pp. 1009-§1023.

Andersen, M.M., Kiverstein, J., Miller, M. and Roepstorff, A. (2022) Play in Predictive Minds: A cognitive theory of play, *Psychological Review*, advance online publication.

Andres, L., Moawad, P., Kraftl, P., Denoon-Stevens, S., Marais, L., Matamanda, A., Bizzotto, L., Giatti, L. (2023) *The Impact of COVID-19 on Education, Food & Play-Leisure and Related Adaptations for Children and Young People: International and national overviews*, PANEX-Youth WP2 Full Report, London.

Andrews, G.J., Chen, S. and Myers, S. (2014) The 'Taking Place' of Health and Wellbeing: Towards non-representational theory, *Social Science and Medicine*, 108, pp. 210-222.

Andrews, G.J. and Duff, C. (2020) Enrolling Bodies, Feasting on Space: How wellbeing serves the forms and flows of a new capitalism, *Wellbeing, Space and Society*, 1, 100004.

Änggård, E. (2016) How Matter Comes to Matter in Children's Nature Play: Posthumanist approaches and children's geographies, *Children's Geographies*, 14(1), pp. 77-90.

Ansell, N. (2009) Childhood and the Politics of Scale: Descaling children's geographies? *Progress in Human Geography*, 33(2), pp. 190-209.

Appelhans, B.M. and Li, H. (2016) Organized Sports and Unstructured Active Play as Physical Activity Sources in Children from Low-Income, Chicago Households, *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 28(3), pp. 381-387.

Archer, N. and Albin-Clark, J. (2022) Telling Stories that Need Telling: A dialogue on resistance in early childhood education, *Forum for Promoting 3-19 Comprehensive Education*, 64(2), pp. 21-29.

Ardelean, A., Smith, K. and Russell, W. (2021) *The Case for Play in Schools: A review of the literature,* Bristol: Outdoor Play and Learning.

Armitage, M. (2009) Play Pods in Schools: An independent evaluation 2006-2009, Hull: PlayPeople.

Arnold, J.E., Graesch, A.P., Ragazinni, E. and Ochs, E. (2012) *Life at Home in the Twenty-first Century*, Los Angeles: UCLA.

Arvidsen, J. and Beames, S. (2019) Young People's Outdoor Refuges: Movements and (dis)entanglements, *Children's Geographies*, 17(4), pp. 401-412.

Arvidsen, J., Johannessen, H., Veitch, J. and Andkjær, S. (2020) 'It's Fun in the Legs': Children's dwelling in garden trampolines, *Children's Geographies*, 18(3), pp. 312-324.

Arup (2017) Cities Alive: Designing for urban childhoods, London: Arup.

Asenova, D. (2015) Redistribution of Social and Societal Risk, York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Association for Public Service Excellence (2021) State of UK Public Parks, Stretford, UK: APSE.

Association of Play Industries (2022) Equal Play: Every child's right to every day play, API.

Atkinson, S. (2013) Beyond Components of Wellbeing: The effects of relational and situated assemblage, *Topoi*, 32, pp. 137-144.

Atkinson, S. (2021) The Toxic Effects of Subjective Wellbeing and Potential Tonics, *Social Science and Medicine*, 288, 113098.

Atmakur-Javdekar, S. (2016) Children's Play in Urban Areas, in Evans, B. and Horton, J. (eds) *Play and Recreation, Health and Well-being, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 9, Singapore: Springer, pp. 109-133.

Audrey, S. and Batista-Ferrer, H. (2015) Healthy Urban Environments for Children and Young People: A systematic review of intervention studies, *Health and Place*, 36, pp. 97-117.

Bacon, K. (2018) Children's Use and Control of Bedroom Space, in Punch, S. and Vanderbeck, R. (eds) *Families, Intergenerationality, and Peer Group Relations, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 5, Singapore: Springer, pp. 1-21.

Bagwell, C.L. and Schmidt, M.E. (2013) Friendships in Childhood and Adolescence, London: Guilford Press.

Bailey, C. (2016) Free the Sheep: Improvised song and performance in and around a Minecraft community, *Literacy*, 50 (2), pp. 62-71.

Bailey, C. (2021) *Researching Virtual Play Experiences Visual Methods in Education Research*, Cham, Switzerland: Palgrave Macmillan.

Baines, E. and Blatchford, P. (2019) *School Break and Lunch Times and Young People's Social Lives: A follow-up national study*, London: UCL Institute of Education.

Ball, D.J., Brussoni, M., Gill, T.R., Harbottle, H. and Spiegal, B. (2019) Avoiding a Dystopian Future for Children's Play, *International Journal of Play*, 8(1), pp. 3-10.

Ball, D. J., Gill, T. and Spiegal, B. (2008) *Managing Risk in Play Provision: Implementation guide*, London: Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) and Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS).

Ball, D.J., Gill, T.R. and Spiegal, B. (2012) *Managing Risk in Play Provision: Implementation Guide*, (2nd ed), London: National Children's Bureau.

Balluerka, N., Gorostiaga, A., Alonso-Arbiol, I. and Aritzeta, A. (2016) Peer Attachment and Class Emotional Intelligence as Predictors of Adolescents' Psychological Well-being: A multilevel approach, *Journal of Adolescence*, 53, pp. 1-9.

Barad, K. (2007) *Meeting the Universe Half Way: Quantum physics and the entanglements of matter and meaning,* London: Duke University Press.

Barclay, M. and Tawil, B. (2013) *Wrexham Play Sufficiency Assessment 2013*, Wrexham: Wrexham County Borough Council and Glyndŵr University.

Barclay, M. and Tawil, B. (2016) *Wrexham Play Sufficiency Assessment 2016*, Wrexham: Wrexham County Borough Council.

Barclay, M. and Tawil, B. (2021) *Understanding the Play Experiences of Children with Protected Characteristics*, Ludicology.

Barron, C., Beckett, A., Coussens, M., Desoete, A., Jones, N.C., Lynch, H., Prellwitz, M. and Salkeld, D.F. (2017) *Barriers to Play and Recreation for Children and Young People with Disabilities*, Berlin: De Gruyter Open.

Barron, C. and Emmett, M.J. (2020) Back Gardens and Friends: The impact of COVID-19 on children and adolescents use of, and access to, outdoor spaces, *Irish Geography*, 53(2), pp. 173-177.

Barron, C., Emmett, M.J., Patte, M.M., Higham, S. and Bulgarelli, D. (2021) Indoor Play During a Global Pandemic: Commonalities and diversities during a unique snapshot in time, *International Journal of Play*, 10(4), pp. 365-386.

Bartos, A.E. (2103) Children Sensing Place, Emotion, Space and Society, 9, pp. 89-98.

Bassett, D.R., John, D., Conger, S.A., Fitzhugh, E.C. and Coe, D.P. (2015) Trends in Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviors of United States Youth, *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 12(8), pp. 1102-1111.

Bateman, A., Danby, S. and Howard, J. (2013) Living in a Broken World: How young children's well-being is supported through playing out their earthquake experiences, *International Journal of Play*, 2(3), pp. 202-219.

Bates, B. and Stone, M.R. (2015) Measures of Outdoor Play and Independent Mobility in Children and Youth: A methodological review, *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 18(5), pp. 545-552.

Bateson, P. (2015) Ethology and Human Development, in Lerner, R.M. (ed) *Handbook of Child Psychology and Developmental Science*, Hoboken, NJ.: Wiley, pp. 208-243.

Bateson, P. (2017) Behaviour, Development and Evolution, Open Book Publishing.

Bateson, P. and Martin, P. (2013) *Play, Playfulness, Creativity and Innovation,* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Bauer, M.E.E., Brussoni, M. and Han, C. (2022) Children's Play in Natural Environments and Their Development of Microcultures: "We were born in the wilderness," *Children, Youth and Environments*, 32(2), pp. 112-124.

Bauer, M.E.E., Giles, A.R. and Brussoni, M. (2021) "I've Seen What Evil Men Do": Military mothering and children's outdoor risky play, *Leisure Sciences*, online.

Beazidou, E. and Botsoglou, K. (2016) Peer Acceptance and Friendship in Early Childhood: The conceptual distinctions between them, *Early Child Development and Care*, 186(10), pp. 1615-1631.

Beetham, K.S., Sterman, J., Bundy, A.C., Wyver, S., Ragen, J., Engelen, L., Villeneuve, M., Spencer, G., Tranter, P. and Naughton, G. (2019) Lower Parent Tolerance of Risk in Play for Children with Disability than Typically Developing Children, *International Journal of Play*, 8(2), pp. 174-185.

Ben-Arieh, A. and Frønes, I. (2011) Taxonomy for Child Well-being Indicators: A framework for the analysis of the well-being of children, *Childhood*, 18(4), pp. 460-476.

Ben-Arieh, A., Casas, F., Frønes, I. and Korbin, J.E. (2014) Multifaceted Concept of Child Well-Being, in Ben-Arieh, A. et al. (eds) Handbook of Child Well-being, Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer, pp. 1-27.

Benton, N. (2017) A New Type of Leisure Hub, Australasian Leisure Management, March/April, pp. 42-46.

Beresin, A.R. (2012) Play Counts: Pedometers and the case for recess, *International Journal of Play*, 1(2), pp. 131-138.

Beresin, A.R. (2014) *The Art of Play: Recess and the practice of invention,* Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press.

Bergen, D. (2018) The "Play Deficit" Discovered by Physicians! Implications for policy and practice, *Journal of Psychiatry and Psychiatric Disorders*, 2(5), pp. 128-132.

Bergen, D., Davis, D.R. and Abbitt, J. (2016) *Technology Play and Brain Development: Infancy to adolescence and future implications, Abingdon, Oxon.*: Routledge.

Bernard van Leer Foundation (2019) *An Urban95 Starter Kit: Ideas for action,* The Hague: Bernard van Leer Foundation, October version.

Bessell, S. (2017) Perceptions of Risk and Safety in Public Spaces: Towards a child standpoint, in Freeman, C., Tranter, P. and Skelton, T. (eds) *Risk, Protection, Provision and Policy. Geographies of Children and Young People,* vol 12, Singapore: Springer, pp. 223-240.

Bhosale, J., Duncan, S. and Schofield, G. (2017) Intergenerational Change in Children's Independent Mobility and Active Transport in New Zealand Children and Parents, *Journal of Transport and Health*, 7, pp. 247-255.

Biddle, S.J.H., Ciaccioni, S., Thomas, G. and Vergeer, I. (2019) Physical Activity and Mental Health in Children and Adolescents: An updated review of reviews and an analysis of causality, *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 42, pp. 146-155.

Biggeri, M., Ballet, J. and Comim, F. (2011) The Capability Approach and Research on Children: Capability approach and children's issues, in Andresen, S., Diehm, I., Sander, U. and Ziegler, H. (eds) *Children and the Good Life: New challenges for research on children*, Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer, pp. 75-89.

Billman, G.E. (2020) Homeostasis: The underappreciated and far too often ignored central organizing principle of physiology, *Frontiers in Physiology*, 11, article 200.

Binder, L. (2021) Look Again: Making friends with sensory processing disorder, New York: Bank Street College of Education.

Blaise, M. and Taylor, A. (2012) Using Queer Theory to Rethink Gender Equity in Early Education, *Young Children,* January, pp. 88-97.

Block, F., Gough, A., Prue, G., Solomon-Moore, E., Kesten, J.M. and Smith, L. (2017) The Potential Yield of Active Play in the Prevention of Cancer, *International Journal of Play*, 6(1), pp. 78-84.

Blum-Ross, A., Donoso, V., Dinh, T., Mascheroni, G., O'Neill, B., Riesmeyer, C. and Stoilova, M. (2018) *Looking Forward: Technological and social change in the lives of European children and young people, report for the ICT Coalition for Children Online*, Brussels: ICT Coalition.

Blum-Ross, A. and Livingstone, S. (2016) *Families and Screen Time: Current advice and emerging research, Media Policy Brief 17*, London: Media Policy Project, School of Economics and Political Science.

Boddy, L.M., Murphy, M.H., Cunningham, C., Breslin, G., Foweather, L., Gobbi, R., Graves, L.E., Hopkins, N.D., Auth, M.K. and Stratton, G. (2014) Physical Activity, Cardiorespiratory Fitness, and Clustered Cardiometabolic Risk in 10- to 12-Year-Old School Children: The REACH Y6 study, *American Journal of Human Biology*, 26(4), pp. 446-451.

Bollier, D. (2016) *Re-imagining Value: Insights from the care economy, commons, cyberspace and nature*, A Deep Dive hosted by Commons Strategies Group in cooperation with David Graeber and Heinrich Böll Foundation, September 5-8, 2016.

Bonoli, G., Cantillon, B. and Van Lancker, W. (2017) Social Investment and the Matthew Effect: Limits to a strategy, in Hemerijck, A. (ed) *The Uses of Social Investment*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 66-76.

Bornat, D. (2016) Housing Design for Community Life, London: ZCD Architects.

Bornat, D. (2018) Play Sufficiency and Neighbourhood Layout: A comparative study, London: ZCD Architects.

Bornat, D. and Shaw, B. (2019) *Neighbourhood Design: Working with children towards a child friendly city*, London: ZCD Architects.

Borsboom, D., Cramer, A.O.J. and Kalis, A. (2019) Brain Disorders? Not really: Why network structures block reductionism in psychopathology research, *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 42, e2: pp. 1-63.

Borst, H. (2021) The Epidemic of Play Deprivation, Parent Map, 29 June.

Bourdillon, M. (2014) Neglected Dimensions of Child Well-being, Children's Geographies, 12(4), pp. 497-503.

Bourke, J. (2017) Children's Experiences of their Everyday Walks through a Complex Urban Landscape of Belonging, *Children's Geographies*, 15(1), pp. 93-106.

Bovaird, T. (2014) Attributing Outcomes to Social Policy Interventions – 'Gold Standard' or 'Fool's Gold' in Public Policy and Management?, *Social Policy and Administration*, 48(1), pp. 1-23.

Boxberger, K. and Reimers, A.K. (2019) Parental Correlates of Outdoor Play in Boys and Girls Aged 0 to 12: A systematic review, *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16, 190.

Bradshaw, J. (2019) Child Subjective Well-being Studies: Some points for discussion, *Revue des Politiques Sociales et Familiales*, 131-132, pp. 219-229.

Bradshaw, J., Martorano, B., Natali, L. and de Neubourg, C. (2013) Children's Subjective Well-Being in Rich Countries, *Child Indicators Research*, 6, pp. 619-635.

Bragg, S., Renold, E., Ringrose, J. and Jackson, C. (2018) 'More than Boy, Girl, Male, Female': Exploring young people's views on gender diversity within and beyond school contexts, *Sex Education*, 18(4), pp. 420-434.

Breathnach, H., Danby, S. and O'Gorman, L. (2018) "We're Doing a Wedding": Producing peer cultures in pretend play, *International Journal of Play*, 7(3), pp. 290-307.

Brett, C. (2018) New Enclosures: The appropriation of land in neoliberal Britain, London: Verso.

Bristow, S. and Atkinson, C. (2020) Child-led Research Investigating Social, Emotional and Mental Health and Wellbeing Aspects of Playtime, *Educational and Child Psychology*, 37(4), pp. 115-131.

British Academy (2020) *Reframing Childhood: Final report of the childhood policy programme,* London: British Academy.

Brito, A., Santos Carneiro, N. and Nogueira, C. (2021) Playing Gender(s): The re/construction of a suspect 'gender identity' through play, *Ethnography and Education*, 16(4), pp. 384-401.

Broberg, A., Kyttä, M. and Fagerholm, N. (2013) Child-friendly Urban Structures: Bullerby revisited, *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 35, pp. 110-120.

Brockman, R., Jago, R. and Fox, K.R. (2011) Children's Active Play: Self-reported motivators, barriers and facilitators, *BMC Public Health*, 11, 461.

Brockman, R., Jago, R., Fox, K.R., Thompson, J.L., Cartwright, K. and Page, A.S. (2009) "Get off the Sofa and Go and Play": Family and socioeconomic influences on the physical activity of 10-11 year-old children, *BMC Public Health*, 9, 253.

Brodie, K. (2021) Play in the Preschool, in King, P. and Newstead. S. (eds) *Play Across Childhood: International perspectives on diverse contexts of play*, Cham, Switzerland: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 13-32.

Brogaard-Clausen, S. and Robson, S. (2019) Friendships for wellbeing?: Parents' and practitioners' positioning of young children's friendships in the evaluation of wellbeing factors, *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 27(4), pp. 345-359.

Brooker, L. (2014) The Play-Pedagogy Interface in Contemporary Debates, in Brooker, L., Edwards, S. and Blaise, M. (eds) *SAGE Handbook of Play and Learning in Early Childhood*, London: Sage, pp. 145-156.

Brooker, L. (2018) Learning to Play, or Playing to Learn? Children's participation in the cultures of homes and settings, in Goodliffe, G., Canning, N., Parry, J. and Miller, L. (eds) *Young Children's Play and Creativity: Multiple voices*, Abingdon, Oxon.: Routledge, pp. 14-25.

Brooker, L., Edwards, S. and Blaise, M. (eds) (2014) SAGE Handbook of Play and Learning in Early Childhood, London: Sage.

Brown, C., de Lannoy, A., McCracken, D., Gill, T., Grant, M., Wright, H. and Williams, S. (2019) Special Issue: Child-friendly cities, *Cities and Health*, 3(1-2), pp. 1-7.

Brown, D.M.Y., Ross, T., Leo, J., Buliung, R.N., Shirazipour, C.H., Latimer-Cheung, A.E. and Arbour-Nicitopoulos, K.P. (2021) A Scoping Review of Evidence-Informed Recommendations for Designing Inclusive Playgrounds, *Frontiers in Rehabilitation Science*, 2, 664595.

Brown, F. (2018) Therapeutic Playwork: Theory and practice, in Brown, F. and Hughes, B. (eds) *Aspects of Playwork, Play and Culture Studies Volume 14*, Maryland: University Press of America, pp. 93-106.

Brown, F. and Wragg, M. (2018) (eds) *Play and Playwork: Notes and reflections in a time of austerity,* London: Routledge.

Brown, S. (2014) Consequence of Play Deprivation, Scolarpedia, 9(5), 30449.

Bryan, N. (2019) 'Playing With or Like the Girls': Advancing the performance of 'multiple masculinities in Black boys' childhood play' in U.S. early childhood classrooms, *Gender and Education*, 31(3), pp. 309-326.

Bryan, N. (2020) Shaking the Bad Boys: Troubling the criminalization of Black boys' childhood play, hegemonic White masculinity and femininity, and the school playground-to-prison pipeline, *Race Ethnicity and Education*, *23*(5), pp. 673-692.

Bryan, N. (2021) Remembering Tamir Rice and Other Black Boy Victims: Imagining *Black PlayCrit Literacies* Inside and Outside Urban Literacy Education, *Urban Education*, 56(5), pp. 744-771.

Buchanan, M. and Johnson, T.G. (2009) A Second Look at the Play of Young Children with Disabilities, *American Journal of Play*, 2(1), pp. 41-59.

Buckingham, D. (2011) The Material Child: Growing up in consumer culture, Cambridge: Polity Press.

Buckley, G.L., Boone, C.G. and Grove, J.M. (2017) The Greening of Baltimore's Asphalt Schoolyards, *Geographical Review*, 107(3), pp. 516-535.

Bullough, D., Pugh, C. and Tawil, B. (2018) The Land, in Brown, F. and Hughes, B. (eds) *Aspects of Playwork, Play and Culture Studies Volume 14*, Maryland: University Press of America, pp. 125-144.

Bundy, A., Engelen, L., Wyver, S., Tranter, P., Ragen, J., Bauman, A., Baur, L., Schiller, W., Simpson, J.M., Niehues, A.N., Perry, G., Jessup, G. and Naughton, G. (2017) Sydney Playground Project: A cluster-randomized trial to increase physical activity, play, and social skills, *Journal of School Health*, 87, pp. 751-759.

Bundy, A.C, Shia, S., Qi, L. and Miller, L.J. (2007) How Does Sensory Processing Dysfunction Affect Play? *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 61, pp. 201-208.

Bundy, A.C., Luckett, T., Naughton, G.A., Tranter, P.J., Wyver, S.R., Ragen, J., Singleton, E. and Spies, G. (2008) Playful Interaction: Occupational therapy for all children on the school playground, *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 62, pp. 522-527.

Burgdorf, J., Kroes, R.A. and Moskal, J.R. (2017) Rough-and-tumble Play Induces Resilience to Stress in Rats, *Neuroreport*, 28(17), pp. 1122-1126.

Burghardt, G.M. (2015) Integrative Approaches to the Biological Study of Play, in Johnson, J.E., Eberle, S.G., Henricks, T.S. and Kuschner, D. (eds) (2015) *The Handbook of the Study of Play*, Maryland: Rowman and Littlefield, pp. 21-39.

Burghardt, G.M. (2011) Defining and Recognizing Play, in Pellegrini, A.D. (ed) (2011) *The Oxford Handbook of the Development of Play*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 10-18.

Burghardt, G.M. (2019) A Place for Emotions in Behavior Systems Research, Behavioural Processes, 166, 103811.

Burghardt, G.M. and Pellis, S.M. (2019) New Directions in Studying the Evolution of Play, in Smith, P.K. and Roopnarine, J.L. (eds) *The Cambridge Handbook of Play: Developmental and disciplinary perspectives,* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 11-29.

Burke, A. (2013) Children's Construction of Identity in Virtual Play Worlds – A classroom perspective, *Language* and *Literacy*, 15(1), pp. 58-73.

Burke, C.J., Euston, D.R. and Pellis, S.M. (2020) What Do You Hear, What Do You Say? Ultrasonic calls as signals during play fighting in rats, *International Journal of Play*, 9(1), pp. 92-107.

Burman, E. (2017) Deconstructing Developmental Psychology, (3rd ed), Abingdon: Brunner-Routledge.

Burman, E. (2018) Towards a Posthuman Developmental Psychology of Child Families and Communities, in Fleer, M. and van Oers, B. (eds) *International Handbook of Early Childhood Education*, Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer, pp. 1599-1620.

Burman, E. (2019) Child as Method: Implications for decolonising educational research, *International Studies in Sociology of Education*, 28(1), pp. 4-26.

Butler, A., Teasley, C. and Sánchez-Blanco, C. (2019) A Decolonial, Intersectional Approach to Disrupting Whiteness, Neoliberalism, and Patriarchy in Western Early Childhood Education and Care, in Trifonas, P.P. (ed) *Handbook of Theory and Research in Cultural Studies and Education*, Cham Switzerland: Springer Nature, pp. 41-58.

Butler, I. and Drakeford, M. (2013) Children's Rights as a Policy Framework in Wales, in Williams, J. (ed) *The United National Convention on the Rights of the Child in Wales*, Cardiff: University of Wales Press, pp. 9-20.

Callahan, S. and Nicholas, L. (2019) Dragon Wings and Butterfly Wings: Implicit gender binarism in early childhood, *Gender and Education*, 31(6), pp. 705-723.

Camfield, L., Streuli, N. and Woodhead, M. (2010) Children's Well-being in Developing Countries: A conceptual and methodological review, *European Journal of Development Research*, 22(3), pp. 398-416.

Camfield, L. and Tafere, Y. (2011) 'Good for children?' Local Understandings versus Universal Prescriptions: Evidence from three Ethiopian communities, in Biggeri, M., Ballet, J. and Comin, F. (eds) *Children and the Capability Approach: Child Labour, Education and Participation*, Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 200-221.

Candiracci, S., Conti, R.L., Dabaj, J., Moschonas, D., Hassinger-Das, B. and Donato, J. (2023) *Playful Cities Design Guide: Play for anyone, anywhere*, London: Arup.

Caputo, V. (2020) 'Shaking the Movers': A rights-respecting model for youth participation in the planning of public environments, in Loebach, J., Little, S., Cox, A. and Eubanks Owens, P. (eds) *The Routledge Handbook of Designing Public Spaces for Young People: Processes, Practices and Policies for Youth Inclusion*, London: Routledge, pp. 331-335.

Carlyle, D., Robson, I. and Lhussier, M. (2020) Opening Up the Unfamiliar and Enabling New Pathways for Movement and Becoming: Through, in, and beyond attachment, *Journal of Childhood Studies*, 45(1), pp. 1-18.

Carroll, P., Calder-Dawe, O., Witten, K. and Asiasiga, L. (2019) A Prefigurative Politics of Play in Public Places: Children claim their democratic right to the city through play, *Culture and Space*, 22/3, pp. 294-307.

Carroll, P., Witten, K., Kearns, R. and Donovan, P. (2015) Kids in the City: Children's use and experiences of urban neighbourhoods in Auckland, New Zealand, *Journal of Urban Design*, 20(4), pp. 417-436.

Carter, C. and Nutbrown, C. (2016) A Pedagogy of Friendship: Young children's friendships and how schools can support them, *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 24(4), pp. 395-413.

Carter, M., Moore, K., Mavoa, J., Horst, H. and gaspard, I. (2020) Situating the Appeal of Fortnite Within Children's Changing Play Cultures, *Games and Culture*, 15(4), pp. 453-471.

Casey, T. and McKendrick, J.H. (2022) Playing Through Crisis: Lessons from COVID-19 on play as a fundamental right of the child, *The International Journal of Human Rights*, pp. 1-20.

Chanmugam, A. (2017) Children and Young People in Domestic Violence Shelters, in Freeman, C., Tranter, P. and Skelton, T. (eds) *Risk, Protection, Provision and Policy. Geographies of Children and Young People,* vol 12. Singapore: Springer, pp. 19-43.

Charles, C. and Louv, R. (2009) Children's Nature Deficit Disorder: What we know – and don't know, *Children and Nature Network*, September.

Charles, C. and Louv, R. (2020) Wild Hope: The transformative power of children engaging with nature, in Cutter-Mackenzie-Knowles, A., Malone, K. and Barrat Hacking, E. (eds) *Research Handbook on Childhoodnature: Assemblages of childhood and nature research*, Singapore: Springer, pp. 395-415.

Chatterjee, S. (2017) Access to Play for Children in Situations of Crisis: Synthesis of research in six countries, International Play Association.

Chaudron, S., Di Gioia, R., Gemo, M., Holloway, D., Marsh, J., Mascheroni, G., Peter, J. and Yamada-Rice, D. (2017) *Kaleidoscope on the Internet of Toys: Safety, security, privacy and societal insights*, EUR 28397 EN, Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

Chaudron, S., Di Gioia, R. and Gemo, M. (2018a) *Young Children and Digital Technology: A qualitative study across Europe*, EUR 29070.

Chaudron, S., Marsh, J., Donoso Navarette, V., Ribbens, W., Mascheroni, G., Smahel, D., Cernikova, M., Dreier, M., Korkeamäki, R-L., Livingstone, S., Ottovordemgentschenfelde, S., Plowman, L., Fletcher-Watson, B., Richardson, J., Shlyapnikov, V. and Soldatova, G. (2018b) Rules of Engagement: Family rules on young children's access to and use of technologies, in Danby, S., Fleer, M., Davidson, C. and Hatzigianni, M. (eds) *Digital Childhoods: International perspectives on early childhood education and development*, vol 22, Singapore: Springer, pp. 131-145.

Chawla, L. (2015) Benefits of Nature Contact for Children, Journal of Planning Literature, 30(4), pp. 433-452.

Chester Zoo (2022) Serious about play.

Children's Commissioner for England (2020) Childhood in the Time of Covid.

Children's Commissioner for England (2021) The Big Ask – The Big Answer.

Children's Commissioner for Wales (2018) Spotlight on Article 31, Swansea: Children's Commissioner for Wales.

Children's Commissioners of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (2020) Report of the Children's Commissioners of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland to the UNCRC.

Children's Rights Alliance for England (CRAE) (2015) *UK Implementation of the Convention on the Rights of the Child: Civil society alternative report to the committee on the rights of the child, England, London: CRAE.*

Cho, E. Y-N. and Yu, F-Y. (2020) A Review of Measurement Tools for Child Wellbeing, *Children and Youth Services Review*, 119, 105576.

Cho, S., Crenshaw, K. W. and McCall, L. (2013) Toward a Field of Intersectionality Studies: Theory, applications, and praxis, *Signs*, 38(4), pp. 785-810.

Christian, H., Mitrou, F., Cunneen, R. and Zubrick, S.R. (2020) Pets Are Associated with Fewer Peer Problems and Emotional Symptoms, and Better Prosocial Behavior: Findings from the Longitudinal Study of Australian Children, *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 220, pp. 200-206.

Clark, C.D. (2018) Play, Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Psychology, Elsevier Reference Collection.

Clark, E. and Dumas, A. (2020) Children's Active Outdoor Play: 'Good' mothering and the organisation of children's free time, *Sociology of Health and Illness*, 42(6), pp. 1229-1242.

Clarke, R. (2022) School Streets: Putting Children and the Planet First. A Political Economy Analysis of the Rise of School Streets in Europe and Around the World, Child Health Initiative.

Cleland, V., Timperio, A., Salmon, J., Hume, C., Baur, L.A. and Crawford D. (2010) Predictors of Time Spent Outdoors among Children: 5-year longitudinal findings, *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 64, pp. 400-406.

Coffey, J. (2020) Assembling Wellbeing: Bodies, affects and the 'conditions of possibility' for wellbeing, *Journal of Youth Studies*, 25(1), pp. 67-83.

Coffey, J.K., Warren, M.T. and Gottfried, A.W. (2015) Does Infant Happiness Forecast Adult Life Satisfaction? Examining subjective well-being in the first quarter century of life, *Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being*, 16(6), pp. 1401-1421.

Cohen, D. (2019) The Development of Play, (4th ed), London: Routledge.

Colvert, A. (2021) *The Kaleidoscope of Play in a Digital World: A literature review*, London: Digital Futures Commission and 5Rights Foundation.

Colle, L. and Del Giudice, M. (2011) Patterns of Attachment and Emotional Competence in Middle Childhood, *Social Development*, 20(1), pp. 51-72.

Collishaw, S. (2015) Annual Research Review: Secular trends in child and adolescent mental health, *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 56(3), pp. 370-393.

Conn, C. (2015) 'Sensory Highs', 'Vivid Rememberings' and 'Interactive Stimming': Children's play cultures and experiences of friendship in autistic autobiographies, *Disability and Society*, 30(8), pp. 1192-1206.

Cook, D.T. (2013) Commercialisation of Play and the Toy Industry, in Brooker, L. and Woodhead, M. (eds) *The Right to Play*, The Open University with the support of Bernard van Leer Foundation, pp. 42-43.

Cook, D.T. (2016) Disrupting Play: A cautionary note, Childhood, 23(1), pp. 3-6.

Cook, D.T. (2019) Panaceas of Play: Stepping past the creative child, in Spyrou, S., Rosen R. and Cook, D.T. (eds) *Reimagining Childhood Studies*, London: Bloomsbury, pp.123-136.

Corkery, L. and Bishop, K. (2020) The Power of Process: Shaping our public domains with young people, in Loebach, J., Little, S., Cox, A. and Eubanks Owens, P. (eds) *The Routledge Handbook of Designing Public Spaces for Young People: Processes, Practices and Policies for Youth Inclusion*, London: Routledge, pp. 150-165.

Corris, A. and Chemero, A. (2022) Embodiment and Enactivism, in Young, B.D. and Carolyn Dicey Jennings, C.D. (eds) *Mind, Cognition, and Neuroscience: A philosophical introduction*, London: Routledge, pp. 414-428.

Corsaro, W.A. (2020) Big Ideas from Little People: What research with children contributes to social psychology, *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 83(1), pp. 5-25.

Cowan, K., Potter, J., Olusoga, Y., Bannister, C., Bishop, J.C., Cannon, M. and Signorelli, V. (2021) Children's Digital Play during the COVID-19 Pandemic: Insights from the Play Observatory, *Journal of E-Learning and Knowledge Society*, 17(3), pp. 8-17.

Cowie, H. and Myers, C-A. (2020) The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the Mental Health and Well-being of Children and Young People, *Children and Society*, 35, pp. 62-74.

Cowman, K. (2017) Play Streets: Women, children and the problem of urban traffic, 1930-1970. *Social History*, 42(2), pp. 233-256.

Crawford, S.B., Bennetts, S.K., Hackworth, N.J., Green, J., Graesser, H., Cooklin, A.R., Matthews, J., Strazdins, L., Zubrick, S.R., D'Esposito, F. and Nicholson, J.M. (2017) Worries, 'Weirdos', Neighborhoods and Knowing People: A qualitative study with children and parents regarding children's independent mobility, *Health and Place*, 45, pp. 131-139.

Create Streets Foundation (2021) *No Place Left Behind*, The Commission into Prosperity and Community Placemaking.

Crenshaw, K.W., Ocen, P. and Nanda, J. (2014) *Black Girls Matter: Pushed out, overpoliced and underprotected,* New York: African American Policy Forum and Center for Intersectionality and Social Policy Studies.

Cullen, F. and Johnston, C. (2018) Playwork Goes to School: Professional (mis)recognition and playwork practice in primary school, *Pedagogy, Culture and Society*, 26(3), pp. 467-484.

Dahlbeck, J. (2012) On Childhood and the Logic of Difference: Some empirical examples, Childhood, 26, pp. 4-13.

Dallimore, D. (2019) I Learn New Things and Climb Trees What children say about play in Wales, Cardiff: Play Wales.

Damasio, A.R. (2018) *The Strange Order of Things: Life, feeling, and the making of cultures,* New York: Pantheon Books.

Damasio, A.R. (2021) Feeling and Knowing: Making minds conscious, London: Robinson.

Danenberg, R., Doumpa, V. and Karssenberg, H. (eds) (2018) The City at Eye Level for Kids, Amsterdam: Stippo.

Dankiw, K.A., Tsiros, M.D., Baldock, K.L. and Kumar, S. (2020) The Impacts of Unstructured Nature Play on Health in Early Childhood Development: A systematic review, *PLoS ONE*, 15(2), e0229006.

Dauch, C., Imwalle, M., Ocasio, B. and Metz, A.E. (2018) The Influence of the Number of Toys in the Environment on Toddlers' Play, *Infant Behavior and Development*, 50, pp. 78-87.

Davies, S. (2019) *Time to Solve Childhood Obesity: An independent report by the Chief Medical Officer*, London: Department of Health and Social Care.

Day, J. (2023) The Intensification of Parenting and Generational Fracturing of Spontaneous Physical Activity from Childhood Play in the United Kingdom, *Sociology of Health and Illness*.

Dellapiazza, F., Michelon, C., Vernhet, C., Muratori, F., Blanc, N., Picot, M-C. and Baghdadli, A. (2021) Sensory Processing Related to Attention in Children with ASD, ADHD, or Typical Development: Results from the ELENA cohort, *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 30, pp. 283-291.

De Rossi, P. (2020) Can Active Play Encourage Physical Literacy in Children and Young People?, in Khan, M., Bell, S. and Wood, J. (eds) *Place, Pedagogy and Play: Participation, design and research with children,* London: Routledge, pp. 77-90.

Dekavalla, M. (2022) Understanding Online Safety Through Metaphors: UK policymakers and industry discourses about the Internet, *Television and New Media*, 23(8), pp. 855-873.

Del Giudice, M. (2015) Attachment in Middle Childhood: An evolutionary-developmental perspective, *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 148, pp. 15-30.

Densley, J., Deuchar, R. and Harding, S. (2020) An Introduction to Gangs and Serious Youth Violence in the United Kingdom, *Youth Justice*, 20(1-2), pp. 3-10.

Department for Transport (2019) Transport Statistics Great Britain 2019.

Derr, V., Chawla, L. and van Vliet, W. (2017) Children as Natural Change Agents: Child friendly cities as resilient cities, in Bishop, K. and Corkery, L. (eds) *Designing Cities with Children and Young People: Beyond playgrounds and skate parks*, Abingdon, Oxon.: Routledge, pp. 24-35.

Derr, V. and Lance, K. (2012) Biophilic Boulder: Children's environments that foster connections to nature, *Children, Youth and Environments*, 22(2), pp. 112-143.

Derry, C. (2021) Play, Museums and Cultural Organisations, Cardiff: Play Wales.

D'Haese, S., Van Dyck, D., De Bourdeaudhuij, I., Deforche, B. and Cardon, G. (2015) Organizing "Play Streets" During School Vacations Can Increase Physical Activity and Decrease Sedentary Time in Children, *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 12, 14.

Dhingra, S., Fry, E., Hale, S. and Jia, N. (2022) *The Big Brexit: An assessment of the scale of change to come from Brexit*, The Resolution Foundation.

di Domenico, S.I. and Ryan, R.M. (2017) The Emerging Neuroscience of Intrinsic Motivation: A new frontier in self-determination research, *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 11, 145.

Dias, J. and Whitaker, R. (2013) Black Mothers' Perceptions about Urban Neighborhood Safety and Outdoor Play for their Preadolescent Daughters, *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 24, pp. 206-219.

Dickerson, M. and Derry, C. (2021) Museums Becoming Different: Experiments in letting play occupy the museum, in Russell, W., Derry, C., Fitzpatrick, J. and Handscomb, B. (eds) *Stuff and Nonsense*, Redruth, Cornwall: Gwealan Tops Adventure Playground, pp. 155-174.

Dickinson, E. (2013) The Misdiagnosis: Rethinking "Nature-deficit Disorder", *Environmental Communication*, 7(3), pp. 315-335.

Dinella, L.M. and Weisgram, E.S. (2018) Gender-typing of Children's Toys: Causes, consequences, and correlates, *Sex Roles*, 79(5), pp. 253-259.

Doak, L. (2020) Realising the 'Right to Play' in the Special School Playground, *International Journal of Play*, 9(4), pp. 414-438.

Dodd, H.F. and Lester, K.J. (2021) Adventurous Play as a Mechanism for Reducing Risk for Childhood Anxiety: A conceptual model, *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 24, pp. 164-181.

Dodd, H.F., FitzGibbon, L., Watson, B.E. and Nesbit, R.J. (2021) Children's Play and Independent Mobility in 2020: Results from the British Children's Play Survey, *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18, 4334.

Dodd, H.F., Nesbit, R.J. and FitzGibbon, L. (2022) Child's Play: Examining the association between time spent playing and child mental health, *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 14, pp. 1-9.

Domínguez-Serrano, M., del Moral-Espín, L. and Gálvez Muñoz, L. (2019) A Well-being of their Own: Children's perspectives of well-being from the capabilities approach, *Childhood*, 26(1), pp. 22-38.

Dowd, N.E. (2016) Black Boys Matter: Developmental equality, Hofstra Law Review, 45(1), pp. 47-70.

Downing, G. (2013) Virtual Youth: Non-heterosexual young people's use of the internet to negotiate their identities and socio-sexual relations, *Children's Geographies*, 11(1), pp. 44-58.

Drewes, A.A. and Schaeffer, C.E. (2014) Introduction: How play therapy causes therapeutic change, in Schaeffer, C.E. and Drewes, A.A. (eds) *The Therapeutic Powers of Play: Twenty core agents of change,* (2nd ed), Hoboken, NJ.: Wiley and Sons, pp. 1-6.

Dueñas, J-M., Gonzàlez, L., Forcada, R., Duran-Bonavila, S. and Ferre-Rey, G. (2021) The Relationship Between Living with Dogs and Social and Emotional Development in Childhood, *Anthrozoös*, 34(1), pp. 33-46.

Dufford, A.J., Hahn, C.A., Peterson, H., Gini, S., Mehta, S., Alfano, A. and Scheinost, D. (2022) (Un)common Space in Infant Neuroimaging Studies: A systematic review of infant templates, *Human Brain Mapping*, 43(9), pp. 3007-3016.

Dumas, M. J. and Nelson, J. D. (2016) (Re)Imagining Black Boyhood: Toward a critical framework for educational research, *Harvard Educational Review*, 86(1), pp. 27-47.

Dumit, J. (2012) Critically Producing Brain Images of Mind, in Choudhury, S. and Slaby, J. (eds) *Critical Neuroscience:* A handbook of the social and cultural contexts of neuroscience, Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 195-225.

Durko, A.M. and Petrick, J.F. (2013) Family and Relationship Benefits of Travel Experiences: A literature review, *Journal of Travel Research*, 52(6), pp. 720-730.

Duschinsky, R., Greco, M. and Solomon, J. (2015) The Politics of Attachment: Lines of flight with Bowlby, Deleuze and Guattari, *Theory, Culture and Society*, 32(7-8), pp. 173-195.

Dyer, H. (2017) Queer Futurity and Childhood Innocence: Beyond the injury of development, *Global Studies of Childhood*, 7(3), pp. 290-302.

Dyment, J.E. and Bell, A.C. (2008) Grounds for Movement: Green school grounds as sites for promoting physical activity, *Health Education Research*, 23(6), pp. 952-962.

Eberle, S.G. (2014) The Elements of Play: Toward a philosophy and a definition of play, *American Journal of Play*, 6(2), pp. 214-233.

Edwards, R. and Gillies, V. (2020) (M)othering and the Politics of Early Intervention: Biologisation and the reproduction of gendered, classed and raced inequalities, *Revue des Politiques Sociales et Familiales*, 135, pp. 6-19.

Edwards, R., Gillies, V. and Gorin, S. (2022) Problem-solving for problem-solving: Data analytics to identify families for service intervention, *Critical Social Policy*, 42(2), pp. 265-284.

Edwards, R., Gillies, V. and Horsley, N. (2015) Brain Science and Early Years Policy: Hopeful ethos of 'cruel optimism', *Critical Social Policy*, 35(2), pp. 167-187.

Edwards, R.C. and Larson, B.M.H. (2020) When Screens Replace Backyards: Strategies to connect digital-media-oriented young people to nature, *Environmental Education Research*, 26(7), pp. 950-968.

Elkind, D. (2008) The Power of Play: Learning what comes naturally, American Journal of Play, 1(1), pp. 1-6.

Elliott, S. and Reid, M. (2019) Low-Income Black Mothers Parenting Adolescents in the Mass Incarceration Era: The long reach of criminalization, *American Sociological Review*, 84(2), pp. 197-219.

Engelen, L., Wyver, S., Perry, G., Bundy, A., Kit, T., Chan, Y., Ragen, J., Bauman, A. and Naughton, G. (2018) Spying on Children During a School Playground Intervention Using a Novel Method for Direct Observation of Activities During Outdoor Play, *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, 18(1), pp. 86-95.

Ergler, C.R., Kearns, R.A. and Witten, K. (2013) Seasonal and Locational Variations in Children's Play: Implications for wellbeing, *Social Science and Medicine*, 91, pp. 178-185.

Estrin, G.L. and Bhavnani, S. (2022) Brain Development: Structure, in Benson, J.B. (ed) *Encyclopedia of Infant and Early Childhood Development*, vol 1, Amsterdam: Elsevier, pp. 205-214.

Eyre, E.L.J., Duncan, M.J., Birch, S.L. and Cox, V. (2015) Environmental and School Influences on Physical Activity in South Asian Children from Low Socio-economic Backgrounds: A qualitative study, *Journal of Child Health Care*, 19(3), pp. 345-358.

Fagen, R. (2011) Play and Development, in Pellegrini, A.D. (ed) (2011) *The Oxford Handbook of the Development of Play,* Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 83-100.

Family Kids and Youth (2021) *Playful by Design: Free play in a digital world, survey report and findings*, London: Digital Futures Commission and 5Rights Foundation.

Farmer, V.L., Williams, S.M., Mann, J.I., Schofield, G., McPhee, J.C. and Taylor, R.W. (2017) The Effect of Increasing Risk and Challenge in the School Playground on Physical Activity and Weight in Children: A cluster randomised controlled trial (PLAY), *International Journal of Obesity*, 41(5), pp. 793-800.

Fattore, T. (2020) From Object to Praxis: A narrative of shifts in child well-being research, *Discourse: Journal of Childhood and Adolescence Research*, 2020(2), pp. 147-159.

Fattore, T., Fegter, S. and Huner-Kreisel, H. (2021) Refiguration of Childhoods in the Context of Digitalization: a cross-cultural comparison of children's spatial constitutions of well-being, *Forum: Qualitative Research*, 22(3), 10.

Fattore, T. and Mason, J. (2017) The Significance of the Social for Child Well-Being, *Children and Society*, 31, pp. 276-289.

Fearn, M. (2014) Working Therapeutically with Groups in the outdoors: A natural space for healing, in Prendiville, E. and Howard, J. (eds) *Play Therapy Today: Contemporary practice for individuals, groups and carers*, London: Routledge, pp. 7-28.

Fearn, M. and Troccoli, P. (2017) Being, Becoming and Healing through Movement and Touch, in Prendiville, E. and Howard, J. (eds) *Creative Psychotherapy: Applying the principles of neurobiology to play and expressive arts-based practice,* Abingdon, Oxon.: Routledge, pp. 101-120.

Ferguson, A. (2019) Playing Out: A grassroots street play revolution, Cities and Health, 3(102), pp. 20-28.

Ferguson, A., Skeels, I. and many other signatories (2021) *Dear PM, Outdoor Play is Essential for Children's Health and Wellbeing*, January 5.

Fink, D.B. and Ramstetter, C.L. (2018) "Even If They're Being Bad, Maybe They Need a Chance to Run Around": What children think about recess, *Journal of School Health*, 88(12), pp. 928-935.

Finn, P. (2022) Low-traffic Neighbourhoods in Ealing: Contested policy making in a polycentric governance environment, *Sage Advance*, Preprint.

Fletcher, R. (2017) Connection with Nature is an Oxymoron: A political ecology of "nature-deficit disorder", *The Journal of Environmental Education*, 48(4), pp. 226-233.

Foley, G.M. (2017) Play as Regulation: Promoting self-regulation through play, *Topics in Language Disorders*, 37(3), pp. 241-258.

Ford, T., John, A. and Gunnell, D. (2021) Mental Health of Children and Young People during Pandemic, *British Medical Journal*, 372, n614.

Foster, S., Villanueva, K., Wood, L., Christian, H. and Giles-Corti, B. (2014) The Impact of Parents' Fear of Strangers and Perceptions of Informal Social Control on Children's Independent Mobility, *Health and Place*, 26, pp. 60-68.

Fountain, J., Stewart, E. and Korner, N. (2013) Family Experiences of Visitor Attractions: Opportunities for 'family time' and 'own time', in Fountain, J. and Moore, K. (eds) *CAUTHE 2013: Tourism and Global Change: On the Edge of Something Big*, Christchurch, NZ: Lincoln University, pp. 222-226.

Foy-Phillips, P. and Lloyd-Evans, S. (2011) Shaping Children's Mobilities: Expectations of gendered parenting in the English rural idyll, *Children's Geographies*, 9(3-4), pp. 379-394.

Frago, L. and Graziano, T. (2021) Public Space and the Green City: Conflictual narratives of the superblock programme in Poblenou, Barcelona, *Journal of Urban Regeneration and Renewal*, 15(1), pp. 113-128.

Francis, M. (2016) The Making of Democratic Streets, Contesti, Città, Territori, Progetti, 1-2, pp. 192-213.

Fredrickson, B.L. (2013) Positive Emotions Broaden and Build, *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 47, pp. 1-53.

Freeman, C. (2020) Twenty-five Years of Children's Geographies: A planner's perspective, *Children's Geographies*, 18(1), pp. 110-121.

Frohlich, K.L. and Collins, P.A. (2023) Children's Right to the City and their Independent Mobility: Why it matters for public health, *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, Epub ahead of print.

Fromberg, D. (2015) How Nonlinear Systems Inform Meaning and Early Education, in Fromberg, D. and Bergen, D. (eds) *Play from Birth to Twelve: Contexts, perspectives and meanings,* New York: Routledge, pp. 419-434.

Frumkin, H., Bratman, G.N., Breslow, S.J., Cochran, B., Kahn, P.H., Jr, Lawler, J.J., Levin, P.S., Tandon, P.S., Varanasi, U., Wolf, K.L. and Wood, S.A. (2017) Nature Contact and Human Health: A research agenda, *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 125(7), 075001.

Furneaux, A. and Manaugh, K. (2019) Eyes on the Alley: Children's appropriation of alley space in Riverdale, Toronto, *Children's Geographies*, 17(2), pp. 204-216.

Future Generations Commissioner for Wales (2017) *Well-being in Wales: Planning today for a better tomorrow. Learning from the well-being assessments 2017*, Cardiff: Office of the Future Generations Commissioner.

Fyhri, A., Hjorthol, R., Mackett, R.L., Fotel, T.N. and Kyttä, M. (2011) Children's Active Travel and Independent Mobility in Four Countries: Development, social contributing trends and measures, *Transport policy*, 18(5), pp.703-710.

Garner, A. and Yogman, M. (2021) Preventing Childhood Toxic Stress: Partnering with families and communities `to promote relational health, *Pediatrics*, 148(2), e2021052582.

Garrison, J. (2008) A Problematic Alliance: Colonial anthropology, recapitulation theory, and G Stanley Hall's program for the liberation of America's youth, *American Educational History Journal*, 35(1), pp. 131-147.

Geary, K., Awoyemi, C. and Gracey, F. (2020) *Holiday Hunger Playworks Pilot 2019 Evaluation*, Cardiff: Welsh Government, GSR report number 08/2020.

Gellatly, R. and Marner, B. (2021) *Air Quality Monitoring Study: London school streets,* London: Air Quality Consultants.

Gerlach, A.J., Jenkins, E. and Hodgson, K. (2019) Disrupting Assumptions of Risky Play in the Context of Structural Marginalization: A community engagement project in a Canadian inner-city neighbourhood, *Health and Place*, 55, pp. 80-86.

Gibson, J.J. (1979) The Ecological Approach to Visual Perception, Boston, MT: Houghton, Mifflin and Company.

Gibson, J.L., Cornell, M. and Gill, T. (2017) A Systematic Review of Research into the Impact of Loose Parts Play on Children's Cognitive, Social and Emotional Development, *School Mental Health*, 9, pp. 295-309.

Giles, A.R., Bauer, M.E.E and Darroch, F.E. (2019) Risky Statement?: A critique of the Position Statement on Active Outdoor Play, *World Leisure Journal*, 61(1), pp. 58-66.

Gill, T. (2011) *Children and Nature: A quasi-systematic review of the empirical evidence,* London: London Sustainable Development Commission.

Gill, T. (2014a) The Play Return: A review of the wider impact of play initiatives, Children's Play Policy Forum.

Gill, T. (2014b) The Benefits of Children's Engagement with Nature: A systematic literature review. *Children, Youth & Environments*, 24(2), pp. 10-34.

Gill, T. (2015a) *Hackney Play Streets Evaluation Key Findings*, London: Hackney Play Association and Hackney Council.

Gill, T. (2015b) Play in the Good Times: The (English) inside story, *International Journal of Play*, 4(3), pp. 236-240.

Gill, T. (2018) A Natural Thing: Supporting outdoor play on housing estates in Hackney, London: Hackney Play Association.

Gill, T. (2019) Building Cities Fit for Children: Case studies of child-friendly urban planning and design in Europe and Canada, Winston Churchill Memorial Fund.

Gill, T. (2021) Urban Playground: How child-friendly planning and design can save cities, London: RIBA.

Gillies, V., Edwards, R. and Horsley, N. (2017) *Challenging the Politics of Early Intervention: Who's 'saving' children and why, Bristol: Policy Press.*

Gilpin, A.T., Brown, M.M. and Pierucci, J.M. (2015) Relations Between Fantasy Orientation and Emotion Regulation in Preschool, *Early Education and Development*, 26(7), pp. 920-932.

Giralt, R.M. (2011) In/visibility Strategies and Enacted Diversity: Sameness and belonging among young people of Latin American descent living in the north of England (UK), *Children's Geographies*, 9(3-4), pp. 331-345.

Gleave, J. and Cole-Hamilton, I. (2012) A World without Play: A literature review on the effects of a lack of play on children's lives, London: Play England and British Toys and Hobby Association.

Global Designing Cities Initiative (2016) *Global Street Design Guide,* New York: National Association of City Transportation Officials.

Glover, G.H. (2011) Overview of Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging, *Neurosurgery Clinics of North America*, 22(2), pp. 133-139.

Goddard Blythe, S. (2017) Attention, Balance and Coordination: The A.B.C. of learning success, Chichester: Wiley.

Goff, P., Jackson, M. and Di Leone, B. (2014) The Essence of Innocence: Consequences of dehumanizing Black children, *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 106(4), pp. 526-545.

Göncü, A. and Vadeboncoeur, J.A. (2015) Returning to Play: The critical location of play in children's sociocultural lives, in Douglas, S. and Stirling, L. (eds) *Children's Play, Pretense, and Story: Studies in culture, context, and autism spectrum disorder,* Abingdon, Oxon.: Routledge, pp. 294-313.

González-Carrasco, M., Vaqué, C., Malo, S., Crous, G., Casas, F. and Figuer, C. (2019) A Qualitative Longitudinal Study on the Well-being of Children and Adolescents, *Child Indicators Research*, 12, pp. 479-499.

Goodenough, A., Waite, S. and Wright, N. (2021) Place as Partner: Material and affective intra-play between young people and trees, *Children's Geographies*, 19(2), pp. 225-240.

Goodhall, N. and Atkinson, C. (2019) How Do Children Distinguish between 'Play' and 'Work'? Conclusions from the literature, *Early Child Development and Care*, 189(10), pp. 1695-1708.

Goodley, D. and Runswick-Cole, C. (2010) Emancipating Play: Dis/abled children, development and deconstruction, *Disability and Society*, 25 (4), pp. 499-512.

Goodman, A., Laverty, A.A., Thomas, A. and Aldred, R. (2021) The Impact of 2020 Low Traffic Neighbourhoods on Fire Service Emergency Response Times, in London, UK, *Findings*, May.

Gold, Z.S., Elicker, J., Evich, C.D., Mishra, A.A., Howe, N. and Weil, A.E. (2021) Engineering Play with Blocks as an Informal Learning Context for Executive Function and Planning, *Journal of Engineering Education*, 110(4), pp. 803-818.

Goodenough, A., Waite, S. and Wright, N. (2021) Place as Partner: Material and affective intra-play between young people and trees, *Children's Geographies*, 19(2), pp. 225-240.

Gordon, G. (2015) Integrating Conceptual Divisions within and between the Studies of Play and Well-being, in Johnson, J.E., Eberle, S.G., Henricks, T.S. and Kuschner, D. (eds) *The Handbook of the Study of Play*, Maryland: Rowman and Littlefield, pp. 467-476.

Gorrese, A. (2016) Peer Attachment and Youth Internalizing Problems: A meta-analysis, *Child Youth Care Forum*, 45, pp. 177-204.

Gorrese, A. and Ruggieri, R. (2012) Peer Attachment: A meta-analytic review of gender and age differences and associations with parent attachment, *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 41(5), pp. 650-672.

Great Ormond Street Hospital (2021) The Power of Play, London: Great Ormond Street Hospital.

Gottschalk, F. (2019) Impacts of Technology Use on Children: Exploring literature on the brain, cognition and well-being, *OECD Education Working Papers*, *No. 195*, Paris: OECD Publishing.

Graber, K.M., Byrne, E.M., Goodacre, E.J., Kirby, N., Kulkarni, K., O'Farrelly, C. and Ramchandani, P.G. (2021) A Rapid Review of the Impact of Quarantine and Restricted Environments on Children's Play and the Role of Play in Children's Health, *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 47(2), pp. 143-153.

Granic, I., Lobel, A. and Engels. R.C.M.E (2014) The Benefits of Playing Video Games, *American Psychologist*, 69(1), pp. 66-78.

Grant, H. (2022) Pupils Block London Council's Attempts to Remove Play Space Near School, *The Guardian*, 28 October.

Gray, C., Gibbons, R., Larouche, R., Hansen Sandseter, E.B., Bienenstock, A., Brussoni, M., Chabot, G., Herrington, S., Janssen, I., Pickett, W., Power, M., Stanger, N., Sampson, M. and Tremblay, M.S. (2015) What is the Relationship Between Outdoor Time and Physical Activity, Sedentary Behaviour, and Physical Fitness in Children? A systematic review, *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 12, pp. 6455-6474.

Gray, P. (2011) The Decline of Play and the Rise of Psychopathology in Children and Adolescents, *American Journal of Play*, 3(4), pp. 443-463.

Gray, P. (2019) Evolutionary Functions of Play: Practice, resilience, innovation, and cooperation, in Smith, P.K. and Roopnarine, J. (eds) *The Cambridge Handbook of Play: Developmental and Disciplinary Perspectives*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp 84-102.

Gray, P. (2020) Risky Play: Why Children love and need it, in Loebach, J., Little, S., Cox, A. and Eubanks Owens, P. (eds) *The Routledge Handbook of Designing Public Spaces for Young People: Processes, Practices and Policies for Youth Inclusion*, London: Routledge, pp. 39-51.

Gray, P., Lancy, D.F. and Bjorklund, D.F. (2023) Decline in Independent Activity as a Cause of Decline in Children's Mental Wellbeing: Summary of the evidence, *The Journal of Pediatrics*.

Grieshaber, S. and McArdle, F. (2010) The Trouble with Play, Maidenhead, Berkshire: Open University Press.

Grimes, S.M. (2015) Configuring the Child Player, Science, Technology, and Human Values, 40(1), pp. 126-148.

Gulyurtlu, S., Jacobs, N. and Evans, I. (2020) The Impact of Children's Play in Hospital, London: Starlight.

Hakkarainen, P. and Bredikyte, M. (2008) The Zone of Proximal Development in Play and Learning, *Cultural-Historical Psychology*, 4, pp. 2-11.

Hammersley, M. (2016) Childhood Studies: A sustainable paradigm?, Childhood, 24(1), pp. 113-127.

Hanscom, A.J. (2016) *Balanced and Barefoot: How unrestricted outdoor play makes for strong, confident, and capable children*, Oakland, CA.: New Harbinger.

Hanson, K., Abebe, T., Aitken, S.C., Balagopalan, S. and Punch., S. (2018) 'Global/local' Research on Children and Childhood in a 'Global Society', *Childhood*, 25(3), pp. 272-296.

HAPPEN (2018) How to Improve Child Wellbeing - According to pupils in HAPPEN, 3 December.

Harden, J., Backett-Milburn, K., MacLean, A., Cunningham-Burley, S. and Jamieson, L. (2013) Home and Away: Constructing family and childhood in the context of working parenthood, *Children's Geographies*, 11(3), pp. 298-310.

Harding, S. (2020) Getting to the Point? Reframing narratives on knife crime, Youth Justice, 20(1-2), pp. 31-49.

Harker, C. (2005) Playing and Affective Time-spaces, Children's Geographies, 3(1), pp. 47-62.

Harris, P. (2017) Nostalgia and Play, in Russell, W., Lester, S. and Smith, H. (eds) *Practice-based Research in Children's Play*, Bristol: Policy Press, pp. 17-32.

Hart, J. and Parkhurst, G. (2011) Driven to Excess: Impacts of motor vehicles on the quality of life of residents of three streets in Bristol UK, World Transport Policy and Practice, 17(2), pp. 12-30.

Hart, R. (2014) Children, Self-governance and Citizenship, in Burke, C. and Jones, K. (eds) *Education, childhood and anarchism: Talking Colin Ward*, London: Routledge, pp. 123-138.

Harwood, D., Barratt, J. and Collier, D. (2019) Entanglements in the Forest: The orange GoPro camera and the children who wear them, *The International Journal of Early Childhood Environmental Education*, 7(1), pp. 57-72.

Heft, H. and Kyttä, M. (2006) A Psychologically Meaningful Description of Environments Requires a Relational Approach, *Housing, Theory and Society*, 23(4), pp. 210-213.

Held, S.D.E and Špinka, M. (2011) Animal Play and Animal Welfare, Animal Behaviour, 81(5), pp. 891-899.

Helleman, G. (2021) Playing Outside: Who, where and what? Urban Springtime, 15 December.

Henricks, T.S. (2014) Play as Self-Realization: Toward a general theory of play, *American Journal of Play*, 6(2), pp. 190-213.

Henricks, T.S. (2015) Play and the Human Condition, Chicago, II.: University of Illinois Press.

Herzberg, O., Fletcher, K.K., Schatz, J.L., Adolph, K.E. and Tamis-LeMonda, C.S. (2022) Infant Exuberant Object Play at Home: Immense amounts of time-distributed, variable practice, *Child Development*, 93(1), pp. 150-164.

Hewes, J. (2014) Seeking Balance in Motion: The role of spontaneous free play in promoting social and emotional health in early childhood care and education, *Children*, 1, pp. 280-301.

Hinchion, S., McAuliffe, E. and Lynch, H. (2021) Fraught with Frights or Full of Fun: Perspectives of risky play among six- to eight-year olds, *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 29(5), pp. 696-714.

Hobbs, M., Green, M.A., Griffiths, C., Jordan, H., Saunders, J., Grimmer, H. and McKenna, J. (2017) Access and Quality of Parks and Associations with Obesity: A cross-sectional study, *Social Science and Medicine – Population Health*, 3, pp. 722-729.

Hoffmann, J. and Russ, S. (2012) Pretend Play, Creativity, and Emotion Regulation in Children, *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts*, 6(2), pp. 175-184.

Holder, M.D. and Coleman, B. (2015) Children's Friendships and Positive Well-being, in Demir, M. (ed) *Friendship and Happiness: Across the life-span and cultures*, Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer Science and Business Media, pp. 81-97.

Holloway, S.L., Hilt, L. and Mills, S. (2019) Questions of Agency: Capacity, subjectivity, spatiality and temporality, *Progress in Human Geography*, 43(3) pp. 458-477.

Holloway, S. and Pimlott-Wilson, H. (2014) Enriching Children, Institutionalizing Childhood? *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 104, pp. 613-627.

Holloway, S. and Pimlott-Wilson, H. (2018) Reconceptualising Play: Balancing childcare, extra-curricular clubs and free play in contemporary childhoods, *Transactions of the Institute British Geographers*, 43, pp. 420-434.

Holmberg, L. (2018) The Future of Childhood Studies? Reconstructing childhood with ideological dilemmas and metaphorical expressions, *Childhood*, 25(2), pp. 158-172.

Holt, L. and Murray, L. (2021) Children and Covid 19 in the UK, Children's Geographies, 20(4), pp. 487-494.

Holt, N.L., Lee, H., Millar, C.A. and Spence, J.C. (2015) 'Eyes on Where Children Play': A retrospective study of active free play, *Children's Geographies*, 13(1), pp. 73-88.

Holt, N.L., Neely, K.C., Spence, J.C., Carson, V., Pynn, S.R., Boyd, K.A., Ingstrup, M. and Robinson, Z. (2016) An Intergenerational Study of Perceptions of Changes in Active Free Play among Families from Rural Areas of Western Canada, *BMC Public Health*, 16, 829.

Hooper, C.M., Ivory, V.C. and Fougere, G. (2015) Childhood Neighbourhoods as Third Places: Developing durable skills and preferences that enhance wellbeing in adulthood, *Health and Place*, 34, pp. 34-45.

Horton, J. (2017) Disabilities, Urban Natures and Children's Outdoor Play, *Social and Cultural Geography*, 18(8), pp. 1152-117.

Horton, J., Christensen, P., Kraftl, P. and Hadfield-Hill, S. (2014) 'Walking ... Just Walking': How children and young people's everyday pedestrian practices matter, *Social and Cultural Geography*, 15(1), pp. 94-115.

Horton, J. and Kraftl, P. (2018a) Rats, Assorted Shit and 'Racist Groundwater': Towards extra-sectional understandings of childhoods and socio-material processes, *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, 36(5), pp. 926-948.

Horton, J. and Kraftl, P. (2018b) Three Playgrounds: Researching the multiple geographies of outdoor play, *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, 50(1), pp. 214-235.

Howard, J., Miles, G.E., Rees-Davies, L. and Bertenshaw, E. (2017) Play in Middle Childhood: Everyday play behaviour and associated emotions, *Children and Society*, 31, pp. 378-389.

Hyndman, B.P., Benson, A.C., Ullah, S. and Telford, A. (2014) Evaluating the Effects of the Lunchtime Enjoyment Activity and Play (LEAP) School Playground Intervention on Children's Quality of Life, Enjoyment and Participation in Physical Activity, *Public Health*, 14, 164.

Hyndman, B. and Telford, A. (2015) Should Educators be "Wrapping School Playgrounds in Cotton Wool" to Encourage Physical Activity? Exploring primary and secondary students' voices from the school playground, *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 40(6), pp. 60-84.

Jablonka, E. and Lamb, M.J. (2007) Précis of 'Evolution in Four Dimensions', *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 30, pp. 353-392.

Jablonka, E. and Lamb, M.J. (2014) *Evolution in Four Dimensions: Genetic, Epigenetic, Behavioral, and Symbolic Variation in the History of Life,* revised edition, Cambridge, MA.: MIT Press.

Jack, G. (2015) 'I May Not Know Who I Am, but I Know Where I Am From': The meaning of place in social work with children and families, *Child and Family Social Work*, 20(4), pp. 415-423.

Jack, G. (2016) The Role of Place Attachments in Wellbeing, in Atkinson, S., Fuller, S. and Painter, J. (eds) *Wellbeing and Place*, Abingdon, Oxon.: Routledge, pp. 89-103.

Jackson, E. and McGlone, F. (2020) The Impact of Play on the Developing Social Brain: New insights from the neurobiology of touch, in Courtney, J.A. (ed) *Infant Play Therapy: Foundations, models, programs, and practice,* London: Routledge, pp. 18-36.

Jackson, R. (2017) Your Space or Mine? Play in out of school clubs, in Russell, W., Lester, S. and Smith, H. (eds) *Practice-based Research in Children's Play*, Bristol: Policy Press, pp. 127-142.

Jago, R., Thompson, J.L., Page, A.S., Brockman, R., Cartwright, K. and Fox, K.R. (2009) Licence to be Active: Parental concerns and 10-11-year-old children's ability to be independently physically active, *Journal of Public Health*, 31(4), pp. 472-477.

James, A. (2010) Competition or Integration? The next step in childhood studies? Childhood, 17(4), pp. 485-499.

James, A., Jenks, C. and Prout, A. (1998) Theorising Childhood. London: Polity.

James, A. and Prout, A. (eds) (1997) *Constructing and reconstructing childhood: Contemporary Issues in the Sociological Study of Childhood,* London: Falmer Press.

James, S.M. (2012) Survey of the Impact of Scrapstore PlayPod in Primary Schools, Bristol: Scrapstore PlayPod.

Janssen, I. (2014) Active Play: An important physical activity strategy in the fight against childhood obesity, *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 105(1), e22–e27.

Janssen, I. and LeBlanc, A.G. (2010) Systematic Review of the Health Benefits of Physical Activity and Fitness in School-aged Children and Youth, *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 7, 40.

Janssen, I., Ferrao, T. and King, N. (2015) Individual, Family, and Neighborhood Correlates of Independent Mobility among 7 to 11-year-olds, *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 3, pp. 98-102.

Janssen, X., Mann, K., Basterfield, L., Parkinson, K., Pearce, M., Reilly, J., Adamson, A. and Reilly, J. (2016) Development of Sedentary Behavior across Childhood and Adolescence: Longitudinal analysis of the Gateshead Millennium Study, *International Journal of Behavioural Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 13, 88.

Jansson, M., Sundevall, E. and Wales, M. (2016) The Role of Green Spaces and Their Management in a Child-friendly Urban Village, *Urban Forestry and Urban Greening*, 18, pp. 228-236.

Jeffres, L.W., Bracken, C.C., Jian, G. and Casey, M.F. (2009) The Impact of Third Places on Community Quality of Life, *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, 4(4), pp. 333-345.

Jelleyman, C., McPhee, J., Brussoni, M., Bundy, A. and Duncan, S. (2019) A Cross-sectional Description of Parental Perceptions and Practices Related to Risky Play and Independent Mobility in Children: The New Zealand state of play survey, *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(2), pp. 262.

Jennings, H. (2016) Rules for a Playful Museum – Manchester Museum.

Jenssen, B.P., Kelly, M.K., Powell, M., Boucehelle, Z., Mayne, S.L. and Fiks, A.G. (2021) COVID-19 and Changes in Child Obesity, *Pediatrics*, 147(5), e2021050123.

Joelsson, T. (2022) "I get a whiz in my body as I walk past it": Visceral imaginaries in children's everyday mobilities, *Emotion, Space and Society*, 45, 100912.

Johanson, K. (2010) Culture for or by the child? 'Children's culture' and cultural policy, Poetics, 38, pp. 386-401.

Johansson, B. and Hultgren, F. (2016) Children and Young People's Participation in Cultural Activities, in Evans, B., Horton, J. and Skelton, T. (eds) *Play, Recreation, Health and Well-being, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 9, Singapore: Springer, pp. 134-154.

Johansson, M., Raustorp, A., Mårtensson, F., Boldemann, C., Sternudd, C. and Kylin, M. (2011) Attitudinal Antecedents of Children's Sustainable Every Day Mobility, in Gronau, W., Reiter, K. and Pressl, R. (eds) *Transport and Health Issues: Studies on mobility and transport research*, vol. 3, Verlag MetaGISInfosysteme, Mannheim, pp. 55-68.

Johnson, J.E. and Dong, P.I. (2019) Methods of Studying Play, in Smith, P.K. and Roopnarine, J.L. (eds) *The Cambridge Handbook of Play: Developmental and disciplinary perspectives*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 399-415.

Johnson, J.E., Eberle, S.G., Henricks, T.S. and Kuschner, D. (eds) (2015) *The Handbook of the Study of Play*, Maryland: Rowman and Littlefield.

Jones, O. (2018) 'Bear Necessities': Toys, settings and emotional becoming, *Children's Geographies*, 16(4), `pp. 459-460.

Jones, R., Goodwin-Hawkins, B. and Woods, M. (2020) From Territorial Cohesion to Regional Spatial Justice: The Well-Being of Future Generations Act in Wales, *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, 445, pp. 894-912.

Jorquera-Cabrera, S., Romero-Ayuso, D., Rodriguez-Gil, G. and Triviño-Juárez, J-M. (2017) Assessment of Sensory Processing Characteristics in Children between 3 and 11 Years Old: A systematic review, *Frontiers in Pediatrics*, 5, 57.

Josephidou, J. and Bolshaw, P. (2020) *Understanding Gender and Early Childhood: An introduction to the key debates*, London: Routledge.

Juhila, K., Raitakari, S. and Hansen Löfstrand, C. (2017) Responsibilisation in Governmentality Literature, in Juhila, K., Raitakari, S. and Hall, C. (eds) *Responsibilisation at the Margins of Welfare Services*. Abingdon, Oxon.: Routledge, pp. 11-34.

Kallio, K.P., de Sousa, M.L., Mitchell, K., Häkli, J., Tulumello, S., Meier, I., Carastathis, A., Spathopoulou, A., Tsilimpounidi, M., Bird, G., Russell Beattie, A., Obradovic-Wochnik, J., Rozbicka, P. and Riding, J. (2020) Covid-19 discloses unequal geographies, *Fennia – International Journal of Geography*, 198(1-2), pp. 1-16.

Kane, E., Ljusberg, A-L. and Larsson, H. (2013) Making Magic Soup – The facilitation of play in school-age childcare, *International Journal of Play*, 2(1), pp. 7-21.

Karoff, H.S. and Jessen, C. (2008) New Play Culture and Playware, in Proceedings for BIN2008.

Karsten, L. (2005) It All Used to be Better? Different generations on continuity and change in urban children's daily use of space, *Children's Geographies*, 3(3), pp. 275-290.

Karsten, L. (2015) Middle Class Childhood and Parenting Culture in High-rise Hong Kong: On scheduled lives, the school trap and a new urban idyll, *Children's Geographies*, 5, pp. 556-570.

Katz, C. (2019) Accumulation, Dispossession, and Waste in Childhood and Children's Everyday Lives, in Skelton, T. and Aitken, S.C. (eds) *Establishing Geographies of Children and Young People, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 1., Singapore: Springer, pp. 129-146.

Kearns, R.A., Carroll, P., Asiasiga, L. and Witten, K. (2016) Variegated Nature of Play for Auckland Children, in Evans, B. and Horton, J. (eds) *Play and Recreation, Health and Well-being, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 9, Singapore: Springer, pp. 273-291.

Keenan, H. and Lil Miss Hot Mess (2020) Drag pedagogy: The Playful Practice of Queer Imagination in Early Childhood, *Curriculum Inquiry*, 50(5), pp. 440-461.

Kellman, J. and Radwan, K. (2022) Towards an Expanded Neuroscientific Understanding of Social Play, *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 132, pp. 884-891.

Kellock, A. and Lawthom, R. (2011) Sen's Capability Approach: Children and well-being explored through the use of photography, in Biggeri, M., Ballet, J. and Comin, F. (eds) *Children and the Capability Approach: Child Labour, Education and Participation*, Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 137-161.

Khan, M., Smith, T. and Harris, N. (2022) Co-designing a Greener, Fairer and Stronger Community for Children's Wellbeing, *SALUS - Global Knowledge Exchange*.

Kimbro, R.T. and Schachter, A. (2011) Neighborhood Poverty and Maternal Fears of Children's Outdoor Play, *Family Relations*, 60(4), pp. 461-475.

Kinard, T., Gainer, J., Valdez-Gainer, N., Volk, D. and Long, S. (2021) Interrogating the "Gold Standard": Play-based early childhood education and perpetuating white supremacy, *Theory into Practice*, 60(3), pp. 322-332.

King, P. (2021) The Impact of COVID-19 on Playwork Practice, Child Care in Practice, advance online.

Kinney, L. and Smith, C. (2021) Journeys Towards a More Playful Zoo, in Russell, W., Derry, C., Fitzpatrick, J. and Handscomb, B. (eds) *Stuff and Nonsense*, Redruth, Cornwall: Gwealan Tops Adventure Playground, pp. 51-58.

Klemenović, J. (2014) How Do Today's Children Play and with Which Toys?, *Croatian Journal of Education*, 16(1), pp. 181-200.

Knibbs, S., Pope, S., Dobie, S. and D'Souza, J. (2013) *National Evaluation of Flying Start: Impact Report*, Cardiff: Welsh Government Social Research.

Knight, H. (2019) Centering the Problem Child: Temporality, colonialism, and theories of the child, *Global Studies of Childhood*, 9(1) pp. 72-83.

Koch, A.B. (2018) Children's Perspectives on Happiness and Subjective Well-being in Preschool, *Children and Society*, 32, pp. 73-83.

Koller, D. and Farley, M. (2019) Examining Elements of Children's Place Attachment, *Children's Geographies*, 17(4), pp. 491-500.

Konstantoni, K. and Emejulu, A. (2017) When Intersectionality Met Childhood Studies: The dilemmas of a travelling concept, *Children's Geographies*, 15(1), pp. 6-22.

Konstantoni, K., Kustatscher, M., Emejulu, A. and Sime, D. (2014) *Intersectional Childhoods and Inequalities: Seminar Series Briefing*, University of Edinburgh, CERES, SHRC, Scottish Universities Insight Institute, SCCYP and University of Strathclyde.

Kosher, H. and Ben-Arieh, A. (2017) What Children Think About Their Rights and Their Well-being: A cross-national comparison, *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 87(3), pp. 256-273.

Kottman, T. (2011) *Play Therapy: Basics and beyond,* (2nd ed), Alexandria, VA.: American Counseling Association.

Koukourikos, K., Tzeha, L., Pantelidou, P. and Tsaloglidou, A. (2015) The Importance of Play During Hospitalization of Children, *Materia SocioMedica*, 27(6), pp. 438-441.

Kourti, A., Stavridou, A., Panagouli, E., Psaltopoulou, T., Tsolia, M., Sergentanis, T.N. and Tsitsika, A. (2021) Play Behaviors in Children during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A review of the literature, *Children*, 8, 706.

Koziol, L.F., Budding, D.E. and Chidekel, D. (2012) From Movement to Thought: Executive function, embodied cognition, and the cerebellum, *Cerebellum*, 11(2), p. 505-525.

Kraftl, P. (2020a) *After Childhood: Re-thinking environment, materiality and media in children's lives,* London: Routledge.

Kraftl, P. (2020b) Including children and young people in building cities A provocation paper, The British Academy.

Kraftl, P., Balastieri, J.A.P., Campos, A.E.M., Coles, B., Hadfield-Hill, S., Horton, J., Soares, P.V., Vilanova, M.R.N., Walker, C. and Zara, C. (2018) (Re)thinking (re)connection: Young people, "natures" and the water-energy-food nexus in São Paulo State, Brazil, *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 44(2), pp. 299-314.

Kraftl, P., Bolt, G. and Van Kempen, R. (2019) Hyper-diversity in/and Geographies of Childhood and Youth, *Social and Cultural Geography*, 20(9), pp. 1189-1197.

Kraftl, P. and Horton, J. (2019) Children's Geographies and the "New Wave" of Childhood Studies, in Spyrou, S., Rosen R. and Cook, D.T. (eds) *Reimagining Childhood Studies*, London: Bloomsbury, pp. 105-119.

Krakauer, J.W., Ghazanfar, A.A., Gomez-Marin, A., MacIver, M.A. and Poeppel, D. (2017) Neuroscience Needs Behavior: Correcting a reductionist bias, *Neuron*, 93(3), pp. 480-490.

Kreutz, A. (2020) The Mission: Engaging Aboriginal Australian children in the redesign of community public spaces, in Loebach, J., Little, S., Cox, A. and Eubanks Owens, P. (eds) *The Routledge Handbook of Designing Public Spaces for Young People: Processes, Practices and Policies for Youth Inclusion*, London: Routledge, pp. 289-307.

Krysiak, N. (2018) Where Do the Children Play? Designing child-friendly compact cities, Australian Institute of Architects.

Kvist Lindholm, S. and Wickström, A. (2020) 'Looping Effects' Related to Young People's Mental Health: How young people transform the meaning of psychiatric concepts, *Global Studies of Childhood*, 10(1), pp. 26-38.

Kyttä, M. (2004) The Extent of Children's Independent Mobility and the Number of Actualized Affordances as Criteria for Child-Friendly Environments, *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 24(2), pp. 179-198.

Kyttä, M., Oliver, M., Ikeda, E., Ahmadi, E., Omiya, I. and Laatikainen, T. (2018) Children as Urbanites: Mapping the affordances and behavior settings of urban environments for Finnish and Japanese children, *Children's Geographies*, 16(3), pp. 319-332.

LaFreniere, P. (2011) Evolutionary Functions of Social Play: Life histories, sex differences, and emotion regulation, *American Journal of Play*, 3(4), pp. 464-488.

LaFreniere, P. (2013) Children's Play as a Context for Managing Physiological Arousal and Learning Emotion Regulation, *Psihologijske Teme*, 22(2), pp. 183-204.

Lambert, A., Vlaar, J., Herrington, S. and Brussoni, M. (2019) What Is the Relationship between the Neighbourhood Built Environment and Time Spent in Outdoor Play? A systematic review, *International Journal of Environmental Research in Public Health*, 16, 3840.

Lambert, M. (2019) Between "Families in Trouble" and "Children at Risk": Historicising "troubled family" policy in England since 1945, *Children and Society*, 33, pp. 82-91.

Langley, K., Collishaw, S., Williams, M. and Shelton, K.H. (2017) An Investigation of Changes in Children's Mental Health in Wales between 2007/2008 and 2012/2013, *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 52(6), pp. 639-642.

Laoire, C.N. (2011) 'Girls Just Like to be Friends with People': Gendered experiences of migration among children and youth in returning Irish migrant families, *Children's Geographies*, 9(3-4), pp. 303-318.

Larouche, R., Garriguet, D. and Tremblay, M.S. (2017) Outdoor Time, Physical Activity and Sedentary Time among Young Children: The 2012-2013 Canadian Health Measures Survey, *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 107(6), e500-e506.

Larson, L.R., Szczytko, R., Bowers, E.P., Stephens, L.E., Stevenson, K.T. and Floyd, M.F. (2019) Outdoor Time, Screen Time, and Connection to Nature: Troubling trends among rural youth? *Environment and Behavior*, 51(8), pp. 966-991.

Larson, L.R., Whiting, J.W. and Green, G.T. (2013) Young People's Outdoor Recreation and State Park Use: Perceived benefits from the parent/guardian perspective, *Children, Youth and Environments*, 23, pp. 89-118.

Laruffa, F. (2018) Towards a Post-Neoliberal Social Policy? Social investment versus capability approach, Momentum Quarterly – Zeitschrift Für Sozialen Fortschritt, 7(4), pp. 171-187.

Laverty, A.A., Aldred, R. and Goodman, A. (2021) The Impact of Introducing Low Traffic Neighbourhoods on Road Traffic Injuries, *Findings*, January.

Layard, A. (2019) Privatising Land in England, *Journal of Property, Planning and Environmental Law*, 11(2), pp. 151-168.

Leadbitter, K., Buckle, K.L., Ellis, C. and Dekker, M. (2021) Autistic Self-Advocacy and the Neurodiversity Movement: Implications for autism early intervention research and practice, *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 635690.

Lee, A. and Hood, B. (2021) The Origins and Development of Attachment Object Behaviour, *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 39, pp. 72-75.

Lee, H., Tamminen, K.A., Clark, A.M., Slater, L., Spence, J.C. and Holt, N.L. (2015) A Meta-study of Qualitative Research Examining Determinants of Children's Independent Active Free Play, *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 12(1), pp. 1-12.

Lee, K.L. and Blumberg, B. (2019) Transgenerational Effects of Obesogens, *Basic and Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 125(Suppl. 3), pp. 44-57.

Lee, R.L.T., Lane, S., Brown, G., Leung, C., Kwok, S.W.H. and Chan, S.W.C. (2020) Systematic Review of the Impact of Unstructured Play Interventions to Improve Young Children's Physical, Social, and Emotional Wellbeing, *Nursing and Health Sciences*, 22(2), pp. 184-196.

Leggett, N. and Newman, L. (2017) Play: Challenging educators' beliefs about play in the indoor and outdoor environment, *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, 42(1), pp. 24-32.

Lehman-Frisch, S., Authier, J-Y. and Dufaux, F. (2012) 'Draw Me Your Neighbourhood': A gentrified Paris neighbourhood through its children's eyes, *Children's Geographies*, 10(1), pp. 17-34.

Lenz Taguchi, H. (2014) New Materialisms and Play, in Brooker, E., Blaise, M. and Edwards, S. (eds) *Sage Handbook of Play and Learning in Early Childhood*, London: Sage: pp. 79-90.

Lester, S. (2016) Posthuman Nature: Life beyond the natural playground, in MacLean, M., Russell, W. and Ryall, E. (eds) *Philosophical Perspectives on Play*, London: Routledge, pp. 53-67.

Lester, S. (2020) *Everyday Playfulness: A new approach to children's play and adult responses to it,* London: Jessica Kingsley.

Lester, S., Jones, O. and Russell, W. (2011) Supporting School Improvement through Play: An evaluation of South Gloucestershire's Outdoor Play and Learning Programme, London: National Children's Bureau.

Lester, S. and Russell, W. (2008) *Play for a Change: Play, Policy and Practice – A review of contemporary perspectives*, London: National Children's Bureau.

Lester, S. and Russell, W. (2010) *Children's Right to Play: An examination of the importance of play in the lives of children worldwide*, The Hague: Bernard van Leer Foundation.

Lester, S. and Russell, W. (2013) *Leopard Skin Wellies, a Top Hat and a Vacuum Cleaner Hose: An analysis of Wales' Play Sufficiency Assessment Duty,* Cardiff: Play Wales.

Lester, S. and Russell, W. (2014a) *Towards Securing Sufficient Play Opportunities: A short study into the preparation undertaken for the commencement of the second part of the Welsh Government's Play Sufficiency Duty to secure sufficient play opportunities*, Cardiff: Play Wales.

Lester, S. and Russell, W. (2014b) Turning the World Upside Down: Playing as the deliberate creation of uncertainty, *Children*, 1(2), pp. 241-260.

Lester, S., Strachan, A. and Derry, C. (2014) A More Playful Museum: Exploring issues of institutional space, children's play and well-being, *International Journal of Play*, 3(1), pp. 24-35.

Levinovitz, A. (2017) Towards a Theory of Toys and Toy-Play, Human Studies, 40(2), pp. 267-284.

Lewis, P.J. (2017) The Erosion of Play, International Journal of Play, 6(1), pp. 10-23.

Leyshon, M. (2016) Rural Youth Identity Formation: Stories of movement and memories of place, in Evans, B., Horton, J. and Skelton, T. (eds) *Play, Recreation, Health and Well-being, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 9, Singapore: Springer, pp. 237-254.

Li, C. and Seymour, M. (2019) Children's Perceptions of Neighbourhood Environments for Walking and Outdoor Play, *Landscape Research*, 44(4), pp. 430-443.

Lifter, K., Mason, E.J., Minami, T., Cannarella, A. and Tennant, R. (2022) Emergent Patterns in the Development of Young Children's Object Play, *Acta Psychologica*, 224, 103524.

Lillard, A.S., Lerner, M.D., Hopkins, E.J., Dore, R.A., Smith, E.D. and Palmquist, C.M. (2013) The Impact of Pretend Play on Children's Development: A review of the evidence, *Psychological Bulletin*, 139(1), pp. 1-34.

Lincoln, S. (2016) Bedroom Culture: A review of research, in Nairn, K., Kraftl, P. and Skelton, T. (ed) *Space, Place, and Environment, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 3, Singapore: Springer, pp. 421-439.

Lindsey, E.W. and Colwell, M.J. (2013) Pretend and Physical Play: Links to preschoolers' affective social competence, *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 59(3), pp. 330-360.

Little, H. and Stapleton, M. (2021) Exploring Toddlers' Rituals of 'Belonging' Through Risky Play in the Outdoor Environment, *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, advance online.

Living Streets (2019) Rising Traffic Driving Children off Local Streets.

Livingstone, S., Davidson, J., Bryce, J., Batool, S., Haughton, C. and Nandi, A. (2017) *Children's Online Activities, Risks and Safety: A literature review by the UKCCIS evidence group*, London: LSE Consulting.

Loebach, J. (2020) 'Green Direction': Illustrating a framework for integrating youth into the design and building of public spaces, in Loebach, J., Little, S., Cox, A. and Eubanks Owens, P. (eds) *The Routledge Handbook of Designing Public Spaces for Young People: Processes, Practices and Policies for Youth Inclusion*, London: Routledge, pp. 166-195.

Loebach, J. and Gilliland, J.A. (2016a) Neighbourhood Play on the Endangered List: Examining patterns in children's local activity and mobility using GPS monitoring and qualitative GIS, *Children's Geographies*, 14950, pp. 573-589.

Loebach, J.E. and Gilliland, J.A. (2016b) Free Range Kids? Using GPS-derived activity spaces to examine children's neighborhood activity and mobility, *Environment and Behavior*, 48(3), pp. 421-453.

Loebach, J., Sanches, M., Jaffe, J. and Elton-Marshall, T. (2021) Paving the Way for Outdoor Play: Examining socio-environmental barriers to community-based outdoor play, *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(7), 3617.

Loebenberg, A. (2012) Consumption, Collection, Creativity: Micro-Local Practices within Children's Bedroom Play in Urban Vancouver, *Material Culture Review*, 74-75, pp. 116-130.

Loebenberg, A. (2013) Playing in Virtual Spaces: Using ethnography to explore a new area of research, *International Journal of Play*, 2(2), pp. 117-133.

Loebenberg, A. (2018) What Is the State of Play?, International Journal of Play, 7(1), pp. 3-7.

Lockman, J.L. and Tamis-LeMonda, C.S. (2021) Young Children's Interactions with Objects: Play as practice and practice as play, *Annual Review of Developmental Psychology*, 3(1), pp. 165-186.

Loizou, E. (2017) Towards Play Pedagogy: Supporting teacher play practices with a teacher guide about sociodramatic and imaginative play, *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 25(5), pp. 784-795.

London Borough of Hackney Council (2022) Play Streets, 23 May.

Long, A. (2017) It's Not Just About 'More': A research project exploring satisfaction with opportunities to play, for children in two Welsh neighbouring communities, *International Journal of Play*, 6(1), pp. 24-39.

Long, A. Delorme, M. and Brown, F. (2014) *Developing a Culture of Play: A follow-up report to the Wrexham play sufficiency assessment*, Leeds: Leeds Beckett University.

López, I., Ortega, J. and Pardo, M. (2020) Mobility Infrastructures in Cities and Climate Change: An analysis through the superblocks in Barcelona, *Atmosphere*, 11(4), 410.

Lopez Frías, F.J. (2020) Does Play Constitute the Good Life? Suits and Aristotle on autotelicity and living well, *Journal of the Philosophy of Sport*, 47(2), pp. 68-182.

Loukaitou-Sideris, A., Brozen, M., Abad Ocubillo, R. and Ocubillo, K. (2013) *Reclaiming the Right-of-Way Evaluation Report: An Assessment of the Spring Street Parklets*, UCLA: The Ralph and Goldy Lewis Center for Regional Policy Studies.

Louv, R. (2005) Last Child in the Woods: Saving our children from nature-deficit disorder, London: Atlantic Books.

Love, R., Adams, J. and van Sluijs, E.M.F. (2019) Are School-based Physical Activity Interventions Effective and Equitable? A meta-analysis of cluster randomized controlled trials with accelerometer-assessed activity, *Obesity Review*, 20(6), pp. 859-870.

Luchs, A. and Fikus, M. (2013) A Comparative Study of Active Play on Differently Designed Playgrounds, *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, 13(3), pp. 206-222.

Lynch, H., Moore, A., Edwards, C. and Horgan, L. (2020) Advancing Play Participation for All: The challenge of addressing play diversity and inclusion in community parks and playgrounds, *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 83(2), pp. 107-117.

Lynch, H., Moore, A. and Prellwitz, M. (2018) From Policy to Play Provision: Universal Design and the challenges of inclusive play, *Children, Youth and Environments*, 28(2), pp. 12-34.

Lynch, J. (2019) Populism, Partisan Convergence, and Mobilization in Western Europe, *Polity*, 51(4), pp. 668-677.

Madrid, S. (2013) Playing Aggression: The social construction of the 'sassy girl' in a peer culture play routine, *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, 14(3), pp. 241-254.

Mainland, M., Shaw, S.M. and Prier, A. (2017) Parenting in an Era of Risk: Responding to the obesity crisis, *Journal of Family Studies*, 23(1), pp. 86-97.

Malik, L. (2019) Tayyari Jeet Ki – The Production of Childhood as a Cultural Trope of Developmentalism, in Pathak, D.N. and Das, A.K. (eds) *Investigating Developmentalism: Notions of development in the social sphere,* Cham, Switzerland: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 141-159.

Malone, K. (2013) "The Future Lies in our Hands": Children as researchers and environmental change agents in designing a child-friendly neighbourhood, *Local Environment: The International Journal of Justice and Sustainability*, 18(3), pp. 372-395.

Malone, K. (2015) Children's Place Encounters: Place-based participatory research to design a child-friendly and sustainable urban development, in Ansell, N., Klocker, N. and Skelton, T. (eds) *Geographies of Global Issues:* Change and Threat, Geographies of Children and Young People, vol 8, Singapore: Springer, pp. 1-30.

Malone, K. (2016a) Reconsidering Children's Encounters with Nature and Place Using Posthumanism, *Australian Journal of Environmental Education*, 32(1), pp. 42-56.

Malone, K. (2016b) Posthumanist Approaches to Theorising Children's Human-Nature Relations, in Nairn, K., Kraftl, P. and Skelton, T. (ed) *Space, Place, and Environment, Geographies of Children and Young People,* vol 3, Singapore: Springer, pp. 185-206.

Malone, K. and Rudner, J. (2016) Child-Friendly and Sustainable Cities: Exploring global studies on children's freedom, mobility, and risk, in Freeman C., Tranter P. and Skelton T. (eds) *Risk, Protection, Provision and Policy, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 12. Singapore: Springer, pp. 345-370.

Mansfield, A. and Couve, C. (2020) Making London Child-Friendly, Urban Design, 156, pp. 32-35.

Markey, P.M., Ferguson, C.J. and Hopkins, L.I. (2020) Video Game Play: Myths and benefits, *American Journal of Play*, 13(1), pp. 87-106.

Marks-Tarlow, T. (2010) The Fractal Self at Play, American Journal of Play, 3(1), pp. 31-62.

Marlatt, R. (2020) Capitalizing on the Craze of Fortnite: Toward a conceptual framework for understanding how gamers construct communities of practice, *Journal of Education*, 200(1), pp. 3-11.

Marmot, M., Allen, J., Boyce, T., Goldblatt, P. and Morrison, J. (2020) *Health Equity in England: The Marmot Review 10 years on*, London: Institute of Health Equity.

Marsh, J. (2011) Young Children's Literacy Practices in a Virtual World: Establishing an online interaction order, *Reading Research Quarterly*, 46(2), pp. 101-118.

Marsh, J. (2012) Countering Chaos in Club Penguin: Young children's literacy practices in a virtual world, in Merchant, G., Gillen, J., Marsh, J. and Davies, J. (eds) *Virtual Literacies: Interactive spaces for children and young people*, London: Routledge, pp. 75-88.

Marsh, J. (2014) From the Wild Frontier of Davy Crockett to the Wintery Fiords of Frozen: Changes in media consumption, play and literacy from the 1950s to the 2010s, *International Journal of Play*, 3(3), pp. 267-279.

Marsh, J. (2016) The Relationship between Online and Offline play: Friendship and exclusion, in Burn, A. and Richards, C. (eds) *Children's Games in the New Media Age: Childlore, media and the playground*, London: Routledge, pp. 123-146.

Marsh, J. (2017) The Internet of Toys: A posthuman and multimodal analysis of connected play, *Teachers College Record*, 119(12), pp. 1-32.

Marsh, J. and Bishop, J.C. (2013) *Changing Play: Play, media and commercial culture from the 1950s to the present day,* Maidenhead, Berkshire: Open University Press.

Marsh, J., Law, L., Lahmar, J., Yamada-Rice, D., Parry, B., Scott, F., Robinson, P., Nutbrown, B., Scholey, E., Baldi, P., McKeown, K., Swanson, A. and Bardill, R. (2019) *Social Media, Television and Children*, Sheffield: University of Sheffield.

Marsh, J., Murris, K., Ng'ambi, D., Parry, R., Scott, F., Thomsen, B.S., Bishop, J., Bannister, C., Dixon, K., Giorza, T., Peers, J., Titus, S., Da Silva, H., Doyle, G., Driscoll, A., Hall, L., Hetherington, A., Krönke, M., Margary, T., Morris, A., Nutbrown, B., Rashid, S., Santos, J., Scholey, E., Souza, L. and Woodgate, A. (2020) *Children, Technology and Play*. Billund, Denmark: The LEGO Foundation.

Marsh, J., Plowman, L., Yamada-Rice, D., Bishop, J. and Scott, F. (2016) Digital Play: A new classification, *Early Years*, 36(3), pp. 242-253.

Martin, M., Jelić, A. and Tvedebrink, T.D.O. (2023) Children's Opportunities for Play in the Built Environment: A scoping review, *Children's Geographies*.

Martins, J., Marques, A., Sarmento, H. and Carreiro Da Costa, F. (2015) Adolescents' Perspectives on the Barriers and Facilitators of Physical Activity: A systematic review of qualitative studies, *Health Education Research*, 30, pp. 742-755.

Massumi, B. (2013) Prelude, in Manning, E., *Always More than One: Individuation's dance*, Durham, NC: Duke University Press.

Masten, A.S. (2014) Ordinary Magic: Resilience in Development, London: The Guilford Press.

Matrix Evidence (2010) Play England: An economic evaluation of play provision, Matrix Evidence.

Maxwell, N., Wallace, C., Cummings, A., Bayfield, H. and Morgan, H. (2019) *A Systematic Map and Synthesis Review of Child Criminal Exploitation,* Cardiff: Children's Social Care Research and Development Centre, Cardiff University.

May, T. (2011) Social Research, (4th ed), Berkshire: Open University/McGraw Hill.

Mayor of London (2022) Mayor Hails Success of School Streets Programme, 10 March.

Mayeza, E. (2018) 'Charmer Boys' and 'Cream Girls': How primary school children construct themselves as heterosexual subjects through football, *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, 39(1), pp. 128-141.

McCabe, S., Joldersma, T. and Li, C. (2010) Understanding the Benefits of Social Tourism: Linking participation to subjective well-being and quality of life, *International Journal of Tourism Research*, 12(6), pp. 761-773.

McCormick, R. (2017) Does Access to Green Space Impact the Mental Well-being of Children: A systematic review, *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 37, pp. 3-7.

McDonnell, S. (2019) Nonsense and Possibility: Ambiguity, rupture and reproduction in children's play/ful narratives, *Children's Geographies*, 17(3), pp. 251-265.

McDowell, L. (2017) Youth, Children and Families in Austere Times: Change, politics and a new gender contract, *Area*, 493, pp. 311–316.

McGinley, M. and Evans, A.M. (2020) Parent and/or Peer Attachment? Predicting emerging adults' prosocial behaviors and internalizing symptomatology, *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 29, pp. 1833-1844.

McIntyre, N. and Gayle, D. (2022) Poorest Areas of England Have Less Than Third of Garden Space Enjoyed By Richest, *The Guardian*, 26 February.

McKendrick, J. H., Kraftl, P., Mills, S., Gregorius, S. and Sykes, G. (2015) Complex geographies of play provision dis/investment across the UK, *International Journal of Play*, 4(3), pp. 228-235.

McKendrick, J.H., Loebach, J. and Casey, T. (2018) Reflections on the Challenges to Providing Optimum Environments for Play, *Children, Youth and Environments*, 28(2), pp. 262-272.

McKinty, J. and Hazleton, R. (2022) The Pandemic Play Project – Documenting kids' culture during COVID-19, *International Journal of Play*, 11(1), pp. 12-33.

McLachlan, B. (2014) Project Play at Swanson School, Play and Folklore, 61(1), pp. 4-8.

McNamara, L. (2013) What's Getting in the Way of Play? An analysis of the contextual factors that hinder recess in elementary schools, *Canadian Journal of Action Research*, 14(2), pp. 3-21.

McPhail, D. and Huynh, A. (2016) Geographies of Maternal Obesity, Eugenics, and the Clinical Space, in Evans, B., Horton, J. and Skelton, T. (eds) *Play, Recreation, Health and Well-being, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 9, Singapore: Springer, pp. 618-643.

McQuade, L., McLaughlin, M., Giles, M. and Cassidy, T. (2019) Play Across the Generations: Perceptions of changed play patterns in childhood, *Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities*, 5(2), pp. 90-96.

Medvedyuk, S., Ali, A. and Raphael, D. (2018) Ideology, Obesity and the Social Determinants of Health: A critical analysis of the obesity and health relationship, *Critical Public Health*, 28(5), pp. 573-585.

Meek, S. and Evandra, C. (2020) New Federal Data shows Black Preschoolers Still Disciplined at Far Higher Rates than Whites, *Washington Post*, 26 November.

Meire, J. (2007) Qualitative Research on Children's Play: A review of recent literature, in Jambor, T. and van Gils, J. (ed) *Several Perspectives on Children's Play: Scientific Reflections for Practitioners*, Antwerp: Garant, pp. 29-78.

Memari, A.H., Panahi, N., Ranjbar, E., Moshayedi, P., Shafiei, M., Kordi, R. and Ziaee, V. (2015) Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder and Patterns of Participation in Daily Physical and Play Activities, *Neurology Research International*, 531906.

Mereweather, J. (2020) Enchanted Animism: A matter of care, *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, online first, pp. 1-12.

Mertala, P., Karikoski, H., Tähtinen, L. and Sarenius, V-M. (2016) The Value of Toys: 6-8-year old children's toy preferences and the functional analysis of popular toys, *International Journal of Play*, 5(1), pp. 11-27.

Mikkelsen, M.R. and Christensen, P. (2009) Is Children's Independent Mobility Really Independent? A study of children's mobility combining ethnography and GPS/mobile phone technologies, *Mobilities*, 4(1), pp. 37-58.

Miller, L.J., Schoen, S.A., Camarata, S.M., McConkey, J., Kanics, I.M., Valdez, A. and Hampton, S. (2017) Play in Natural Environments: A pilot study quantifying the behavior of children on playground equipment, *Journal of Occupational Therapy, Schools, and Early Intervention*, 10(3), pp. 213-231.

Ministerial Review of Play Steering Group (2023) Ministerial Review of Play Final Report.

Mische Lawson, L. and Dunn, W. (2008) Children's Sensory Processing Patterns and Play Preferences, *Annual in Therapeutic Recreation*, 16, pp. 1-14.

Moir, P. and Brunker, N. (2021) 'We Actually Get to Go Out and Play': Looking through children's views on Out of School Hours Care to children's experience of school, *International Journal of Play*, 10(3), pp. 302-315.

Monbiot, G., Grey, R., Kenny, T., Macfarlane, L., Powell-Smith, A., Shrubsole, G. and Stratford, B. (2019) *Land for the Many: Changing the way our fundamental asset is used, owned and governed*, London: The Labour Party.

Montuori, A. (2005) Literature Review as Creative Inquiry: Reframing scholarship as a creative process, *Journal of Transformative Education*, 3(4), October, pp. 374-393.

Moore, A., Boyle, B. and Lynch, H. (2022) Designing Public Playgrounds for Inclusion: A scoping review of grey literature guidelines for Universal Design, *Children's Geographies*, advance online.

Moore, A. and Lynch, H. (2018) Understanding a Child's Conceptualisation of Well-being Through an Exploration of Happiness: The centrality of play, people and place, *Journal of Occupational Science*, 25(1), pp. 124-141.

Moser, H., Hales, R. and Riesz, E. (2021) Child Development Just Outside the Front Door: Neighbourhood Play Project, *International Journal of Playwork Practice*, 2(1), 1.

Moss, S. (2012) Natural Childhood, Swindon: National Trust.

Mould, O. (2016) Parkour, Activism, and Young People, in Nairn, K., Kraftl, P. and Skelton, T. (ed) *Space, Place, and Environment, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 3, Singapore: Springer, pp. 311-329.

Mroz, M. and Woolner, P. (2015) 'Playtime': The use of UK primary school outdoor space between lessons, paper presented at European Conference on Educational Research, Budapest, Hungary, 7-11 September.

Mukherjee, U. (2020) Towards a Critical Sociology of Children's Leisure, *International Journal of the Sociology of Leisure*, 3(3), pp. 219-239.

Mukherjee, U. (2021) Rainbows, Teddy Bears and 'Others': The cultural politics of children's leisure amidst the COVID-19 pandemic, *Leisure Sciences*, 43(1-2), pp. 24-30.

Mueller, N., Rojas-Rueda, D., Khreis, H., Cirach, M., Andrés, D., Ballester, J., Bartoll, X., Daher, C., Deluca, A., Echave, C., Milà, C., Márquez, S., Palou, J., Pérez, K., Tonne, C., Stevenson, M., Rueda, S. and Nieuwenhuijsen, M. (2020) Changing the Urban Design of Cities for Health: The superblock model, *Environment International*, 134, 105132.

Mullan, K. (2019) A Child's Day: Trends in time use in the UK from 1975 to 2015, *The British Journal of Sociology*, 70(3), pp. 997-1024.

Mulryan-Kyne, C. (2014) The School Playground Experience: Opportunities and challenges for children and school staff, *Educational Studies*, 40(4), pp. 377-395.

Münch, N., Mahdiani, H., Lieb, K. and Paul, N.W. (2021) Resilience Beyond Reductionism: Ethical and social dimensions of an emerging concept in the neurosciences, *Medicine, Health Care and Philosophy*, 24(1), pp. 55-63.

Murnaghan, A.M.F. (2019) Play and Playgrounds in Children's Geographies, in Skelton, T. and Aitken, S. (eds) *Establishing Geographies of Children and Young People, Geographies of Children and Young People,* vol 1, Singapore: Springer, pp. 407-425.

Murphy, K. (2021) Neurodiverse Play is the Way: We need to embrace a play-rich environment for our children with SEND, *Family*, 8 September.

Murray, L. and Cortés-Morales, S. (2019) *Children's Mobilities: Interdependent, imagined, relational*, London: Palgrave Macmillan.

Murris, K. (2016a) The Posthuman Child: iii, in Kennedy, D. and Bahler, B. (eds) *Philosophy of Childhood Today: Exploring the Boundaries,* Lanham, MD: Lexington Books, pp. 185-197.

Murris, K. (2016b) *The Posthuman Child: Educational transformation through philosophy with picturebooks,* London: Routledge.

Murris, K. (2017) Reading Two Rhizomatic Pedagogies Diffractively Through One Another: A Reggio inspired philosophy with children for the postdevelopmental child, *Pedagogy, Culture and Society*, 25(4), pp. 531-550.

Murris, K. (2019) Children's Development, Capability Approaches and Postdevelopmental Child: The birth to four curriculum in South Africa, *Global Studies of Childhood*, 9(1), pp. 56-71.

Mygind, L., Kurtzhals, M., Nowell, C., Melby, P.S., Stevenson, M.P., Nieuwenhuijsen, M., Jarrad, A.G.L., Flensborg-Madsen, T., Bentsen, P. and Enticott, P.G. (2021) Landscapes of Becoming Social: A systematic review of evidence for associations and pathways between interactions with nature and socioemotional development in children, *Environment International*, 146, 106238.

Nairn, K. and Kraftl, P. (2016) Introduction to Children and Young People, Space, Place and Environment, in Nairn, K., Kraftl, P. and Skelton, T. (ed) *Space, Place, and Environment, Geographies of Children and Young People,* vol 3, Singapore: Springer, pp. 1-24.

Nansen, B., Gibbs, L., Macdougall, C., Vetere, F., Ross, N.J. and Mckendrick, J. (2015) Children's Interdependent Mobility: Compositions, collaborations and compromises, *Children's Geographies*, 13(4), pp. 467-481.

National Assembly for Wales (2019) *Physical Activity of Children and Young People,* Cardiff: National Assembly for Wales.

Nedovic, S. and Morrissey, A. (2013) Calm, Active and Focused: Children's responses to an organic outdoor learning environment, *Learning Environments Research*, 16(2), pp. 281-295.

Nelson, N. (2020) Rats, Death, and Anthropocene Relations in Urban Canadian Childhoods, in Cutter-Mackenzie-Knowles, A., Malone, K. and Barrat Hacking, E. (eds) *Research Handbook on Childhoodnature: Assemblages of childhood and nature research*, Singapore: Springer, pp. 637-659.

Ness, D. and Farenga, S.J. (2016) Blocks, Bricks, and Planks: Relationships between affordance and visuo-spatial constructive play objects, *American Journal of Play*, 8(2), pp. 201-227.

Newell, J.P., Seymour, M., Yee, T., Renteria, J., Longcore, T., Wolch, J.R. and Shishkovsky, A. (2013) Green Alley Programs: Planning for a sustainable urban infrastructure?, *Cities*, 31, pp. 144-155.

NHS Digital (2021) National Child Measurement Programme, England 2020/21 School Year.

Nielsen, L. (2018) Playing for Social Equality, Politics, Philosophy and Economics, 17(4), pp. 427-446.

Nielsen, R.K.L. and Hanghøj, T. (2019) eSports Skills are People Skills, *Proceedings of the 12th European Conference on Game Based Learning*.

Nijhof, S.L., Vinkers, C.H., van Geelen, S.M., Duijff, S.N., Achterberg, E.J.M., van der Net, J., Veltkamp, R.C., Grootenhuis, M.A., van de Putte, E.M., Hillegers, M.H.J., van der Brug, A.W., Wierenga, C.J., Benders, M.J.N.L., Engels, R.C.M.E., van der Ent, C.K., Vanderschuren, L.J.M.J. and Lesscher, H.M.B. (2018) Healthy Play, Better Coping: The importance of play for the development of children in health and disease, *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 95, pp. 421-429.

NimbleFins (2022) Number of Cars in the UK 2022, 7 July.

Nirmalan, N. and Nirmalan, M. (2020) Homeostasis in Dynamic Self-regulatory Physiological Systems, *Anaesthesia* and *Intensive Care Medicine*, 21(1), pp. 590-595.

Nussbaum, M. (2007) Human Rights and Human Capabilities, Harvard Human Rights Journal, 20, pp. 21-24.

Offer, S. and Schneider, B. (2007) Children's Role in Generating Social Capital, Social Forces, 85(3), pp. 1125-1142.

Office for National Statistics (2020a) *One in eight British households has no garden*.

Office for National Statistics (2020b) *Population estimates for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland: mid-2019.*

O'Haire, M.E., McKenzie, S.J., Beck, A.M. and Slaughter, V. (2015) Animals May Act as Social Buffers: Skin conductance arousal in children with Autism Spectrum Disorder in a social context, *Developmental Psychobiology*, 57(5), pp. 584-595.

O'Hara L. and Taylor J. (2018) What's Wrong With the 'War on Obesity?' A narrative review of the weight-centered health paradigm and development of the 3C framework to build critical competency for a paradigm shift, *SAGE Open*, 8(2), pp. 1-28.

Oldenburg, R. (1989) The Great Good Place, New York: Marlowe.

Oldenburg, R. and Brissett, D. (1982) The Third Place, Qualitative Sociology, 5, pp. 265-284.

Oliver, M., Mavoa, S., Badland, H., Parker, K., Donovan, P., Kearns, R.A., Lin, E-Y. and Witten, K. (2015) Associations between the Neighbourhood Built Environment and Out of School Physical Activity and Active Travel: An examination from the Kids in the City study, *Health and Place*, 36, pp. 57-64.

Oliver, M., McPhee, J., Carroll, P., Ikeda, E., Mavoa, S., Mackay, L., Kearns, R.A., Kyttä, M., Asiasiga, L., Garrett, N., Lin, J., Mackett, R., Zinn, C., Moewaka Barnes, H., Egli, V., Prendergast, K. and Witten, K. (2016) Neighbourhoods for Active Kids: Study protocol for a cross-sectional examination of neighbourhood features and children's physical activity, active travel, independent mobility and body size, *BMJ Open*, e013377.

Olson, D.R. (2022) Making Sense: What it means to understand, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Orr, E. (2020) Object Play as a Mediator of the Role of Exploration in Communication Skills Development, *Infant Behavior and Development*, 60, 101467.

Ortiz, A., Ferret, M.P., Baylina, M. (2016) Teenagers' Sense of Neighborhood in Barcelona, in Nairn, K. and Kraftl, P. (eds) *Space, Place, and Environment, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 3, Singapore: Springer, pp. 249-268.

Osgood, J. (2014) Playing with Gender: Making space for post-human childhood(s), in Moyles, J., Payler, J. and Georgeson, J. (eds) *Early Years Foundations: Critical Issues*, Maidenhead: Open University Press, pp. 191-202.

Othman, S. and Said, I. (2012) Affordances of Cul-de-sac in Urban Neighborhoods as Play Spaces for Middle Childhood Children, *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 38, pp. 184-194.

Owen, G. (2020) A Queer History of Adolescence: Developmental pasts, relational futures, Athens, GA.: University of Georgia Press.

Owens, J., Entwistle, V.A., Craven, L.K. and Conradie, I. (2021) Understanding and Investigating Relationality in the Capability Approach, *Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour*, 52, pp. 86-104.

Oyama, S. (2016) The Lure of Immateriality in Accounts of Development and Evolution, in Pitts-Taylor, V. (ed) *Mattering: Feminism, science, and materialism,* New York: NYU Press, pp. 91-103.

Pacilli, M.G., Giovannelli, I., Prezza, M. and Augimeri, M.L. (2013) Children and the Public Realm: Antecedents and consequences of independent mobility in a group of 11-13-year-old Italian children, *Children's Geographies*, 11(4), pp. 377-393.

Page, A.S., Cooper, A., Hampton, L., Read, J., Tibbitts, B., Wheeler, B., Pike, E., Vinas, V., Venison, D., Lowman C., Jackson, N. and Bowker, P. (2017) *Why Temporary Street Closures for Play Make Sense for Public Health*, London: Play England.

Page, N., Hewitt, G., Young, H., Moore, G. and Murphy, S. (2021) Student Health and Wellbeing in Wales: Report of the 2019/20 School Health Research Network Student Health and Wellbeing Survey, Cardiff: Cardiff University.

Palagi, E. (2018) Not Just for Fun! Social play as a springboard for adult social competence in human and non-human primates, *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 72, 90.

Panksepp, J. (2007) Can PLAY Diminish ADHD and Facilitate the Construction of the Social Brain? *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 16(2), pp. 57-66.

Panksepp. J. (2008) Play, ADHD, and the Construction of the Social Brain: Should the first class of each day be recess? *American Journal of Play*, 1(1), pp. 55-79.

Panksepp, J. (2010) Affective Neuroscience of the Emotional BrainMind: Evolutionary perspectives and implications for understanding depression, *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 12, pp. 533-545.

Panksepp, J. (2012) Synopsis of Affective Neuroscience – Naturalizing the mammalian mind, *Journal of Consciousness Studies*, 19(3-4), pp. 6-18.

Panksepp, J. (2015) The Psychology of PLAY and the Benefits of Social Playfulness, in Johnson, J.E., Eberle, S.G., Henricks, T.S. and Kuschner, D. (eds) *The Handbook of the Study of Play*, Maryland: Rowman and Littlefield, pp. 477-487.

Panksepp, J. (2016) The Cross-Mammalian Neurophenomenology of Primal Emotional Affects: From Animal Feelings to Human Therapeutics, *The Journal of Comparative Neurology | Research in Systems Neuroscience,* 524, pp. 1624-1635.

Panksepp, J. (2017) PLAY and the Construction of Creativity, Cleverness and the Reversal of ADHD in our Social Brains, in Marks-Tarlow, T., Solomon, M. and Siegel, D. (eds) *Play and Creativity in Psychotherapy,* New York: Norton, pp. 242-270.

Panksepp, J., Asma, S., Curran, G., Gabriel, R. and Greif, T. (2012) The Philosophical Implications of Affective Neuroscience, *Journal of Consciousness Studies*, 19(3-4), pp. 6-48.

Panksepp, J., Clarici, A., Vandekerckhove, M. and Yovell, Y. (2019) Neuro-Evolutionary Foundations of Infant Minds: From psychoanalytic visions of how primal emotions guide constructions of human minds toward affective neuroscientific understanding of emotions and their disorders, *Psychoanalytic Inquiry*, 39(1), pp. 36-51.

Panksepp, J. and Panksepp, J.B. (2013) Toward a Cross-species Understanding of Empathy, *Trends Neurosciences*, 36(8), pp. 489-96.

Parent, N., Guhn, M., Brussoni, M., Almas, A. and Oberle, E. (2021) Social Determinants of Playing Outdoors in the Neighbourhood: Family characteristics, trust in neighbours and daily outdoor play in early childhood, *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 112(1), pp. 120-127.

Parker, M.M., Glickman, C.P., Smelser, Q. and DeRaedt, M. (2021) Therapeutic or Traumatic: An exploratory study of play therapists' perceptions of toy guns and aggressive toys in the playroom, *International Journal of Play Therapy*, 30(1), pp. 61-71.

Patalay, P. and Fitzsimons, E. (2020) *Mental III-health at Age 17 in the UK*, London: Centre for Longitudinal Studies, UCL, and National Children's Bureau.

Patte, M.M. and Brown, F. (2011) Playwork: A profession challenging societal factors devaluing children's play, *Journal of Student Wellbeing*, 5(1), pp. 58-70.

Patte, M. with Cote, A., Keeler, R., Law, S. and Leichter-Saxby, M. (2018) Playwork in America: Past, current and future trends, in Brown, F. and Hughes, B. (eds) *Aspects of Playwork, Play and Culture Studies Volume 14*, Maryland: University Press of America, pp. 63-78.

Pawlowski, C.S., Ergler, C., Tjørnhøj-Thomsen, T., Schipperijn, J. and Troelsen, J. (2015) 'Like a Soccer Camp for Boys': A qualitative exploration of gendered activity patterns in children's self-organized play during school recess, *European Physical Education Review*, 21(3), pp. 275-291.

Pellegrini, A.D. (ed) (2011) The Oxford Handbook of the Development of Play, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Pellegrini, A.D. (2019) Object Use in Childhood: Development and possible functions, in Smith, P.K. and Roopnarine, J.L. (eds) *The Cambridge Handbook of Play: Developmental and disciplinary perspectives,* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 165-182.

Pellegrini, A.D., Dupuis, D.N. and Smith, P.K. (2007) Play in Evolution and Development, *Developmental Review*, 27, pp. 261-276.

Pellis, S.M., Himmler, B.T., Himmler, S.M. and Pellis, V.C. (2018) Rough-and-Tumble Play and the Development of the Social Brain: What do we know, how do we know it, and what do we need to know? in Gibb, R. and Kolb, B. (eds) *The Neurobiology of Brain and Behavioral Development*, London: Academic Press, pp. 315-337.

Pellis, S.M. and Pellis, V.C. (2017) What is Play Fighting and What is it Good for?, *Learning and Behavior*, 45, pp. 355-366.

Pellis, S.M., Pellis, V.C. and Himmler, B.T. (2014) How Play Makes for a More Adaptable Brain: A comparative and neural perspective, *American Journal of Play*, 7(1), pp. 73-98.

Pellis, S.M., Pellis, V.C., Pelletier, A. and Leca, J.B. (2019) Is Play a Behavior System, and, if so, What Kind?, *Behavioural Processes*, 160, pp. 1-9.

Pérez del Pulgar, C., Anguelovski, I. and Connolly, J. (2020) Toward a Green and Playful City: Understanding the social and political production of children's relational wellbeing in Barcelona, *Cities*, 96, 102438.

Peritz, I. (2019) 'Great Initiative' Brings Back Old-fashioned Child's Play: Quebec town paves way for free-play zones, *The Globe and Mail*, 10 July.

Petrina, N., Carter, M. and Stephenson, J. (2014) The Nature of Friendship in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders: A systematic review, *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 8(2), pp. 111-126.

Pfeiffer, B., Daly, B.P., Nicholls, E.G. and Gullo, D.F. (2014) Assessing Sensory Processing Problems in Children With and Without Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, *Physical and Occupational Therapy in Pediatrics*, 35(1), pp. 1-12.

Pinckney IV, H.P., Outley, C., Brown, A. and Theriault, D. (2019) Playing While Black, *Leisure Sciences*, 40(7), pp. 675-685.

Pitchforth, J., Fahy, K., Ford, T., Wolpert, M., Viner, R.M. and Hargreaves, D.S. (2019) Mental Health and Well-being Trends among Children and Young People in the UK, 1995-2014: Analysis of repeated cross-sectional national health surveys, *Psychological Medicine*, 49, pp. 1275-1285.

Placemaking Wales (2020) Placemaking Guide, Cardiff: Design Commission for Wales.

Play England (2023) Trends in Children's Street Play, Findings from the 2022 Play Day survey, London: Play England.

Play First UK (2020) Play First: Supporting Children's Social and Emotional Wellbeing During and After Lockdown.

Playing Out (2019) UK Government Backs Play Streets.

Playing Out (2021) Resident Survey Report (2021).

Pont, K., Ziviani, J., Wadley, D., Bennett, S. and Abbott, R. (2009) Environmental Correlates of Children's Active Transportation: A systematic literature review, *Health and Place*, 15, pp. 849-862.

Porter, L., Spark, C. and de Kleyn, L. (2021) Navigating the Neighbourhood: Gender, place and agency in children's mobility, *Children's Geographies*, 19(3), pp. 339-350.

Potter, J. and Cowan, K. (2020) Playground as Meaning-making Space: Multimodal making and re-making of meaning in the (virtual) playground, *Global Studies of Childhood*, 10(3), pp. 248-263.

Poulsen, M. (2022) The Junk Playground as Agora: Designing spaces to re-invigorate democratic participation, in Lockton, D., Lenzi, S., Hekkert, P., Oak, A., Sádaba, J. and Lloyd, P. (eds) *DRS2022: Bilbao, 25 June - 3 July*, Bilbao, Spain.

Prendiville, S. and Fearn, M. (2017) Coming Alive: Finding joy through sensory play, in Prendiville, E. and Howard, J. (eds) *Creative Psychotherapy: Applying the principles of neurobiology to play and expressive arts-based practice,* Abingdon, Oxon.: Routledge, pp. 121-138.

Prioletta, J. (2020) Patriarchy in the Preschool Classroom: Examining the effects of developmental ideologies on teachers' perspectives and practices around play and gender, *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, 21(3), pp. 242-252.

Protevi, J. (2012) One More 'Next Step': Deleuze and brain, body and affect in contemporary cognitive science, in Braidotti, R. and Pisters, P. (eds) *Revisiting Normativity with Deleuze*, London: Bloomsbury, pp. 25-36.

Prout, A. (2005) The Future of Childhood: Towards the interdisciplinary study of children, London: Routledge.

Prout, A. (2007) Culture-Nature and the Construction of Childhood, in Drotner, K. and Livingstone, S. (eds) *International Handbook of Children, Media and Culture*, London: Sage, pp. 21-35.

Prout, A. (2011) Taking a Step Away from Modernity: Reconsidering the new sociology of childhood, *Global Studies of Childhood*, 1(1), pp. 4-14.

Public Health Wales (2021) Child Measurement Programme for Wales 2018/19, Cardiff: Public Health Wales.

Punch, S. and Tisdall, E.K.M. (2012) Exploring Children and Young People's Relationships Across Majority and Minority Worlds, *Children's Geographies*, 10(3), pp. 241-248.

Pynn, S.R., Neely, K.C., Ingstrup, M.S., Spence, J.C., Carson, V., Robinson, Z. and Holt, N.L. (2019) An Intergenerational Qualitative Study of the Good Parenting Ideal and Active Free Play During Middle Childhood, *Children's Geographies*, 17(3), pp. 266-277.

Pyyry, N. (2016) Participation by Being: Teenage girls' hanging out at the shopping mall as 'dwelling with' [the world], *Emotion, Space and Society*, 18, pp. 9-16.

Pyyry, N. and Tani, S. (2019) More-than-human Playful Politics in Young People's Practices of Dwelling with the City, *Social and Cultural Geography*, 20(9), pp. 1218-1232.

Raghavan, R. and Alexandrova, A. (2015) Toward a Theory of Child Well-Being, *Social Indicators Research*, 121, pp. 887-902.

Rajagopalan, A., Jinu, K.V., Sailesh, K.S., Mishra, S., Reddy, U.K. and Mukkadan, J.K. (2017) Understanding the Links between Vestibular and Limbic Systems Regulating Emotions, *Journal of Natural Science, Biology and Medicine*, 8, pp. 11-5.

Ralston, J., Brinsden, H., Buse, K., Candeias, V., Caterson, I., Hassell, T., Kumanyika, S., Nece, P., Nishtar, S., Patton, I., Proietto, J., Salas, X.R., Reddy, S., Ryan, D., Sharma, A.M., Swinburn, B., Wilding, J. and Woodward, E. (2018) Time for a New Obesity Narrative, *Lancet*, 392, pp. 1384-1386.

Rannikko, A., Liikanen, V. and Harinen, P. (2016) Spatial Resistance of Alternative Sports in Finland, in Evans, B., Horton, J. and Skelton, T. (eds) *Play, Recreation, Health and Well-being, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 9, Singapore: Springer, pp. 255-271.

Rao, Z. and Gibson, J. (2019) The Role of Pretend Play in Supporting Young Children's Emotional Development, in Whitebread, D., Grau, V., Kumpulainen, K., McClelland, M., Perry, N. and Pino-Pasternak, D. (eds) *The SAGE Handbook of Developmental Psychology and Early Childhood Education*, London: Sage, pp. 63-79.

Rautio, P. (2013a) Children who Carry Stones in their Pockets: On autotelic material practices in everyday life, *Children's Geographies*, 11(4), pp. 394-408.

Rautio, P. (2013b) Being Nature: Interspecies articulation as a species-specific practice of relating to environment, *Environmental Education Research*, 19(4), pp. 445-457.

Rautio, P. (2014) Mingling and Imitating in Producing Spaces for Knowing and Being: Insights from a Finnish study of child-matter intra-action, *Childhood*, 21(4), pp. 461-474.

Rautio, P., Hohti, R., Leinonen, R-M. and Tammi, T. (2017) Reconfiguring Urban Environmental Education with 'Shitgull' and a 'Shop', *Environmental Education Research*, 23(10), pp. 1379-1390.

Rautio, P. and Jokinen, P. (2016) Children's Relations to the More-Than-Human World Beyond Developmental Views, in Evans, B., Horton, J. and Skelton, T. (eds) *Play, Recreation, Health and Well-being, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 9, Singapore: Springer, pp. 35-49.

Rautio, P. and Winston, J. (2015) Things and Children in Play – Improvisation with language and matter, *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, 36(1), pp. 15-26.

Ray, D.C., Lee, K.R., Meany-Walen, K.K., Carlson, S.E., Carnes-Holt, K.L. and Ware, J.N. (2013) Use of Toys in Child-centered Play Therapy, *International Journal of Play Therapy*, 22(1), pp. 43-57.

Ray-Kaeser, S., Thommen, E., Laetitia Baggioni, L. and Miodrag Stanković, M. (2017) Play in Children with Autism Spectrum and Other Neurodevelopmental Disorders, in Besio, S., Bulgarelli, D. and Stancheva-Popkostadinova, V. (eds) *Play Development in Children with Disabilities*, Berlin: de Gruyter, pp. 137-146.

Read, J. (2011) Gutter to Garden: Historical discourses of risk in interventions in working class children's street play, *Children and Society*, 25, pp. 421-434.

Real Play Coalition (2020) Reclaiming Play in Cities, The Real Play Coalition Approach, Real Play Coalition.

Redish, A.D., Kazinka, R. and Hermanc, A.B. (2019) Taking an Engineer's View: Implications of network analysis for computational psychiatry, *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*. 42, e2, pp. 35-36.

Rees, G., Savahl, S., Lee, B.J. and Casas, F. (eds) (2020) *Children's Views on their Lives and Well Being in 35 Countries: A report on the Children's Worlds project*, 2016-19, Jerusalem, Israel: Children's Worlds Project.

Rekers, A. and Waters-Davies, J. (2021) 'All of the Wild': Cultural formation in Wales through outdoor play at Forest School, in Grindheim, L.T., Sørensen, H.V. and Rekers, A. (eds) *Outdoor Learning and Play: Pedagogical practices and children's cultural formation*, Singapore: Springer.

Renold, E. and Mellor, D. (2013) Deleuze and Guattari in the Nursery: Towards an ethnographic multi-sensory mapping of gendered bodies and becomings, in Coleman, R. and Ringrose, J. (eds) *Deleuze and Research Methodologies*, Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, pp. 23-41.

Riazi, N.A., Blanchette, S., Trudeau, F., Larouche, R., Tremblay, M.S. and Faulkner, G. (2019) Correlates of Children's Independent Mobility in Canada: A multi-site study, *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16, 2862.

Richardson, S.S., Daniels, C.R., Gillman, M.W., Golden, J., Kukla, R., Kuzawa, C. and Rich-Edwards, J. (2014) Don't Blame the Mothers, *Nature*, 512, pp. 131-132.

Riches, M. with Hawley, C. (2019) Goldsmith Street.

Riede, F., Johannsen, N.N., Högberg, A., Nowell, A. and Lombard, M. (2018) The Role of Play Objects and Object Play in Human Cognitive Evolution and Innovation, *Evolutionary Anthropology*, 27(1), pp. 46-59.

Ringland K.E. (2019) A Place to Play: The (dis)abled embodied experience for autistic children in online spaces, *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on human factors in computing systems. CHI Conference*, 288.

Ringland, K.E., Boyd, L., Faucett, H., Cullen, A.L. and Hayes, G.R. (2017) Making in Minecraft: A means of self-expression for youth with autism, *Proceedings of the 2017 conference on interaction design and children*. pp. 340-345.

Rixon, A., Lomax, H. and O'Dell, L. (2019) Childhoods Past and Present: Anxiety and idyll in reminiscences of childhood outdoor play and contemporary parenting practices, *Children's Geographies*, 17(5), pp. 618-629.

Roberts, A., Hinds, J. and Camic, P.M. (2019) Nature Activities and Wellbeing in Children and Young People: A systematic review, *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, 20(4), pp. 298-318.

Roberts, T., Stagnitti, K., Brown, T. and Bhopti, A. (2018) Relationship Between Sensory Processing and Pretend Play in Typically Developing Children, *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 72, 7201195050.

Robertson, A. (2021) Taming Gaming: Guide your child to healthy video game habits, London: Unbound.

Robeyns, I. (2017) *Wellbeing Freedom and Social Justice: The capability approach re-examined*, Cambridge: Open Book Publishers.

Robinson, K.H. and Jones Diaz, C. (2006) *Diversity and Difference in Early Childhood Education*, Maidenhead, Berkshire: Open University Press.

Rorabaugh, S. (2019) Flexible Futures: Children's agency on the adventure playground, *Cities and Health*, 3(1-2), pp. 111-126.

Rose, N. (2012) The Need for a Critical Neuroscience: From neuroideology to neurotechnology, in Choudhury, S. and Slaby, J. (eds) *Critical Neuroscience: A handbook of the social and cultural contexts of neuroscience,* Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 53-66.

Rosen, R. (2015a) The Use of the Death Trope in Peer Culture Play: Grounds for rethinking children and childhood?, *International Journal of Play*, 4(2), pp. 163-174.

Rosen, R. (2015b) Children's Violently Themed Play and Adult Imaginaries of Childhood: A Bakhtinian analysis, *International Journal of Early Childhood*, 47(2), pp. 235-250.

Ross, N.J. (2007) 'My Journey to School ...': Foregrounding the meaning of school journeys and children's engagements and interactions in their everyday localities, *Children's Geographies*, 5(4), pp. 373-391.

Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (2020) State of Child Health, London: RCPCH.

Royal Town Planning Institute (2021) Children and Town Planning: Creating places to grow, London: RTPI.

Ruckenstein, M. (2013) Spatial Extensions of Childhood: From toy worlds to online communities, *Children's Geographies*, 11(4), pp. 476-489.

Rudolph, R. (2017) Hierarchies of Knowledge, Incommensurabilities and Silences in South African ECD Policy: Whose knowledge counts? *Journal of Pedagogy*, 8 (1), pp. 77-98.

Russ, S. W. (2014) Affective Processes in Pretend Play and Creativity, in Russ, S.W. *Pretend Play in Childhood: Foundation of adult creativity*, Washington, DC.: American Psychological Association, pp. 63-91.

Russell, W. (2015) Entangled in the Midst of it: A diffractive expression of an ethics for playwork, in MacLean, M., Russell, W. and Ryall, E. (eds) *Philosophical Perspectives on Play*, London: Routledge, pp. 191-204.

Russell, W. (2018) Nonsense, Caring and Everyday Hope: Rethinking the value of playwork, in Brown, F. and Hughes, B. (eds) *Aspects of Playwork, Play and Culture Studies Volume 14*, Maryland: University Press of America, pp. 13-27.

Russell, W. (2021) Rules for Re-enchanting our Relationship with Play, East Lothian Play Association.

Russell, W., Barclay, M., Tawil, B. and Derry, C. (2019) *Children's Right to Play in Wales: Six years of stories and change since the commencement of the Welsh Play Sufficiency Duty,* Cardiff: Play Wales.

Russell, W., Barclay, M., Tawil, B. and Derry, C. (2020) *Making it Possible to do Play Sufficiency: Exploring the conditions that support local authorities to secure sufficient opportunities for children in Wales to play*, Cardiff: Play Wales.

Russell, W. and Stenning, A. (2021) Beyond Active Travel: Children, play and community on streets during and after the coronavirus lockdown, *Cities and Health*, 5(sup1), S196-S199.

Russell, W. and Stenning, A. (2022) Kerbs and Curbs, Desire and Damage: An affirmative account of children's play and being well during the COVID-19 pandemic, *Social and Cultural Geography*, 24(3-4), pp. 680-698.

Russell, W., Tawil, B. and Barclay, M. (2023) (At)Tending to Rhizomes: How researching neighbourhood play with children can affect and be affected by policy and practice in transcalar ways in the context of the Welsh Government's Play Sufficiency Duty, *Revistas Civitas*.

Ryan, K. (2011) The New Wave of Childhood Studies: Breaking the grip of bio-social dualism?, *Childhood*, 19(4), pp. 439-452.

Ryan, K. (2020) Refiguring Childhood: Encounters with biosocial power, Manchester: Manchester University Press.

Ryan, K. (2021) Programming the Future: Epigenetics, normative fictions, and maternal bodies, *P.O.I. – Points of Interest. Rivista Di Filosofia E Di Nuove Pratiche Della Conoscenza*, 8, pp. 80-105.

Saltmarsh, S. and Lee, I-F. (2021) Playing with Happiness: Biopolitics, childhood and representations of play, *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, 22(4), pp. 296-311.

Sando, O.J., Kleppe, R. and Sandseter, E.B.H. (2021) Risky Play and Children's Well-Being, Involvement and Physical Activity, *Child Indicators Research*, 14, pp. 1435-1451.

Sandseter, E.B.H. (2007) Categorizing Risky Play: How can we identify risk-taking in children's play? *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 15(2), pp. 237-252.

Sandseter, E.B.H. (2009) Characteristics of Risky Play, *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, 9(1), pp. 3-21.

Sandseter, E.B.H. (2010) It Tickles in my Tummy! Understanding children's risk taking in play through Reversal Theory, *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, 8(1), pp. 67-88.

Sandseter, E.B.H. and Kennair, L.E.O. (2011) Children's Risky Play from an Evolutionary Perspective: The anti-phobic effects of thrilling experiences, *Evolutionary Psychology*, 9(2), pp. 257-284.

Sandseter, E.B.H., Kleppe, R. and Kennair, L.E.O. (2022) Risky Play in Children's Emotion Regulation, Social Functioning, and Physical Health: An evolutionary approach, *International Journal of Play*, advance online.

Santer, J. and Griffiths, C. (2007) *Free Play in Early Childhood: A literature review*, London: National Children's Bureau.

Save the Children (2008) *Child Friendly Spaces in Emergencies: A handbook for Save the Children Staff,* Save the Children.

Schoeppe, S., Duncan, M.J., Badland, H.M., Rebar, A.L. and Vandelanotte, C. (2016) Too Far from Home? Adult attitudes on children's independent mobility range, *Children's Geographies*, 14(4), pp. 482-48.

Schweiger, G. (2016) Justice and Disadvantages during Childhood: What does the Capability Approach have to offer? *Ethical Perspectives*, 23(1), pp. 1-18.

Seims, A., Walker, S., Clark, I. and Dogra, S.A. (2022) Make Space for Girls: Designing greenspace and other public spaces to reflect the needs of teenage girls, in Morton, S. (ed) *Designing Interventions to Address Complex Societal Issues*, London: Routledge, pp. 165-181.

Sgro, M. and Mychasiuk, R. (2020) Playful Genes: What do we know about the epigenetics of play behaviour?, *International Journal of Play*, 9(1), pp. 25-38.

Shackell, A., Butler, N. and Doyle, P. (2008) *Design for Play: A guide to creating successful play spaces*, London: Play England and Department for Culture Media and Sport.

Shallwani, S. (2010) Racism and Imperialism in the Child development Discourse: Deconstructing 'developmentally appropriate practice', in Cannella, G.S. and Soto, L.D. (eds) *Childhoods: A Handbook*, New York: Peter Lang, pp. 231-244.

Sharpe, L.L. (2019) Fun, Fur and Future Fitness: The evolution of play in mammals, in Smith, P.K. and Roopnarine, J.L. (eds) (2019) *The Cambridge Handbook of Play: Developmental and disciplinary perspectives,* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 49-66.

Shaw, B., Watson, B., Frauendienst, B., Redecker, A., Jones, T. with Hillman, M. (2012) *Children's Independent Mobility: A comparative study in England and Germany (1971-2010)*, London: Policy Studies Institute.

Shaw, B., Bicket, M., Elliott, B., Fagan-Watson, B. and Mocca, E. with Hillman, M. (2015) *Children's Independent Mobility: An international comparison and recommendations for action,* London: Policy Studies Institute.

Shaw, L.J. (2023) *Re-Imagining Playwork Through a Poststructural Lens: Stories from the climbing frame*, Abingdon, Oxon.: Routledge.

Shearer, S. and Walters, P. (2015) Young People's Lived Experience of the 'Street' in North Lakes Master Planned Estate, *Children's Geographies*, 13(5), pp. 604-617.

Sheets-Johnstone, M. (2011) The Primacy of Movement, (2nd ed), Philadelphia, PA.: John Benjamins.

Sheets-Johnstone, M. (2018) Why Kinesthesia, Tactility and Affectivity Matter: Critical and constructive perspectives, *Body and Society*, 24(4), pp. 3-31.

Sheets-Johnstone, M. (2020) The Lived Body, The Humanistic Psychologist, 48(1), pp. 28-53.

Shortt, N.K. and Ross, C. (2021) Children's Perceptions of Environment and Health in Two Scottish Neighbourhoods, *Social Science and Medicine*, 283, 114186.

Sicart, M. (2014) Play Matters, Cambridge, Ma.: MIT Press.

Signorelli, C.M. and Meling, D. (2021) Towards New Concepts for a Biological Neuroscience of Consciousness, *Cognitive Neurodynamics*, 15, pp. 783-804.

Singer, D.G., Singer, J.L., D'Agnostino, H. and DeLong, R. (2009) Children's Pastimes and Play in Sixteen Nations: Is free-play declining?, *American Journal of Play*, 1(3), pp. 283-312.

Siviy, S.M. (2016) A Brain Motivated to Play: Insights into the neurobiology of playfulness, *Behaviour*, 153, pp. 819-844.

Siviy, S.M. and Panksepp, J. (2011) In Search of the Neurobiological Substrates for Social Playfulness in Mammalian Brains, *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35(9), pp. 1821-1830.

Skelton, T. (2009) Children's Geographies/Geographies of Children: Play, work, mobilities and migration, *Geography Compass*, 3(4), pp. 1430-1448.

Slot, P.L., Mulder, H., Verhagen, J. and Leseman, P.P.M. (2017) Preschoolers' Cognitive and Emotional Self-Regulation in Pretend Play: Relations with executive functions and quality of play, *Infant and Child Development*, 26, e2038.

Smaldino, P.E., Palagi, E., Burghardt, G.M. and Pellis, S.M. (2019) The Evolution of Two Types of Play, *Behavioral Ecology*, 30(5), pp. 1388-1397.

Smith, A. (2021) Sustaining Municipal Parks in an Era of Neoliberal Austerity: The contested commercialisation of Gunnersbury Park, *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, 53(4), pp. 704-722.

Smith, K. (2011) Producing Governable Subjects: Images of childhood old and new, Childhood, 19(1), pp. 24-37.

Smith, P.K. (2010) Children and Play, Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.

Smith, P.K. and Roopnarine, J.L. (2019) (eds) *The Cambridge Handbook of Play: Developmental and disciplinary perspectives,* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Smith, S. (2017) Understandings of Play for Children with Profound and Multiple Learning Disabilities (PMLD), in Russell, W., Lester, S. and Smith, H. (eds) *Practice-based Research in Children's Play*, Bristol: Policy Press, pp. 187-202.

Smith, T.A. and Dunkley, R. (2018) Technology-nonhuman-child Assemblages: Reconceptualising rural childhood roaming, *Children's Geographies*, 16(3), pp. 304-318.

Soja, E.W. (2010) Seeking Spatial Justice, Minneapolis, University of Minnesota Press.

Solis, S.L., Curtis, K.N. and Hayes-Messinger, A. (2017) Children's Exploration of Physical Phenomena During Object Play, *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 31(1), pp. 122-140.

Soreanu, R. and Hurducaş, I. (2016) Children's Imaginaries in the City: On things and materials, *Children's Geographies*, 14(4), pp. 422-436.

Spiegal, B., Gill, T. R., Harbottle, H. and Ball, D. J. (2014) Children's Play Space and Safety Management: Rethinking the role of play equipment standards, *SAGE Open*, 4(1), 2158244014522075.

Spyrou, S. (2017) Time to Decentre Childhood?, Childhood, 24(4), pp. 433-437.

Spyrou, S. (2019) An Ontological Turn for Childhood Studies?, Children and Society, 33, pp. 316-323.

Spyrou, S., Rosen R. and Cook, D.T. (2019) Introduction: Reimagining childhood studies: connectivities ... relationalities ... linkages, in Spyrou, S., Rosen R. and Cook, D.T. (eds) *Reimagining Childhood Studies*, London: Bloomsbury, pp. 1-20.

Stafford, L., Adkins, B. and Franz, J. (2020) Bounded at the Driveway's Edge: Body-space tensions encountered by children with mobility impairments in moving about the neighbourhood street, *Children's Geographies*, 18(3), pp. 298-311.

Stanley, K. (2017) Affect and Emotion: James, Dewey, Tomkins, Damasio, Massumi, Spinoza, in Wehrs, D.R. and Blake, T. (eds) *The Palgrave Handbook of Affect Studies and Textual Criticism*, Singapore: Springer, pp. 97-112.

Steffen, P.R., Hedges, D. and Matheson, R. (2022) The Brain Is Adaptive Not Triune: How the brain responds to threat, challenge, and change, *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 13, 802606.

Stenning, A. (2020) Tackling Loneliness with Resident-Led Play Streets, Bristol: Playing Out.

Stenning, A. (2023) Leeds Play Streets Enablement Project 2021-2022 Evaluation, Leeds: Play Streets.

Stenning, A. and Russell, W. (2020) Stop the Traffic and Make Space for Play during Lockdown, *The Developer*, 20 April.

Sterman, J., Villeneuve, M., Bundy, A. and Wyver, S. (2020) School Playground Intervention for Children with Disabilities Creates Play Capabilities and Shifts Adult Perspectives, *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 74, Supplement 1.

Stevens, Q., Leorke, D., Innocent, T., Thai, H.M.H and Tolentino, C. (2022) *The Playful Parklet: A research report for the City of Stonnington*, Melbourne, Australia: RMIT University.

Stevens, R., Gilliard-Matthews, S., Dunaev, J., Woods, M.K. and Brawner, B.M. (2017) The Digital Hood: Social media use among youth in disadvantaged neighborhoods, *New Media and Society*, 19(6), pp. 950-967.

Stratford, E. (2016) Skateboarding as Social and Environmental Praxis: Navigating a sustainable future, in Ansell, N., Klocker, N. and Skelton, T. (eds) *Geographies of Global Issues: Change and Threat, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 8, Singapore: Springer, pp. 531-551.

Studio Ludo (2017) *The London Study of Playgrounds: The influence of design on play behavior in London vs New York, San Francisco, and Los Angeles,* Philadelphia, PA.: Studio Ludo.

Suchert, V., Hanewinkel, R. and Isensee, B. (2015) Sedentary Behavior and Indicators of Mental Health in Schoolaged Children and Adolescents: A systematic review, *Preventive Medicine*, 76, pp. 48-57.

Sullivan, M. and Jones, H.M. (2013) Made to Measure: Co-operation and conflict in the making of a policy, in Williams, J. (ed) *The United National Convention on the Rights of the Child in Wales*, Cardiff: University of Wales Press, pp. 21-34.

Summer of Play Campaign (2021) Join the #SummerOfPlay campaign.

Sutton-Smith, B. (2017) *Play for Life: Play theory and play as emotional survival,* Rochester, NY.: The Strong Museum.

Tagg, B. and Wang, S. (2016) Globalisation, Commercialisation, and Learning to Play at KidZania Kuala Lumpur, *International Journal of Play*, 5(2), pp. 141-158.

Talbot, D. (2013) Early Parenting and the Urban Experience: Risk, community, play and embodiment in an East London neighbourhood, *Children's Geographies*, 11(2), pp. 230-242.

Tallis, R. (2016) Aping Mankind, London: Routledge.

Tan, M., He, F.J. and MacGregor, G.A. (2020) Obesity and Covid-19: The role of the food industry, *British Medical Journal*, 369, m2237.

Tawil, B. (2017) *How a Play Intervention Programme Influenced Two Primary School Communities: A realistic evaluation,* Unpublished Master's Thesis: Leeds Beckett University.

Tawil, B. and Barclay, M. (2018) A Place to Hop, Skip and Jump Around: An evaluation of play interventions at Chester Zoo, Wrexham: Ludicology.

Tawil, B. and Barclay, M. (2020) Play Sufficiency as an Organising Principle of Community Development, in Beck, D. and Purcell, R. (eds) *Community Development for Social Change*, New York: Routledge, pp. 198-206.

Taylor, A. (2011) Reconceptualizing the 'Nature' of Childhood, Childhood, 18(4), pp. 420-433.

Taylor, A. (2013) Reconfiguring the Natures of Childhood, London: Routledge.

Taylor, A. (2017) Romancing or Re-configuring Nature in the Anthropocene? Towards common worlding pedagogies, in Malone, K., Truong, S. and Gray, T. (eds) *Reimagining Sustainability in Precarious Times,* Singapore: Springer Science and Business Media, pp. 61-75.

Taylor, A. and Pacini-Ketchabaw, V. (2015) Learning with Children, Ants, and Worms in the Anthropocene: Towards a common world pedagogy of multispecies vulnerability, *Pedagogy, Culture and Society*, 23, pp. 507-529.

Taylor, S., Tawil, B. and Baker, S. (2014) *Evaluating the Effects of Loose Parts Play on Physical Activity in Wrexham Schoolchildren*, Wrexham: Glyndŵr University.

Tembo, S. (2021a) More Work to Do: Thinking through equalities with young children in Scotland, in Palmer, S. (ed) *Play is the Way,* Edinburgh, Upstart Scotland, pp. 187-195.

Tembo, S. (2021b) 'Hang On, She Just Used that Word Like it's Totally Easy': Encountering ordinary racial affects in early childhood education and care, *Ethnicities*, 21(5), pp. 875-892.

Tharps, L.L. (2014) I REFUSE TO REMAIN IN THE LOWER CASE, My American Melting Pot, 2 June.

The Food Foundation (2022) Food Insecurity Tracking, October, 2022.

The Lancet editorial (2022) The Cost-of-living Crisis is also a Health Crisis, *The Lancet*, 27, 100632.

The Means (2016) An Analysis of the Economic Impact of Playwork in Wrexham, Communities First.

Thibodeau-Nielsen, R.B. and Gilpin, A.T. (2020) The Role of Emotion Regulation in the Relationship Between Pretense and Executive Function in Early Childhood: For whom is the relationship strongest? *Infant Child Development*, 29, e2193.

Thiel, J.J. (2015) Vibrant Matter: The intra-active role of objects in the construction of young children's literacies, *Literacy Research: Theory, Method, and Practice*, 64(1), pp. 112-131.

Thomas, A., Furlong, J. and Aldred, R. (2022) Equity in Temporary Street Closures: The case of London's Covid-19 'School Streets' schemes, *Transportation Research*, *Part D, Transport and Environment*, 110, 103402.

Thomson, S. (2007) Do's and Don'ts: Children's experiences of the primary school playground, *Environmental Education Research*, 13(4), pp. 487-500.

Thomson, S. (2014) 'Adulterated Play': An empirical discussion surrounding adults' involvement with children's play in the primary school playground', *Journal of Playwork Practice*, 1(1), pp. 5-21.

Thorne, B. (2007) Crafting the Interdisciplinary Field of Childhood Studies, Childhood, 14(2), pp. 147-152.

Tian, M., Luo, T. and Cheung, H. (2020) The Development and Measurement of Block Construction in Early Childhood: A review, *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 38(6), pp. 767-782.

Tillmann, S., Tobin, D., Avison, W. and Gilliland, J. (2018) Mental Health Benefits of Interactions with Nature in Children and Teenagers: A systematic review, *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 72(10), pp. 958-966.

Tipper, B. (2011) 'A Dog Who I Know Quite Well': Everyday relationships between children and animals, *Children's Geographies*, 9(2), pp. 145-165.

Tisdall, E.K.M. and Punch, S. (2012) Not so 'New'? Looking critically at childhood studies, *Children's Geographies*, 10(3), pp. 249-264.

Tomkinson, G.R., Lang, J.J. and Tremblay, M.S. (2019) Temporal Trends in the Cardiorespiratory Fitness of Children and Adolescents Representing 19 High-income and Upper middle-income Countries between 1981 and 2014, *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 53(8), pp. 478-486.

Toracco, R.J. (2016) Writing Integrative Literature Reviews: Using the past and present to explore the future, *Human Resource Development Review*, 15(4) pp. 404-428.

Toyworld (2021) UK Toy Market Increases 5% in Value During 2020, Toyworld.

Trammell, A. (2020) Torture, Play, and the Black Experience, G/A/M/E, 9, pp. 33-49.

Trammell, A. (2023) Rescuing Play: Toward a Black phenomenology of play, Cambridge, MA.: MIT Press.

Tranter, P. (2015) Children's Play in their Local Neighborhoods: Rediscovering the value of residential streets, in Evans, B., Horton, J. and Skelton, T. (eds) *Play, Recreation, Health and Well-being, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 9, Singapore: Springer, pp. 1-26.

Tremblay, M.S., Gray, C., Babcock, S., Barnes, J., Bradstreet, C.C., Carr, D. and Brussoni, M. (2015) Position Statement on Active Outdoor Play, *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 12(6), pp. 6475-6505.

Trezza, V., Achterberg, E.J.M. and Vanderschuren, L.J.M.J. (2019) The Neurochemistry of Social Play Behaviour in Rats, in Smith, P.K. and Roopnarine, J.L. (eds) *The Cambridge Handbook of Play: Developmental and disciplinary perspectives*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 30-48.

Tuck, E. (2009) Suspending Damage: A letter to communities, Harvard Educational Review, 79(3), pp. 409-427.

Tuck, E. (2010) Breaking up with Deleuze: Desire and valuing the irreconcilable, *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 23(5), pp. 635-650.

Tugade, M.M., Devlin, H.C. and Fredrickson, B.L. (2021) Positive Emotions, in Snyder, C.R., Lopez, S.J., Edwards, L.M. and Marques, S.C. (eds) *The Oxford Handbook of Positive Psychology,* (3rd ed), Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 18-31.

Umstattd Meyer, M.R., Bridges Hamilton, C.N., Prochnow, T., McClendon, M.E., Arnold, K.T., Wilkins, E., Benavidez, G., Williams, T.D., Abildso, C.G. and Pollack Porter, K.M. (2019) Come Together, Play, Be Active: Physical activity engagement of school-age children at Play Streets in four diverse rural communities in the U.S., *Preventive Medicine*, 129, 105869.

UNICEF (2009) A Practical Guide for Developing Child Friendly Spaces, Cameroon: UNICEF.

UNICEF (2021) The State of the World's Children 2021: On my mind – promoting, protecting and caring for children's mental health, New York: UNICEF.

UNICEF (2022) *Places and Spaces: Environments and children's well-being, Innocenti Report Card 17*, Florence: UNICEF Office of Research – Innocenti.

United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child (2013) *General Comment 13 on the Right of the Child to Rest, Leisure, Play, Recreational Activities, Cultural Life and the Arts (art. 31), Geneva: United Nations.*

van Hecke, R., Deconinck, F.J.A., Wiersema, J.R., Clauws, C., Danneels, M., Dhooge, I., Leyssens, L., van Waelvelde, H. and Maes, L. (2021) Balanced Growth Project: A protocol of a single-centre observational study on the involvement of the vestibular system in a child's motor and cognitive development, *BMJ Open*, 11, e049165.

Vandenbroeck, M. and Bouverne-De Bie, M. (2006) Children's Agency and Educational Norms: A tensed negotiation, *Childhood*, 13(1), pp. 127-143.

Vanderschuren, L.J.M.J. and Trezza, V. (2014) What the Laboratory Rat has Taught Us about Social Play Behavior: Role in behavioral development and neural mechanisms, *Current Topics in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 16, pp. 189-212.

Vanderstede, W. (2011) 'Chilling' and 'Hopping' in the 'Teenage Space Network': Explorations in teenagers' geographies in the city of Mechelen, *Children's Geographies*, 9(2), pp. 167-184.

Vandervert, L. (2017) Vygotsky Meets Neuroscience: The cerebellum and the rise of culture through play, *American Journal of Play*, 9(2), pp. 202-227.

Varga, D. (2020) The Legacy of Recapitulation Theory in the History of Developmental Psychology, *Oxford Research Encyclopaedia of Psychology*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Veitch, J., Carver, A., Salmon, J., Abbott, G., Ball, K., Crawford, D., Cleland, V. and Timperio, A. (2017) What Predicts Children's Active Transport and Independent Mobility in Disadvantaged Neighborhoods?, *Health and Place*, 44, pp. 103-109.

Verberne, M., Burston, C., Nicholls, K. and Vissenjoux, S. (2014) *Australian Primary School Playgrounds: Monuments to misunderstanding?* Play For Life.

Verdoodt, V., Fordyce, R., Archbold, L., Gordon, F. and Clifford, D. (2021) Esports and the Platforming of Child's Play During Covid-19, *The International Journal of Children's Rights*, 29(2), pp. 496-520.

Verstrate, L. and Karsten, L. (2016) Development of Nature Playgrounds from the 1970s Onwards, in Evans, B., Horton, J. and Skelton, T. (eds) *Play, Recreation, Health and Well-being, Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 9, Singapore: Springer, pp. 173-191.

Vignoles, A. and Thomson, M. (2019) Commentary, in *Reframing Childhood Past and Present: Chronologies,* London: The British Academy.

Villanueva, K., Giles-Corti, B., Bulsara, M., Trapp, G., Timperio, A., McCormack, G. and Van Niel, K. (2014) Does the Walkability of Neighbourhoods Affect Children's Independent Mobility, Independent of Parental, Socio-cultural and Individual Factors?, *Children's Geographies*, 12(4), pp. 393-411.

Vincent, C. and Maxwell, C. (2016) Parenting Priorities and Pressures: Furthering understanding of 'concerted cultivation', *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, 37(2), pp. 269-281.

Visser, K., Bolt, G. and van Kempen, R. (2015) A Good Place to Raise Your Children? The diversity of parents' neighbourhood perceptions and parenting practices in a low-income, multi-ethnic neighbourhood: A case study in Rotterdam. *Geoforum*, 64, pp. 112-120.

Voce, A. (2015a) Policy for Play, Bristol: Policy Press.

Voce, A. (2015b) The State of Playwork, International journal of play, 4(3), pp. 217-223.

Voce, A. (2021) Squaring the Play Policy Circle, or Finding a New-Shaped Hole? Stuart Lester, play policy and a social-ecological model of playwork, in Russell, W., Derry, C., Fitzpatrick., J. and Handscomb, B. (eds) *Stuff and Nonsense*, Redruth, Cornwall: Gwealan Tops Adventure Playground, pp 245-267.

Von Benzon, N. (2017) "Vulnerable" Children in "Dangerous" Places: Learning disabled children in outdoor green space, in Freeman, C., Tranter, P. and Skelton, T. (eds) *Risk, Protection, Provision and Policy. Geographies of Children and Young People*, vol 12, Singapore: Springer, pp. 179-198.

Walby, S. (2012) Sen and the Measurement of Justice and Capabilities: A problem in theory and practice, *Theory, Culture and Society,* 29(1), pp. 99-118.

Wales, M., Mårtensson, F. and Jansson, M. (2021) 'You Can Be Outside a Lot': Independent mobility and agency among children in a suburban community in Sweden, *Children's Geographies*, 19(2), pp. 184-196.

Wales Centre for Public Policy (2020) *Planning for a Prosperous, Equal and Green Recovery from the Coronavirus Pandemic*, Cardiff: Wales Centre for Public Policy.

Wales Violence Prevention Unit (2020) *Prevent: Strategy to prevent serious youth violence in South Wales 2020-2023.*

Wall, J. (2022a) From Childhood Studies to Childism: Reconstructing the scholarly and social imaginations, *Children's Geographies*, 20(3), pp. 257-27.

Wall, J. (2022b) Childism, in *Childhood Studies – Oxford Bibliographies*.

Wallace, D. (2018) Safe Routes to School? Black Caribbean youth negotiating police surveillance in London and New York City, *Harvard Educational Review*, 88(3), pp. 261-286.

Walsh, D., Dundas, R., McCartney, G., Gibson, M. and Seaman, R. (2022) Bearing the Burden of Austerity: How do changing mortality rates in the UK compare between men and women?, *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 76, pp. 1027-1033.

Wang, S. and Ramsden, M. (2018) Revisiting the "Parallel Lives" Thesis: Neighbourhood attachment and residential integration of ethnic minorities in England, *Population, Space and Place*, e2156.

Watchman, T. and Spencer-Cavaliere, N. (2017) Times Have Changed: Parent perspectives on children's free play and sport, *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 32, pp. 102-112.

Watts, T., Stagnitti, K. and Brown, T. (2014) Relationship between Play and Sensory Processing: A systematic review, *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 68(2), e37-46.

Weir, H. (2023) Spaces for Children's Play and Travel Close to Home: The importance of threshold spaces, *Children's Geographies*.

Weir, H., Khan, M. and Marmot, A. (2022) Displaced Children's Experience of Places and Play: A scoping review, *Children's Geographies*, advance online.

Weller, S. and Bruegel, I. (2009) Children's 'Place' in the Development of Neighbourhood Social Capital, *Urban Studies*, 46(3), pp. 629-643.

Wells, K. (2011) The Strength of Weak Ties: the social networks of young separated asylum seekers and refugees in London, *Children's Geographies*, 9(3-4), pp. 319-329.

Welsh Government (2016) *Shared Purpose, Shared Future: Statutory guidance on the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (SPSF3: Collective role – Public Service Boards),* Cardiff: Welsh Government.

Welsh Government (2021) Active Travel Act Guidance, July 2022, Cardiff: Welsh Government.

Welsh Government (2022) *Proposals to reopen outdoor playgrounds and indoor play centres: integrated impact assessment.*

Wen, L.M., Kite, J., Merom, D. and Rissel, C. (2009) Time Spent Playing Outdoors After School and its Relationship with Independent Mobility: A cross-sectional survey of children aged 10-12 years in Sydney, Australia, *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 6, 15.

White, A. (2019) World Car Free Day 2019: 80,000 homes could be built on London car parking spaces within a mile of a Tube or train station, *Evening Standard*, 17 September.

White, S.C. (2017) Relational Wellbeing: Re-centring the politics of happiness, policy and the self, *Policy and Politics*, 45(2), pp. 121-36.

Whitebread, D. (2018) Play: The new renaissance, International Journal of Play, 7(3), pp. 237-243.

Willett R. (2017) Domesticating Online Games for Preteens – Discursive fields, everyday gaming, and family life, *Children's Geographies*, 15(2), pp. 146-159.

Wilson, R. (2018) Democratic regeneration: Kings Crescent Estate, Architects' Journal, 17 December.

Wilson, S. (2015) Young People's Emotional and Sensory Experiences of 'Getting By' in Challenging Circumstances, in Blazek, M. and Kraftl, P. (eds) *Children's Emotions in Policy and Practice: Mapping and making spaces of childhood*, London: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 52-67.

Wilson, S. (2016) Digital Technologies, Children and Young People's Relationships and Self-care, *Children's Geographies*, 14(3), pp. 282-294.

Windle, J., Moyle, I. and Coomber, R. (2020) 'Vulnerable' Kids Going Country: Children and young people's involvement in county lines drug dealing, *Youth Justice*, 20(1-2), pp. 64-78.

Witten, K. and Carroll, P. (2016) Children's Neighborhoods: Places of play or spaces of fear?, in Nairn, K., Kraftl, P. and Skelton, T. (ed) *Space, Place, and Environment, Geographies of Children and Young People Vol 3,* Singapore: Springer, pp. 331-350.

Witten, K., Kearns, R., Carroll, P. and Asiasiga, L. (2019) Children's Everyday Encounters and Affective Relations with Place: Experiences of hyperdiversity in Auckland neighbourhoods, *Social and Cultural Geography*, 20(9), pp. 1233-1250.

Witten, K., Kearns, R. and Carroll, P. (2015) Urban Inclusion as Wellbeing: Exploring children's accounts of confronting diversity on inner city streets, *Social Science and Medicine*, 133, pp. 349-357.

Wohlwend, K.E. (2020) P(I)aying Online: Toys, apps, and young consumers on transmedia playgrounds, in Erstad, O., Flewitt, R., Kümmerling-Meibauer, B.P. and Pires, I.S. (eds) *The Routledge Handbook of Digital Literacies in Early Childhood*, London: Routledge, pp. 391-401.

Wood, E. (2010) Reconceptualising the Play-Pedagogy Relationship: From control to complexity, in Brooker, L. and Edwards, S. (eds) *Engaging Play*, Maidenhead: Open University Press, pp. 11-24.

Wood, E. (2012) The State of Play, International Journal of Play, 1(1), pp. 4-5.

Wood, E. (2014) Free Choice and Free Play in Early Childhood Education: Troubling the discourse, *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 22(1), pp. 4-18.

Wood, E. (2019) Unbalanced and Unbalancing Acts in the Early Years Foundation Stage: A critical discourse analysis of policy-led evidence on teaching and play from the Office for Standards in Education in England (Ofsted), *Education 3-13*, 47(7), pp. 784-795.

Wood, J., Bornat, D. and Bicquelet-Lock, A. (2019) *Child Friendly Planning in the UK*: A review, APiC, ZCD Architects and RTPI.

Wood, L., Giles-Corti, B., Zubrick, S.R. and Bulsara, M.K. (2013) "Through the Kids ... We Connected With Our Community": Children as catalysts of social capital, *Environment and* Behavior, 45(3), pp. 344-368.

Woodyer, T. (2008) The Body as Research Tool: Embodied practice and children's geographies, *Children's Geographies*, 6(4), pp. 349-362.

Woodyer, T. (2017) Ludic Geopolitics: children's play, war toys and re-enchantment with the British military, *Impact*, 2017(9), pp.76-78.

Woodyer, T. and Carter, S. (2020) Domesticating the Geopolitical: Rethinking Popular Geopolitics through Play, *Geopolitics*, 25(5), pp. 1050-1074.

Woodyer, T., Martin, D. and Carter, S. (2016) Ludic Geographies, in Evans, B. and Horton, J. (eds) (2016) *Geographies of Children and Young People Volume 9: Play and Recreation, Health and Well-being*, Singapore: Springer, pp. 17-33.

Woolley, H. (2013) Now Being Social: The barrier of designing outdoor play spaces for disabled children, *Children and Society*, 27, pp. 448-458.

Woolley, H.E. and Griffin, E. (2015) Decreasing Experiences of Home Range, Outdoor Spaces, Activities and Companions: Changes across three generations in Sheffield in north England, *Children's Geographies*, 13(6), pp. 677-691.

Woolley, H., Somerset-Ward, A. and Bradshaw, K. (2020) Through Engagement to Design: Working with children, young people, and communities to improve green spaces in social housing areas, in Loebach, J., Little, S., Cox, A. and Eubanks Owens, P. (eds) *The Routledge Handbook of Designing Public Spaces for Young People: Processes, Practices and Policies for Youth Inclusion*, London: Routledge, pp. 209-221.

Work-Slivka, J.A. (2017) A Rhizomatic Exploration of Adolescent Girls' Rough-and-Tumble Play as Embodied Literacy, *Jeunesse: Young People, Texts, Cultures*, 9(1), pp. 37-56.

Worth, N. (2013) Making Friends and Fitting In: A social-relational understanding of disability at school, *Social and Cultural Geography*, 14(1), pp. 103-123.

Wragg, M. (2016) Play and Playwork in the Prison: Past, present, and future, *Prison Service Journal*, 223, pp. 5-10.

Wright, H. and Reardon, M. (2021) COVID-19: A chance to reallocate street space to the benefit of children's health?, *Cities and Health*, advance online.

Yau, J.C. and Reich, S.M. (2018) Are the Qualities of Adolescents' Offline Friendships Present in Digital Interactions?, *Adolescent Research Review*, 3(3), pp.339-355.

Yogman, M., Garner, A., Hutchinson J., Hirsh-Pasek, K. and Michnick Golinkoff, R. (2018) The Power of Play: A pediatric role in enhancing development in young children, *Pediatrics*, 142(3), e20182058.

Youth Justice Board (2021) Youth Justice Statistics 2019/20 England and Wales, London: Ministry of Justice.

Zografos, C., Klause, K.A., Connolly, J.J.T. and Anguelovski, I. (2020) The Everyday Politics of Urban Transformational Adaptation: Struggles for authority and the Barcelona superblock project, *Cities*, 99, 102613.

Zougheibe, R., Jepson, B., Norman, R., Gudes, O. and Dewan, A. (2021) Is There a Correlation between Children's Outdoor Active Mobility Behaviour and Neighbourhood Safety? A systematic review of the evidence, *BMJ Open*, 11, e047062.





www.play.wales

Play Wales is the national organisation for children's play, an independent charity supported by the Welsh Government to uphold children's right to play and to provide advice and guidance on play-related matters.